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Cautionary Statements Regarding Forward-Looking Information

This document contains “forward-looking statements” — that is, statements related to future, not past, events. In this context, forward-looking statements
often address our expected future business and financial performance, and often contain words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,”
“believes,” “seeks,” or “will.” Forward-looking statements by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees, uncertain. For us, particular
uncertainties arise from changes in the demand for our coal by the domestic electric generation industry; from legislation and regulations relating to the Clean
Air Act and other environmental initiatives; from operational, geological, permit, labor and weather-related factors; from fluctuations in the amount of cash
we generate from operations; from future integration of acquired businesses; and from numerous other matters of national, regional and global scale,
including those of a political, economic, business, competitive or regulatory nature. These uncertainties may cause our actual future results to be materially
different than those expressed in our forward-looking statements. We do not undertake to update our forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required by law. For a description of some of the risks and uncertainties that may affect our future
results, you should see “Risk Factors” beginning on page 15.
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Glossary of Selected Mining Terms

Certain terms that we use in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are specific to the coal mining industry and may be technical in nature. The following is a
list of selected mining terms and the definitions we attribute to them when we use them throughout this document.

Assigned reserves
Btu

Compliance coal

Dragline

Longwall mining

Low-sulfur coal

Preparation plant

Probable reserves

Proven reserves

Reclamation

Recoverable reserves

Reserves

Room-and-pillar mining

Unassigned reserves

Recoverable coal reserves designated for mining by a specific operation.
A measure of the energy required to raise the temperature of one pound of water one degree of Fahrenheit.

Coal which, when burned, emits 1.2 pounds or less of sulfur dioxide per million Btu, requiring no blending or other
sulfur dioxide reduction technologies in order to comply with the requirements of the Clean Air Act.

A large machine used in the surface mining process to remove the overburden, or layers of earth and rock, covering
a coal seam. The dragline has a large bucket, suspended by cables from the end of a long boom, which is able to
scoop up large amounts of overburden as it is dragged across the excavation area and redeposit the overburden in
another area.

One of two major underground coal mining methods, employing a rotating drum pulled mechanically back and forth
across a long face of coal.

Coal which, when burned, emits 1.6 pounds or less of sulfur dioxide per million Btu.

A facility used for crushing, sizing and washing coal to remove impurities and to prepare it for use by a particular
customer.

Reserves for which quantity and grade and/or quality are computed from information similar to that used for proven
reserves, but the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are farther apart or are otherwise less adequately
spaced.

Reserves for which (a) quantity is computed from dimensions revealed in outcrops, trenches, workings or drill holes;
grade and/or quality are computed from the results of detailed sampling and (b) the sites for inspection, sampling
and measurement are spaced so closely and the geologic character is so well defined that size, shape, depth and
mineral content of reserves are well established.

The restoration of land and environmental values to a mining site after the coal is extracted. The process commonly
includes “recontouring” or shaping the land to its approximate original appearance, restoring topsoil and planting
native grass and ground covers.

The amount of proven and probable reserves that can actually be recovered from the reserve base taking into account
all mining and preparation losses involved in producing a saleable product using existing methods and under current

law.

That part of a mineral deposit which could be economically and legally extracted or produced at the time of the
reserve determination.

One of two major underground coal mining methods, utilizing continuous miners creating a network of “rooms”
within a coal seam, leaving behind “pillars” of coal used to support the roof of a mine.

Recoverable coal reserves that have not yet been designated for mining by a specific operation.

il
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PART I

Item 1. Business.
Introduction

We are a subsidiary of Arch Coal, Inc., one of the largest coal producers in the United States. At December 31, 2006, we operated six active mines located
in two of the three major low sulfur coal-producing regions of the United States. Federal and state regulations controlling air pollution affect the demand for
certain types of coal by limiting the amount of sulfur dioxide which may be emitted as a result of fuel combustion. As a result of these regulations, we believe
demand for low sulfur coal exceeds demand for other types of coal and often earns a premium in the marketplace. Consequently, we focus on mining,
processing and marketing bituminous and sub-bituminous coal with low sulfur content. At December 31, 2006, we estimate that our proven and probable coal
reserves had an average heat value of approximately 9,279 Btus and an average sulfur content of approximately 0.33%. Because of these characteristics, we
estimate that approximately 95.1% of our proven and probable coal reserves consists of compliance coal.

We sell substantially all of our coal to producers of electric power, steel producers and industrial facilities. For the year ended December 31, 2006, we sold
approximately 113.7 million tons of coal. The locations of our mines enable us to ship coal to many of the major coal-fired electric generation facilities in the
United States. The following table shows the breakdown of our coal production by region for 2006 and 2005, expressed as a percentage of the total tons
produced:

2006 2005
Powder River Basin 83.3% 84.0%
Western Bituminous _16.7 _16.0
Total 100.0% 100.0%

In 2006, we sold approximately 79% of our coal under long-term supply arrangements with a term of more than one year. At December 31, 2006, the
average volume-weighted remaining term of our long-term contracts was approximately 4.5 years, with remaining terms ranging from one to 11 years. At
December 31, 2006, we had a sales backlog, including a backlog subject to price reopener or extension provisions, of approximately 424 million tons.

Despite a slight decline in United States demand for coal in 2006, we expect global and domestic demand for coal to grow over time. Based on industry
estimates of future production, we expect demand growth to exert upward pressure on coal pricing in the future. As a result, we have not yet priced a portion
of the coal we plan to produce over the next several years in order to take advantage of expected price increases.

Our History

We were formed as a joint venture on June 1, 1998 when Arch Coal acquired certain coal assets of Atlantic Richfield Company and combined those
operations with Arch Coal’s existing western operations and Atlantic Richfield’s remaining Wyoming operations.

On July 31, 2004, Arch Coal purchased the 35% interest in Canyon Fuel Company, LLC not previously owned by us. Through July 31, 2004, our interest
in Canyon Fuel was accounted for on the equity method as a result of certain super-majority voting rights in the Canyon Fuel joint venture agreement. Upon
Arch Coal’s acquisition of the 35% interest, Canyon Fuel’s joint venture agreement was amended to eliminate the super-majority voting rights. As a result, for
periods subsequent to July 31, 2004, we consolidated 100% of the results of Canyon Fuel in our financial statements and recorded minority interest for Arch
Coal’s 35% interest in Canyon Fuel.

On August 20, 2004, Arch Coal acquired Vulcan Coal Holdings, L.L.C., which owns all of the common equity of Triton Coal Company, LLC, and all of
the preferred units of Triton for a purchase price of $382.1 million, including transaction costs and working capital adjustments. Following the acquisition,
Arch Coal contributed the assets and liabilities of Triton’s North Rochelle mine (excluding coal reserves) to us. Following that contribution, we integrated the
operations of the North Rochelle mine with our existing Black Thunder mine in the Powder River Basin.

On December 30, 2005, we sold to Peabody Energy a rail spur, rail loadout and idle office complex located in the Powder River Basin for a purchase price
of $79.6 million. In addition, Arch Coal completed a reserve swap with Peabody pursuant to which Arch Coal exchanged 60 million tons of coal reserves near
the former North Rochelle mine for a similar block of 60 million tons of coal reserves more strategically positioned relative to our Black Thunder mining
complex. Subsequent to the reserve swap, Arch Coal subleased the coal reserves it received from Peabody to us. We believe these coal reserves will provide
us with a more efficient mine plan.

The Coal Industry

Overview. Coal is a combustible, sedimentary, organic rock formed from vegetation that has been consolidated between other rock strata and altered by the
combined effects of pressure and heat over millions of years. The degree of change undergone by coal as it matures from peat to anthracite significantly
affects its physical and chemical properties. Initially, peat is converted into lignite, a relatively soft material that can range in color from dark black to various
shades of brown. The continuing effects of temperature
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and pressure causes lignite to transform into sub-bituminous coal. Lignite and sub-bituminous coal are typically softer, friable materials characterized by high
moisture levels and low carbon content. Because of their carbon content, lignite and sub-bituminous coal generally produce less energy than bituminous, or
hard, coal, formed by continuing chemical and physical changes. Under the right conditions, continuing organic maturity can result in anthracite, a hard black
rock with a high carbon and energy content and a low level of moisture. According to the World Coal Institute, which we refer to as the WCI, sub-bituminous
and bituminous coal comprise approximately 82% of the global coal reserves.

Because of its chemical composition, coal is a major contributor to the global energy supply, providing more than 39% of the world’s electricity, according
to the WCI. The United States produces approximately one-fifth of the world’s coal and is the second largest coal producer in the world, exceeded only by
China. Coal in the United States represents approximately 95% of the domestic fossil energy reserves with over 250 billion tons of recoverable coal,
according to the United States Geological Survey.

Coal is primarily used to fuel electric power generation in the United States. Based on data from the Energy Information Administration, which we refer to
as the EIA, coal-based power plants generated approximately 50% of the electricity produced in the United States in 2006. Coal also represents the lowest
cost fossil fuel used for electric power generation. According to the EIA, the average delivered cost of coal to electric power generators during the fourth
quarter of 2006 was $1.67/mm Btu, which was $5.67/mm Btu less expensive than residual fuel oil and $5.12/mm Btu less expensive than natural gas.

Compared to other fuels used for electric power generation, coal is domestically available and reliable. Prices for oil and natural gas in the United States
have reached record levels in recent years because of tensions regarding international supply and the impact of hurricane interruptions in the Gulf of Mexico
in 2005. Historically high oil and natural gas prices have resulted in renewed interest, not only in adding new coal-based electric power generation, but also in
“refining” coal into transportation fuels, such as low-sulfur diesel. According to data from Platts, more than 90 gigawatts of new coal-based generation is now
planned in the United States. Additionally, government and private sector interest in coal-gasification and coal-to-liquids technologies has increased.

We expect coal to continue to grow as a domestic fuel as capital is deployed for mine development and expansion and for increased railroad capacity.
During 2006, the two existing rail transportation providers in the Powder River Basin in Wyoming expanded their rail capacity, and a potential third rail
transportation provider is advancing with plans to construct additional access to this region. We believe this development further demonstrates the
commitment to coal as a future source of fuel for the United States.

Coal is expected to remain the fuel of choice for domestic power generation through at least 2030, according to the EIA. Through that time, we expect new
technologies intended to lower emissions of sulfur dioxide, nitrous oxides, mercury, and particulates will be introduced into the power generation industry.
We also expect advances in technologies designed to capture and sequester carbon dioxide emissions. These technologies have garnered greater attention in
recent years due to the perceived impact of carbon dioxide on the global climate. We believe these technological advancements will help coal retain its role as
a key fuel for electric power generation well into the future.

U.S. Coal Consumption. Coal produced in the United States is used primarily by electric generation facilities to generate electricity, by steel companies to
produce coke for use in blast furnaces and by a variety of industrial users to heat and power foundries, cement plants, paper mills, chemical plants and other
manufacturing and processing facilities. Coal consumption in the United States has increased from 398.1 million tons in 1960 to approximately 1.1 billion
tons in 2006, based on information provided by EIA.

According to the EIA, United States coal consumption by sector for 2006 and 2005 is as follows (tons in millions):

2006 2005
End Use Tons % Tons %
Electric generation 1,023.3 92.0% 1,037.5 92.2%
Industrial 61.5 5.5 60.3 5.3
Steel production 233 2.1 23.4 2.1
Residential/Commercial 43 _ 04 42 _ 04
Total 1,112.4 100.0% 1,125.4 100.0%

Source: EIA

Coal has long been favored as an electricity generating fuel because of its cost advantage and its availability throughout the United States. According to
the EIA, coal accounted for approximately 50% of U.S. electricity generation in 2006 and is projected to account for approximately 57% in 2030, while
generation from natural gas is expected to peak in 2020. The largest cost component in electricity generation at natural gas- and coal-fired power plants is
fuel. According to the National Mining Association, which we refer to as the NMA, coal is the lowest-cost fossil fuel used for electric power generation,
averaging less than one-third of the price of both petroleum and natural gas. According to the EIA, for a new coal-fired power plant built today, fuel costs
would represent about one-half of total operating costs, whereas the share for a new natural gas-fired power plant would be almost 90%. Other factors that
influence an electric generation facility’s choice of generation method may include facility cost, fuel transportation infrastructure and environmental
restrictions.
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Planned new domestic coal-fueled electric generation capacity announcements exceeded 90 gigawatts at December 31, 2006, equating to as much as
300 million tons of additional coal demand annually. We estimate that, at December 31, 2006, approximately 15 gigawatts of generating capacity was under
construction or in advanced stages of development with completion expected by 2010, an amount that could translate into as much as 60 million tons of
incremental coal demand during that time period. We believe that demand growth from new coal-fueled electric generation facilities represents an important
element to the long-term outlook for coal.

According to the EIA, the breakdown of United States electricity generation by fuel source in 2006 is as follows:

Electricity Generation Mode %
Coal 50.1%
Nuclear 20.1
Natural gas 19.0
Hydro 7.3
Petroleum and other _ 33
Total 100.0%

Source: EIA

The EIA projects that generators of electricity will increase their demand for coal as demand for electricity increases. The EIA expects coal use for
electricity generation to increase by 1.5% per year on average from 2005 to 2030. Coal consumption has generally grown at the pace of electricity growth
because coal-fired generation is used in most cases to meet base load requirements. We estimate that coal consumption for power generation declined 0.9% in
2006 as a result of an overall reduction in electricity generation demand. Demand for electricity has historically grown in proportion to the United States
economic growth by gross domestic product. In 2006, however, gross domestic product rose by approximately 3.4% according to the U.S. Department of
Commerce. According to our estimates, this anomaly of a growing economy and declining coal consumption has occurred only four times since the early
1950s.

Demand for coal is broadly influenced by weather as evidenced by the decline in coal consumption in 2006 in response to very mild weather patterns
throughout much of the United States. Weather patterns requiring greater use of heating or air-conditioning translate into greater demand for coal generation.
As a result of the mild weather during 2006, coal stockpiles at electric generation facilities totaled 136.0 million tons near the end of 2006, according to the
EIA, representing an approximate 47-day supply. In comparison, coal stockpiles totaled 101.1 million tons, or an approximate 35-day supply at December 31,
2005, according to the EIA. We believe that some electric generation facilities may decide to maintain higher coal supplies in order to alleviate the impact of
critically low stockpiles such as those experienced at the end of 2005. Coal consumption patterns are also influenced by governmental regulation impacting
coal production and power generation; technological developments; and the location, availability and quality of competing sources of energy, including
natural gas, oil and nuclear energy, and alternative energy sources, such as hydroelectric power.

The other major market for coal is the steel industry. Coal is essential for iron and steel production. According to the WCI, approximately 64% of all steel
is produced from iron made in blast furnaces that use coal. The steel industry uses metallurgical coal, which is distinguishable from other types of coal
because of its high carbon content, low expansion pressure, low sulfur content and various other chemical attributes. Because of these characteristics, the
price offered by steel makers for metallurgical coal is generally higher than the price offered by electric generation facilities for steam coal.

Historically high oil and gas prices and global energy security concerns have increased interest in converting coal into a liquid fuel, a process known as
liquefaction. Liquid fuel produced from coal can be refined further to produce transportation fuels and other oil products, such as plastics and solvents. Public
and governmental interest in these and other coal-conversion technologies has increased, particularly with the introduction of several legislative initiatives in
early 2007. We believe the advancement of coal-conversion and other technologies represents a positive development for the long-term demand for coal.

U.S. Coal Production. In 2006, total coal production in the United States as estimated by the U.S. Department of Energy was 1.1 billion tons. Production
of coal in the United States has increased from 434 million tons in 1960 to approximately 1.1 billion tons in 2006 based on information provided by EIA.
According to the EIA, the breakdown of United States coal production by producing region for 2006 and 2005 is as follows (tons in millions):

2006 2005
Tons % Tons %
Western 612.9 52.9% 585.0 51.7%
Appalachia 395.2 34.1 397.3 35.1
Interior (1) 151.4 ﬂ 149.2 13.2

Total 1,159.5 100.0% 1,131.5 100.0%

Source: EIA

1 Includes the Illinois Basin
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Western region. The western region includes the Powder River Basin and the Western Bituminous region. The Powder River Basin is located in
northeastern Wyoming and southeastern Montana. Coal from this region has a very low sulfur content and a low heat value. The price of Powder River Basin
coal is generally less than that of coal produced in other regions because Powder River Basin coal exists in greater abundance, is easier to mine and thus has a
lower cost of production. However, Powder River Basin coal is generally lower in heat value, which requires some electric power generation facilities to
blend it with higher Btu coal or retrofit existing coal plants to accommodate lower Btu coal. The Western Bituminous region includes western Colorado and
eastern Utah. Coal from this region typically has a low sulfur content and varies in heat value. According to the EIA, coal produced in the western United
States increased from 408.3 million tons in 1994 to 612.9 million tons in 2006.

Appalachian region. The Appalachian region is divided into the north, central and southern Appalachian regions. Central Appalachia includes eastern
Kentucky, Virginia and southern West Virginia. Coal mined from this region generally has a high heat value and low sulfur content. Northern Appalachia
includes Maryland, Ohio, Pennsylvania and northern West Virginia. Coal from this region generally has a high heat value and a high sulfur content.
According to the EIA, coal produced in the Appalachian region decreased from 445.4 million tons in 1994 to 395.2 million tons in 2006, primarily as a result
of the depletion of economically attractive reserves, permitting issues and increasing costs of production.

Interior region. The Illinois basin includes Illinois, Indiana and western Kentucky and is the major coal production center in the interior region of the
United States. Coal from the Illinois basin varies in heat value and has high sulfur content. Despite its high sulfur content, coal from the Illinois basin can
generally be used by some electric power generation facilities that have installed pollution control devices, such as scrubbers, to reduce emissions. Other coal-
producing states in the interior region include Arkansas, Kansas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Missouri, North Dakota, Oklahoma and Texas. According to the
EIA, coal produced in the interior region decreased from 179.9 million tons in 1994 to 151.4 million tons in 2006.

International Coal Production. Coal is imported into the United States, primarily from Columbia and Venezuela. Imported coal generally serves coastal
states along the Gulf of Mexico, such as Alabama and Florida, and states along the eastern seaboard. We believe that significant new capital expenditures for
transportation infrastructure would have to be incurred by inland coal consumers in the United States if they desired to import significant quantities of foreign
coal because most domestic waterways and water transportation facilities are built for export rather than import of coal. To date, the cost of transporting coal
from the coast to interior electric generation facilities via rail has generally proven to be expensive. However, coal imports have demonstrated recent strength
due to their competitive pricing, particularly when compared to Appalachian coal. According to the EIA, coal imports increased from 8.9 million tons in 1994
to 36.1 million tons in 2006.

Coal Mining Methods

The geological characteristics of coal reserves largely determine the coal mining method employed. There are two primary methods of mining coal:
surface mining and underground mining.

Surface Mining. We use surface mining when coal is found close to the surface. We have included the identity and location of our surface mining
operations in the table on page 7. In 2006, approximately 83% of our coal production came from surface mining operations.

Surface mining involves removing overburden (earth and rock covering the coal) with heavy earth-moving equipment, such as draglines, power shovels,
excavators and loaders. Once exposed, we drill, fracture and systematically remove the coal using haul trucks or conveyors to transport the coal to a
preparation plant or to a unit train loadout facility. After we have removed the coal, we use draglines, power shovels, excavators or loaders to backfill the
remaining pits with the overburden removed at the beginning of the process. Once we have replaced the overburden and topsoil, we reestablish vegetation and
make other improvements that have local community and environmental benefits.

The following diagram illustrates a typical surface mining operation:
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Underground Mining. We use underground mining methods when coal is located deep beneath the surface. We have included the identity and location of
our underground mining operations in the table on page 7. In 2006, approximately 17% of our coal production came from underground mining operations.

Our underground mines are typically operated using longwall mining techniques. Longwall mining involves the full extraction of coal from a section of a
coal seam using mechanical shearers. Longwall mining is effective for long rectangular blocks of medium to thick coal seams. Ultimate seam recovery using
longwall mining techniques can reach 70%. In longwall mining, we use continuous mining equipment to develop access to long rectangular coal seams.
Hydraulically-powered supports temporarily hold up the roof of the mine while a rotating drum mechanically advances across the face of the coal seam,

loosening the coal. Chain conveyors then move the loosened coal to an underground mine conveyor system for delivery to the surface. Once coal is extracted
from an area, the roof is allowed to collapse in a controlled fashion.
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The following diagram illustrates a typical underground mining operation using longwall mining techniques:
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Coal Preparation. Coal extracted from the ground, particularly at our underground mining operations, contains impurities, such as rock and dirt, and
comes in a variety of different-sized fragments. Our Dugout Canyon mining complex in the Western Bituminous region uses a coal preparation plant located
near the mine. This coal preparation plant allows us to treat the coal we extract from that mining complex to ensure a consistent quality and to enhance its
suitability for particular end-users. For more information about our preparation plants, you should see the section entitled “Our Mining Operations” below.

The treatments we employ depend on the properties of the extracted coal and its intended use. To remove impurities, we crush raw coal and separate it into
various sizes. For larger pieces of coal, we use dense media separation techniques in which we float coal in a tank containing a liquid of specific gravity.
Since coal is lighter than its impurities, it floats, and we can separate it from rock and other sediment. We treat smaller pieces of coal using a number of
different methods, including centrifuge devices. A centrifuge spins material very quickly, causing solids and liquids to separate.

Our Mining Operations

At December 31, 2006, we operated six active mines at seven mining complexes located in the United States. We have two reportable business segments,
which are based on the low sulfur coal producing regions in the United States in which we operate — the Powder River Basin and the Western Bituminous
region. These geographically distinct areas are characterized by geology, coal transportation routes to consumers, regulatory environments and coal quality.
These regional similarities have caused market and contract pricing environments to develop by coal region and form the basis for the segmentation of our
operations.
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The following map shows the locations of our mining operations:

CoT R

The following table provides the location of and a summary of information regarding our mining complexes at December 31, 2006, the total sales
associated with these complexes for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 and the total reserves associated with these complexes at December
31, 2006. The amounts disclosed below for the total cost of property, plant and equipment of each mining complex do not include the costs of the coal
reserves that we have assigned to any individual complex:

Total Cost
of Property,
Plant and
Equipment
Mining Tons Sold at December Assigned
Mining Complex Mines Equipment Railroad 2004 2005 2006 31, 2006 Reserves
(Million tons) (8 in millions) (Million tons)
Powder River Basin:
Black Thunder S D,S UP/BN 75.1 87.6 92.5 $ 577.2 1,403.2
Coal Creek (1) S D, S UP/BN Ya Ya 3.1 140.4 232.0
Western Bituminous:
Arch of Wyoming
®) Ya Y UP 0.2 Ya Ya 23.0 19.7
Dugout Canyon (3) U Lw, C UP 3.8 4.9 42 105.0 35.6
Skyline () (4) U LW, C UP 0.6 Ya 1.5 96.3 14.5
Sufco (3) U LW, C Up 7.8 7.5 7.4 178.5 60.5
West Elk 18] LW, C UP 6.2 5.9 5.0 204.8 66.9
Totals 93.7 105.9 113.7 $ 1,325.2 1,832.4
S = Surface mine D = Dragline UP = Union Pacific Railroad
U = Underground mine S = Shovel/truck BN = Burlington Northern Railroad

LW = Longwall
C = Continuous miner

(1) In 2006, we resumed mining at our Coal Creek mine, which we had idled in 2000.
(2)  We placed the inactive surface mines at the Arch of Wyoming complex into reclamation mode in 2004.

(3)  We own a 65% interest in Canyon Fuel, and Arch Coal owns the remaining 35% interest in Canyon Fuel. Amounts shown in the table above represent
100% of Canyon Fuel’s sales volume for all periods presented.

4 In 2006, we resumed mining at our Skyline complex, which we had idled in 2004.
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Powder River Basin. Our operations in the Powder River Basin are located in Wyoming and include two surface mines. During 2006, these mining
complexes sold approximately 95.6 million tons of compliance coal to customers in the United States. We control approximately 1.8 billion tons of proven
and probable coal reserves in the Powder River Basin.

Black Thunder

Coal Creek

The Black Thunder mine is a surface mining complex located in Campbell County, Wyoming. The mine complex is
located on approximately 24,300 acres, with a majority of coal controlled by federal and state leases, as well as a small
amount of private fee coal acreage. The mine currently consists of six active pit areas, two owned loadout facilities and
one leased loadout facility. All of the coal is shipped raw to customers, and there are no preparation plant processes. All
of the production is shipped via the Burlington Northern and Union Pacific railroads. The loadout facilities are capable
of loading a 14,500-ton unit train in two to three hours.

The Coal Creek mine is a surface mining complex located in Campbell County, Wyoming. The mine complex is located
on approximately 7,400 acres, with a majority of coal controlled by federal and state leases, and a small amount of
private fee coal acreage. The mine currently consists of two active pit areas and one loadout facility. All of the coal is
shipped raw to customers, and there are no preparation plant processes. All of the production is shipped via the
Burlington Northern and Union Pacific railroads. The loadout facility is capable of loading a 14,000-ton unit train in
less than three hours.

Western Bituminous. Our operations in the Western Bituminous region are located in southern Wyoming, Colorado and Utah and include four underground
mines and four inactive surface mines. All of the surface mines are in reclamation mode. During 2006, the mining complexes in the Western Bituminous
region sold approximately 18.1 million tons of compliance coal to customers in the United States. We control approximately 464.0 million tons of proven and
probable coal reserves in the Western Bituminous region.

Arch of Wyoming

Dugout Canyon

Skyline

Sufco

West Elk

The Arch of Wyoming mining complex is a surface mining complex located in Carbon County, Wyoming. The
complex consists of four inactive surface mines that are in the final process of reclamation and bond release. The
complex also consists of a mining area called Carbon Basin that has recently begun preliminary development of the
surface mining area known as the Elk Mountain mine. The inactive surface mines under reclamation are located on
approximately 30,100 acres, with a majority of coal controlled by federal, private and state leases. The Carbon Basin
mining area is located on approximately 29,900 acres with a majority of coal controlled by federal, private and state
leases. The Arch of Wyoming complex had minimal coal production during 2006 attributable to the development
mining at the Elk Mountain mine.

The Dugout Canyon mine is an underground mine located in Carbon County, Utah. The mine is located on
approximately 20,000 acres, with a majority of coal controlled by federal and state leases, as well as a small amount
of private fee coal acreage. The mine currently consists of a single longwall, two continuous miner sections and one
truck loadout facility. We wash a portion of the coal we produce at the Dugout Canyon mine at a 400-ton per hour
heavy media vessel preparation plant. All of the production is shipped via the Union Pacific railroad or directly to
customers by highway trucks. The mine loadout facility is capable of loading about 20,000 tons per day into
highway trucks. Train shipments are handled by a third-party loadout that can load an 11,000-ton train in less than
three hours.

The Skyline mine is an underground mine located in Carbon and Emery Counties, Utah. The mine is located on
approximately 13,300 acres, with a majority of coal controlled by federal leases, as well as a small amount on
private and county leases. The mine currently consists of one continuous miner section, a longwall and one loadout
facility. All of the coal can be shipped raw to customers, and there are no preparation plant processes. All of the
production is shipped via the Union Pacific railroad or directly to customers by highway trucks. The loadout facility
is capable of loading a 12,000-ton unit train in less than four hours.

The Sufco mine is an underground mine located in Sevier County, Utah. The mine is located on approximately
29,100 acres, with a majority of coal controlled by federal and state leases, as well as a small amount of private fee
coal acreage. The mine currently consists of a single longwall, two continuous miner sections and one loadout
facility. All of the coal is shipped raw to customers without preparation plant processing. Coal is shipped via the
Union Pacific railroad or delivered directly to customers by highway trucks. The rail loadout facility, located
approximately 80 miles from the mine, is capable of loading an 11,000-ton unit train in less than three hours.

The West Elk mine is an underground mine located in Gunnison County, Colorado. The mine is located on
approximately 17,000 acres, with a majority of coal controlled by federal and state leases, as well as a small amount
of private fee coal acreage. The mine currently consists of a single longwall, three continuous miner sections and one
loadout facility. All of the coal is shipped raw to customers, and there are no preparation plant processes. All of the
production is shipped via the Union Pacific railroad. The loadout facility is capable of loading an 11,000-ton unit
train in less than three hours.
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We also incorporate by reference the information about the operating results of each of our segments for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004 contained in Note 21 — Segment Information to our consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1.

Transportation

‘We ship our coal to customers by means of railroad cars or trucks, or a combination of these means of transportation. As is customary in the industry, once
the coal is loaded onto the rail car, our customers are typically responsible for the freight costs to the ultimate destination. Transportation costs borne by the
customer vary greatly based on each customer’s proximity to the mine and our proximity to the loadout facilities.

Sales, Marketing and Customers

Coal prices are influenced by a number of factors and vary dramatically by region. As a result of these regional characteristics, prices of coal by product
type within a given major coal producing region tend to be relatively consistent with each other. The price of coal within a region is influenced by market
conditions, mine operating costs, coal quality, transportation costs involved in moving coal from the mine to the point of use and the costs of alternative fuels.
In addition to supply and demand factors, the price of coal at the mine is influenced by geologic characteristics such as seam thickness, overburden ratios and
depth of underground reserves. It is generally cheaper to mine coal seams that are thick and located close to the surface than to mine thin underground seams.
Underground mining, which is the mining method we use in the Western Bituminous region, is generally more expensive than surface mining, which is the
mining method we use in the Powder River Basin. This is the case because of the higher capital costs, including costs for construction of extensive ventilation
systems, and higher per unit labor costs due to lower productivity associated with underground mining.

In addition to the cost of mine operations, the price of coal is also a function of quality characteristics such as heat value, sulfur, ash and moisture content.
Higher carbon and lower ash content generally result in higher prices, and higher sulfur and higher ash content generally result in lower prices.

Management, including our chief executive officer and chief operating officer, reviews and makes resource allocations based on the goal of maximizing
our profits in light of the comparative cost structures of our various operations. Because most of our customers purchase coal on a regional basis, coal can
generally be sourced from several different locations within a region. Once we have a contractual commitment to sell coal at a certain price, Arch Coal’s
centralized marketing group assigns contract shipments to our various mines which can be used to source the coal in the appropriate region.

Long-Term Coal Supply Arrangements

We sell coal both under long-term contracts, the terms of which are more than one year, and on a current market or spot basis with terms of one year or
less. In 2006, we sold approximately 79% of our coal under long-term supply arrangements. We expect to sell a significant portion of our coal under long-
term supply arrangements. We selectively renew or enter into new long-term supply arrangements when we can do so at prices that we believe are favorable.
When our coal sales contracts expire or are terminated, we are exposed to the risk of having to sell coal into the spot market, where demand is variable and
prices are subject to greater volatility.

Provisions permitting renegotiation or modification of coal sale prices are present in some of our more recently negotiated long-term contracts and usually
occur midway through a contract or every two to three years, depending upon the length of the contract. In some circumstances, either we have or our
customer has the option to terminate the contract if the parties cannot agree on a new price.

Competition

The coal industry is intensely competitive. The most important factors on which we compete are coal quality, transportation costs from the mine to the
customer and the reliability of supply. Our principal domestic competitors include Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc., Peabody Energy Corp. and Rio Tinto
Energy — North America. Some of these coal producers are larger than us and have greater financial resources and larger reserve bases than we do. We also
compete directly with a number of smaller producers in each of the geographic regions in which we operate. As the price of domestic coal increases, we may
also begin to compete with companies that produce coal from one or more foreign countries, such as Columbia and Venezuela.

Additionally, coal competes with other fuels, such as nuclear energy, natural gas, hydropower and petroleum, for steam and electrical power generation.
Costs and other factors, such as safety and environmental considerations, relating to these alternative fuels affect the overall demand for coal as a fuel.

Geographic Data

Coal sales to foreign customers for 2006, 2005 and 2004 were insignificant.
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Environmental Matters

Our operations, like operations of other coal companies, are subject to regulation, primarily by federal and state authorities, on matters such as the
discharge of materials into the environment; employee health and safety; mine permits and other licensing requirements; reclamation and restoration activities
involving our mining properties; management of materials generated by mining operations; surface subsidence from underground mining; water pollution; air
quality standards; protection of wetlands; endangered plant and wildlife protection; limitations on land use; storage of petroleum products; and substances that
are regarded as hazardous under applicable laws including electrical equipment containing polychlorinated biphenyls, which we refer to as PCBs.

Additionally, the electric generation industry is subject to extensive regulation regarding the environmental impact of its power generation activities, which
could affect demand for our coal. The possibility exists that new legislation or regulations may be adopted or that the enforcement of existing laws could
become more stringent, either of which may have a significant impact on our mining operations or our customers’ ability to use coal and may require us or
our customers to significantly change operations or to incur substantial costs.

While it is not possible to quantify the expenditures we incur to maintain compliance with all applicable federal and state laws, those costs have been and
are expected to continue to be significant. Federal and state mining laws and regulations require us to obtain surety bonds to guarantee performance or
payment of certain long-term obligations, including mine closure and reclamation costs, federal and state workers’ compensation benefits, coal leases and
other miscellaneous obligations. Compliance with these laws has substantially increased the cost of coal mining for all domestic coal producers.

The following is a summary of the various federal and state environmental and similar regulations that have a material impact on our operations:

Clean Air Act. The federal Clean Air Act and similar state and local laws, which regulate emissions into the air, affect coal mining and processing
operations primarily through permitting and emissions control requirements. The Clean Air Act also indirectly affects coal mining operations by extensively
regulating the emissions from coal-fired industrial boilers and power plants, which are the largest end-users of our coal. These regulations can take a variety
of forms, as explained below.

The Clean Air Act imposes obligations on the United States Environmental Protection Agency, which we refer to as EPA, and on the states to implement
regulatory programs that will lead to the attainment and maintenance of national ambient air quality standards, which we refer to as NAAQS. EPA has
promulgated a number of NAAQS for air pollutants that are associated with the combustion of coal, including sulfur dioxide, particulate matter, nitrogen
oxides and ozone. Owners of coal-fired power plants and industrial boilers have been required to expend considerable resources in an effort to comply with
these standards. As these standards become more stringent in the years ahead, emissions control requirements for new and expanded coal-fired power plants
and industrial boilers will continue to become more demanding.

In July 1997, EPA adopted more stringent standards for ozone and particulate matter, which we refer to as PM. EPA adopted what is commonly referred to
as the 8-hour ozone standard, established for the first time annual and daily standards for fine PM, or particles that are 2.5 micrometers in diameter (PM2.5),
and revised the NAAQS for coarse PM, or particles that are less than 10 micrometers in diameter (PM10). EPA’s Phase I and Phase II 8-hour ozone
implementation rules were challenged, and in December 2006, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals vacated and remanded EPA’s Phase I 8-hour ozone
implementation rule. Litigation challenging certain EPA designations for PM2.5 non-attainment areas is currently being held in abeyance pending
reconsideration by EPA. States having designated non-attainment areas for the 1997 standards are required to submit their state implementation plans for
achieving attainment of the 8-hour ozone standards by April 2007 and the PM2.5 standards by April 2008 and are likely to require electric power generators
to reduce further sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxide and particulate matter emissions. The attainment deadlines for 8-hour ozone non-attainment areas range from
2007 to 2012 and for PM2.5 non-attainment areas range from 2010 to 2015.

In September 2006, EPA promulgated final, new PM NAAQS. EPA strengthened the daily PM2.5 standards but retained the annual PM2.5 standards and
daily PM10 standards and revoked the annual PM 10 standards. The 2006 PM NAAQS are the subject of challenge in the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals.
States having non-attainment areas for the 2006 PM2.5 NAAQS are required to submit their state implementation plans for the 2006 PM2.5 NAAQS by
April 2013, and the attainment dates range from 2015 to 2020. With respect to ozone, EPA is currently obligated under a consent decree to sign proposed and
final rulemakings concerning any new or revised ozone NAAQS in May 2007 and February 2008, respectively.

In October 1998, EPA finalized a rule that requires 19 states in the eastern United States that have ambient air quality programs to make substantial
reductions in nitrogen oxide emissions. Under the rule, which is commonly known as NOx SIP Call, Phase I states were required to reduce nitrogen oxide
emissions by 2004, and Phase II states are required to reduce nitrogen oxide emissions by 2007. Except for five states (Indiana, Illinois, Kentucky, Michigan
and Virginia) that failed to submit their Phase II NOx SIP Call rules, all affected states have adopted and submitted to EPA NOx SIP Call rules. For the five
states that did not submit Phase II NOx SIP Call rules, EPA is expected to promulgate a federal implementation plan in February 2008. As a result of any
federal and state implementation plans, many electric power generation facilities and large industrial plants have been or will be required to install additional
emission control measures.
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EPA has also initiated a regional haze program designed to protect and improve visibility at and around National Parks, National Wilderness Areas and
International Parks, particularly those located in the southwest and southeast United States. This program restricts the construction of new coal-fired power
plants whose operation may impair visibility at and around federally protected areas. In June 2005, EPA finalized amendments to the regional haze rules or
Clean Air Visibility Rule, which we refer to as CAVR, that will require certain existing coal-fired power plants to install Best Available Retrofit Technology,
which we refer to as BART, to limit haze-causing emissions, such as sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, and particulate matter. In October 2006, EPA published a
final emissions trading rule as an alternative to BART. As a result, individual facilities may not have to install emission controls provided the target emissions
reductions are met. In December 2006, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals upheld EPA’s CAVR, rejecting arguments that EPA’s CAVR improperly allows the
states covered by EPA’s Clean Air Interstate Rule trading program to forgo source-specific emissions control requirements to reduce haze. Regional haze state
implementation plans are due in 2008.

New regulations concerning the routine maintenance provisions of the New Source Review program were published in October 2003. These regulations
were challenged, and in March 2006, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals vacated EPA’s rule as contrary to §111(a) (4) of the Clean Air Act. EPA and a utility
trade association petitioned the United States Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari in November 2006. In addition, in October 2005, the EPA published a
proposed rule requiring an hourly emissions test for power plants for determining an emissions increase under the New Source Review program. In
September 2006, EPA proposed changes to the New Source Review program concerning de-bottlenecking, aggregation, and project netting.

In January 2004, the EPA Administrator announced that EPA would be taking new enforcement actions against utilities for violations of the existing New
Source Review requirements, and shortly thereafter, EPA issued enforcement notices to several electric utility companies. Additionally, the U.S. Department
of Justice, on behalf of EPA, filed lawsuits against several investor-owned electric utilities for alleged violations of the Clean Air Act. EPA claims that these
utilities have failed to obtain permits required under the Clean Air Act for alleged major modifications to their power plants. Some of these lawsuits have
been settled, with the owners agreeing to install additional pollution control devices on their coal-fired power plants, and other cases are still pending.

In March 2004, North Carolina submitted to EPA a petition under §126 of the Clean Air Act regarding interstate transport of pollution. In its petition,
North Carolina alleges that power plants in 12 southeastern and midwestern states contribute significantly to non-attainment in, and interfere with
maintenance by, North Carolina with respect to the PM2.5 NAAQS. In addition, North Carolina alleges that power plants in five states contribute
significantly to non-attainment in, and interfere with maintenance by, North Carolina with respect to the 8-hour ozone NAAQS. In March 2006, EPA
promulgated a final rule denying North Carolina’s §126 petition. Following EPA’s denial of North Carolina’s §126 petition, North Carolina and environmental
groups petitioned for review. Depending upon the outcome of the litigation, EPA’s response to North Carolina’s §126 petition could adversely impact the coal
needs of power plants in the affected states. With respect to the international transport of pollution, Canadian cities petitioned EPA in November 2006, under
§115 of the Clean Air Act, to require emissions reductions from 150 coal-fired power plants in seven midwestern states. If EPA grants the petition, then the
affected plants could be required to reduce emissions.

In March 2005, EPA issued three new rules that will impact coal-fired power plants. The three new rules are (i) the Clean Air Interstate Rule, which we
refer to as CAIR, aimed at capping emissions of sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxides in the eastern United States; (ii) the mercury de-listing rule, which de-lists
power plants as a source of mercury and other toxic air pollutants and rescinds a finding made in 2000 that it was appropriate and necessary to regulate power
plants under Section 112(c) of the Clean Air Act; and (iii) the Clean Air Mercury Rule, which we refer to as CAMR, aimed at capping and reducing mercury
emissions from coal-fired power plants. Both CAIR and CAMR provide power plant operators a market-based system in which plants that exceed federal
requirements can sell emission allowances to plant operators who need more time to comply with the stricter rules. CAIR requires reductions of sulfur dioxide
and/or nitrogen oxide emissions across 28 eastern states and the District of Columbia and, when fully implemented in 2015, CAIR will reduce sulfur dioxide
emissions in these states by over 70% and nitrogen oxide emissions by over 60% from 2003 levels. Under CAMR, mercury emissions from coal-fired power
plants will not be regulated as a Hazardous Air Pollutant, which would require installation of Maximum Available Control Technology, which we refer to as
MACT. Instead, using the cap-and-trade system, these plants will have until 2010 to cut mercury emission levels to 38 tons a year from 48 tons and until 2018
to bring that level down to 15 tons, a 69% reduction. All three rules are the subject of ongoing litigation.

CAIR and CAMR state implementation plans were due November 2006. More than 21 states missed the deadline for CAMR state implementation plans.
For these states, EPA is expected to promulgate a CAMR federal implementation plan in 2007. More than 23 states have adopted or are in the process of
adopting state-specific rules that are more stringent than CAMR.

In December 2005, seven northeastern states (Connecticut, Delaware, Maine, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, and Vermont) signed the Regional
Greenhouse Gas Initiative agreement, which we refer to as RGGI, calling for a 10% reduction of carbon dioxide emissions by 2019, with compliance to begin
January 1, 2009. Maryland has subsequently signed on as a full participant in RGGI. The RGGI final model rule was issued in August 2006, and the
participating states are developing their state rules. New York, for example, issued draft rules in December 2006 proposing to auction, as opposed to allocate,
100% of its allowances under RGGI. Climate change developments are also taking place in California. In September 2006, California adopted
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greenhouse gas legislation requiring that long-term base-load generators must not have greenhouse gas emissions rates greater than that of combined cycle
natural gas generators. Rules implementing the new greenhouse gas legislation for investor-owned utilities are expected in February 2007. A trading
partnership between RGGI states and California has been announced. These and other state climate change rules will likely require additional controls on
coal-based electric power generation facilities and industrial boilers and may even cause some users of coal to switch from coal to a lower carbon fuel. In
addition, there are a number of climate change lawsuits alleging nuisance and other theories of liability against various defendants pending in the lower
courts. In November 2006, the United States Supreme Court heard oral argument in Massachusetts v. EPA on whether EPA has improperly failed to list
carbon dioxide as a criteria pollutant. If this litigation results in a court order directing EPA to promulgate a new NAAQS for carbon dioxide, then the market
demand for coal could decline.

Other Clean Air Act programs are also applicable to power plants that use our coal. For example, the acid rain control provisions of Title IV of the Clean
Air Act require a reduction of sulfur dioxide emissions from power plants. Title IV imposes a two-phase approach to the implementation of required sulfur
dioxide emissions reductions. Phase I, which became effective in 1995, regulated the sulfur dioxide emissions levels from 261 generating units at 110 power
plants and targeted the highest sulfur dioxide emitters. Phase II, implemented January 1, 2000, made the regulations more stringent and extended them to
additional power plants, including all power plants of greater than 25-megawatt capacity. Affected electric power generation facilities can comply with these
requirements by: (i) burning lower sulfur coal, either exclusively or mixed with higher sulfur coal, (ii) installing pollution control devices such as scrubbers,
which reduce the emissions from high sulfur coal, (iii) reducing electricity generating levels or (iv) purchasing or trading emissions allowances. Specific
emissions sources receive these allowances, which electric utilities and industrial concerns can trade or sell to allow other units to emit higher levels of sulfur
dioxide. Each allowance permits its holder to emit one ton of sulfur dioxide.

Other proposed initiatives may have an effect upon coal operations. Several so-called mutli-pollutant bills, which would regulate additional air pollutants,
have been proposed by various members of Congress. While the details of all of these proposed initiatives vary, there appears to be a movement toward
increased regulation of emissions, including carbon dioxide and mercury.

Mine Health and Safety Laws. Stringent safety and health standards have been imposed by federal legislation since the adoption of the Mine Safety and
Health Act of 1969. The Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977, which significantly expanded the enforcement of health and safety standards of the Mine Safety
and Health Act of 1969, imposes comprehensive safety and health standards on all mining operations. In addition, as part of the Mine Safety and Health Acts
of 1969 and 1977, the Black Lung Act requires payments of benefits by all businesses conducting current mining operations to coal miners with black lung
and to some survivors of a miner who dies from this disease. The states in which we operate also have mine safety and health laws. Federal legislation was
enacted in June 2006 that imposes new requirements for emergency response plans, notification procedures in the event of accidents, and increased civil
penalties for violations of the law.

Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act. The Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act, which we refer to as SMCRA, establishes operational,
reclamation and closure standards for all aspects of surface mining as well as many aspects of deep mining. SMCRA requires that comprehensive
environmental protection and reclamation standards be met during the course of and upon completion of mining activities. In conjunction with mining the
property, we are contractually obligated under the terms of our leases to comply with all laws, including SMCRA and equivalent state and local laws. These
obligations include reclaiming and restoring the mined areas by grading, shaping, preparing the soil for seeding and by seeding with grasses or planting trees
for use as pasture or timberland, as specified in the approved reclamation plan.

SMCRA also requires us to submit a bond or otherwise financially secure the performance of our reclamation obligations. The earliest a reclamation bond
can be completely released is five years after reclamation has been achieved. Federal law and some states impose on mine operators the responsibility for
repairing the property or compensating the property owners for damage occurring on the surface of the property as a result of mine subsidence, a consequence
of longwall mining and possibly other mining operations. In addition, the Abandoned Mine Lands Act, which is part of SMCRA, imposes a tax on all current
mining operations, the proceeds of which are used to restore mines closed before 1977. The maximum tax is $0.35 per ton of coal produced from surface
mines and $0.15 per ton of coal produced from underground mines. These amounts will decline to $0.315 and $0.135, respectively, beginning October 2007.

We also lease some of our coal reserves to third-party operators. Under SMCRA, responsibility for unabated violations, unpaid civil penalties and unpaid
reclamation fees of independent mine lessees and other third parties could potentially be imputed to other companies that are deemed, according to the
regulations, to have “owned” or “controlled”” the mine operator. Sanctions against the “owner”” or “controller” are quite severe and can include civil
penalties, reclamation fees and reclamation costs. We are not aware of any claims against us asserting that we “own” or “control” any of our lessees’
operations.

Framework Convention on Global Climate Change. The United States and more than 160 other nations are signatories to the 1992 Framework Convention
on Global Climate Change, commonly known as the Kyoto Protocol, that is intended to limit or capture emissions of greenhouse gases such as carbon dioxide
and methane. The U.S. Senate has neither ratified the treaty commitments, which would mandate a reduction in U.S. greenhouse gas emissions, nor enacted
any law specifically controlling greenhouse gas emissions, and the Bush Administration has withdrawn support for this treaty. Nonetheless, future regulation
of
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greenhouse gases could occur either pursuant to future U.S. treaty obligations or pursuant to statutory or regulatory changes under the Clean Air Act.

Clean Water Act. The federal Clean Water Act prohibits the “discharge” of “pollutants” into “waters of the United States” without a “permit” and defines
each of these terms broadly. The statute affects our mining operations in two distinct ways. First, for any discharge of rock or soil into a topographic feature
that might constitute a stream, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers will require a permit specified under §404 of the Clean Water Act for the placement of such
“fill” material into the stream. The Corps’ implementation of this program and issuance of this permit has been highly litigated in West Virginia since 1998.

Second, EPA, or states which have been delegated the duty, require a permit specified under §402 of the Clean Water Act for any discharge of water from
any site that has been disturbed by the act of mining. The §402 permit imposes limitations on the composition of the effluent that flows from the site, and
requires that water quality standards specified for the receiving stream also be achieved. This requires our mining operations to always observe certain
management practices, such as routing all surface water flows through sedimentation structures, before the discharge enters public waters. Depending upon
the precise water quality standards that must be achieved, additional treatment of the discharge may also be required.

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act. The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act,
which we refer to as CERCLA, and similar state laws affect coal mining operations by, among other things, imposing cleanup requirements for threatened or
actual releases of hazardous substances that may endanger public health or welfare or the environment. Under CERCLA and similar state laws, joint and
several liability may be imposed on waste generators, site owners and lessees and others regardless of fault or the legality of the original disposal activity.
Although the EPA excludes most wastes generated by coal mining and processing operations from the hazardous waste laws, such wastes can, in certain
circumstances, constitute hazardous substances for the purposes of CERCLA. In addition, the disposal, release or spilling of some products used by coal
companies in operations, such as chemicals, could implicate the liability provisions of the statute. Thus, coal mines that we currently own or have previously
owned or operated, and sites to which we sent waste materials, may be subject to liability under CERCLA and similar state laws. In particular, we may be
liable under CERCLA or similar state laws for the cleanup of hazardous substance contamination at sites where we own surface rights.

Mining Permits and Approvals. Mining companies must obtain numerous permits that strictly regulate environmental and health and safety matters in
connection with coal mining, some of which have significant bonding requirements. In connection with obtaining these permits and approvals, we may be
required to prepare and present to federal, state or local authorities data pertaining to the effect or impact that any proposed production of coal may have upon
the environment. The requirements imposed by any of these authorities may be costly and time consuming and may delay commencement or continuation of
mining operations. Regulations also provide that a mining permit can be refused or revoked if an officer, director or a shareholder with a 10% or greater
interest in the entity is affiliated with another entity that has outstanding permit violations. Thus, past or ongoing violations of federal and state mining laws
could provide a basis to revoke existing permits and to deny the issuance of additional permits.

In order to obtain mining permits and approvals from state regulatory authorities, mine operators must submit a reclamation plan for restoring, upon the
completion of mining operations, the mined property to its prior condition, productive use or other permitted condition. Typically we submit the necessary
permit applications several months before we plan to begin mining a new area. Some of our required permits are becoming increasingly more difficult and
expensive to obtain, and the application review processes are taking longer to complete and becoming increasingly subject to challenge.

Under some circumstances, substantial fines and penalties, including revocation or suspension of mining permits, may be imposed under the laws
described above. Monetary sanctions and, in severe circumstances, criminal sanctions may be imposed for failure to comply with these laws.

Endangered Species. The federal Endangered Species Act and counterpart state legislation protects species threatened with possible extinction. Protection
of endangered species may have the effect of prohibiting or delaying us from obtaining mining permits and may include restrictions on timber harvesting,
road building and other mining or agricultural activities in areas containing the affected species. A number of species indigenous to our properties are
protected under the Endangered Species Act. Based on the species that have been identified to date and the current application of applicable laws and
regulations, however, we do not believe there are any species protected under the Endangered Species Act that would materially and adversely affect our
ability to mine coal from our properties in accordance with current mining plans. The Bush Administration has also proposed to add polar bears to the list of
endangered species. If that proposal should be finalized, then that action could result in regulation of carbon dioxide emissions to address global warming.

Other Environmental Laws. We are required to comply with numerous other federal, state and local environmental laws in addition to those previously
discussed. These additional laws include, for example, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act, the Toxic Substance
Control Act and the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act. We believe that we are in substantial compliance with all applicable
environmental laws.
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Employees
At March 26, 2007, we employed a total of approximately 1,563 persons. We believe that our relations with all employees are good.
Executive Officers

Our managing member is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Arch Coal. As a result, we are effectively managed by the management of Arch Coal.
The following is a list of executive officers of Arch Coal, their ages as of March 26, 2007 and their positions and offices during the last five years:

C. Henry Besten, Jr. Mr. Besten, 58, is Senior Vice President — Strategic Development of Arch Coal and has served in such
capacity since December 2002. Mr. Besten also served as President of Arch Energy Resources, Inc., a
subsidiary of Arch Coal, from July 1997 to October 2006. From July 1997 to December 2002, Mr. Besten
served as Vice President — Strategic Marketing of Arch Coal. Mr. Besten also served as acting Chief
Financial Officer from December 1999 to November 2000.

John W. Eaves Mr. Eaves, 49, is President and Chief Operating Officer of Arch Coal and has served in such capacity since
April 2006. Mr. Eaves has also been a director of Arch Coal since February 2006. From December 2002 to
April 2006, Mr. Eaves served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of Arch Coal. From
February 2000 to December 2002, Mr. Eaves served as Senior Vice President — Marketing of Arch Coal
and from September 1995 to December 2002 as President of Arch Coal Sales Company, Inc., a subsidiary
of Arch Coal. Mr. Eaves also served as Vice President — Marketing of Arch Coal from July 1997 through
February 2000. Mr. Eaves also serves on the board of directors of ADA-ES, Inc.

Sheila B. Feldman Ms. Feldman, 52, is Vice President — Human Resources of Arch Coal and has served in such capacity since
February 2003. From 1997 to February 2003, Ms. Feldman was the Vice President — Human Resources and
Public Affairs of Solutia Inc. On December 17, 2003, Solutia Inc. and its subsidiaries filed voluntary
petitions for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy
Court for the Southern District of New York.

Robert G. Jones Mr. Jones, 50, is Vice President — Law, General Counsel and Secretary of Arch Coal and has served in such
capacity since March 2000. Mr. Jones served as Assistant General Counsel of Arch Coal from July 1997
through February 2000 and as Senior Counsel from August 1993 to July 1997.

Paul A. Lang Mr. Lang, 46, is Senior Vice President — Operations of Arch Coal and has served in such capacity since
December 2006. Mr. Lang served as President of Arch Coal’s western operations from July 2005 through
December 2006 and President and General Manager of Thunder Basin Coal Company, L.L.C. from
November 1998 through July 2005.

Steven F. Leer Mr. Leer, 54, is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Arch Coal. Mr. Leer served as President and
Chief Executive Officer of Arch Coal from 1992 to April 2006. Mr. Leer also serves on the board of
directors of the Norfolk Southern Corporation, USG Corp., the Western Business Roundtable and the
University of the Pacific and is chairman of the Coal Industry Advisory Board. Mr. Leer is a past chairman
and continues to serve on the board of directors of the Center for Energy and Economic Development, the
National Coal Council and the National Mining Association.

Robert J. Messey Mr. Messey, 61, is Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Arch Coal and has served in such
capacity since December 2000. Mr. Messey also serves on the board of directors of Baldor Electric
Company and Stereotaxis, Inc.

David B. Peugh Mr. Peugh, 52, is Vice President — Business Development of Arch Coal and has served in such capacity
since 1995.
Deck S. Slone Mr. Slone, 43, is Vice President — Investor Relations and Public Affairs of Arch Coal and has served in

such capacity since 2001. Mr. Slone has helped direct Arch Coal’s investor relations and public affairs
functions since joining 1997.
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David N. Warnecke Mr. Warnecke, 51, is Vice President — Marketing and Trading of Arch Coal and is President of our Arch Coal
Sales Company, Inc., a subsidiary of Arch Coal. Previously, Mr. Warnecke served as President of Arch
Transportation Company and served as Executive Vice President of Arch Coal Sales Company, Inc. until
June 1, 2005, when he was appointed President.

Available Information

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, and amendments to those reports, and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission. You
may access and read our filings without charge through the SEC’s website, at sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document we file at the SEC’s public
reference room located at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the
public reference room.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Our business involves certain risks and uncertainties. In addition to the risks and uncertainties described below, we may face other risks and uncertainties,
some of which may be unknown to us and some of which we may deem immaterial. If one or more of these risks or uncertainties occur, our business,
financial condition or results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our profitability and the value of our coal reserves depend upon coal demand by United States electric power generators and other factors
beyond our control.

Our results of operations and the value of our coal reserves are substantially dependent upon the prices we receive for our coal. The prices we receive for
our coal depend upon factors beyond our control, including the coal consumption patterns of the United States electric generation industry. According to the
EIA, the United States electric generation industry accounts for approximately 92% of domestic coal consumption. Certain factors beyond our control,
including those listed below, influence the amount of coal consumed for United States electric power generation:

. the overall demand for electricity, which in turn significantly depends on general economic conditions and summer and winter temperatures in the
United States;

. environmental and government regulation, including air emission standards for domestic and foreign coal-fired power plants;

. the location, availability, quality and price of competing sources of coal, alternative fuels, such as natural gas, oil and nuclear, and alternative energy

sources, such as hydroelectric, wind and solar power; and
. technological developments, including the effects of worldwide energy conservation measures.

Demand for our low sulfur coal and the prices we obtain for it will also be affected by the price and availability of high sulfur coal. In some instances,
United States electric power generators can use high sulfur coal together with emissions allowances in order to satisfy federal and state air emission standards.
In addition, restrictions imposed by federal and state air emission standards may cause some electric power generators to shift from coal to natural gas-fired
power plants. A decrease in coal consumption by United States electric power generators could reduce the prices we receive for our coal. Significant
decreases in the prices we receive for our coal could have a material adverse effect on our profitability and the value of our coal reserves.

Certain conditions or events beyond our control could negatively impact our coal mining operations, our production or our operating costs.

We conduct coal mining operations in underground mines and at surface mines. Certain factors beyond our control, including those listed below, could
disrupt our coal mining operations, reduce our production or increase our operating costs:

. unexpected variations in geological conditions, such as the thickness of the coal deposits and the amount of rock embedded in or overlying the coal
deposit;

. mining and processing equipment failures and unexpected maintenance problems;

. interruptions due to transportation delays;

. unexpected delays and difficulties in acquiring, maintaining or renewing necessary permits or mining or surface rights;

. unavailability of mining equipment and supplies and increases in the price of mining equipment and supplies;

. shortage of qualified labor and a significant rise in labor costs;

. fluctuations in the cost of industrial supplies, including steel-based supplies, natural gas, diesel fuel and oil;

15




Table of Contents

. adverse weather and natural disasters, such as heavy rains and flooding;

. unexpected or accidental surface subsidence from underground mining;

. accidental mine water discharges, fires, explosions or similar mining accidents; and

. regulatory issues involving the plugging of and mining through oil and gas wells that penetrate the coal seams we mine.

If any of these conditions or events occur, particularly at our Black Thunder mine, our coal mining operations may be disrupted, we could experience a
delay or halt of production or our operating costs could increase significantly. In addition, if our insurance coverage is limited or excludes certain of these
conditions or events, then we may not be able to recover any of the losses we may incur as a result of such conditions or events, some of which may be
substantial.

Increases in the price of steel, diesel fuel or rubber tires could negatively affect our operating costs.

Our coal mining operations use significant amounts of steel, diesel fuel and rubber tires. The costs of roof bolts we use in our underground mining
operations depend on the price of scrap steel. We also use significant amounts of diesel fuel and tires for the trucks and other heavy machinery we use,
particularly at our Black Thunder mine. A worldwide increase in mining, construction and military activities has caused a shortage of the large rubber tires we
use in our mining operations. While we have taken initiatives aimed at extending the useful lives of our rubber tires, including increased driver training,
improved road maintenance and reduced driving speeds, we may be unable to obtain a sufficient quantity of rubber tires in the future or at prices which are
favorable to us. If the prices of steel, diesel fuel and rubber tires increase, our operating costs could be negatively affected. In addition, if we are unable to
procure rubber tires, our coal mining operations may be disrupted or we could experience a delay or halt of production.

Our labor costs could increase if the shortage of skilled coal mining workers continues.

Efficient coal mining using modern techniques and equipment requires skilled workers with experience and proficiency in multiple mining tasks. The
resurgence in coal mining activity in recent years has caused a significant tightening of the labor supply. In addition, employee turnover rates in the coal
industry have increased during this period as coal producers compete for skilled personnel. Because of the shortage of trained coal miners in recent years, we
have operated certain facilities without full staff and have hired novice miners, who are required to be accompanied by experienced workers as a safety
precaution. These measures have negatively affected our productivity and our operating costs. If the shortage of experienced labor continues or worsens, our
production may be negatively affected or our operating costs could increase.

Our inability to acquire additional coal reserves or our inability to develop coal reserves in an economically feasible manner may adversely affect
our business.

As we mine, we deplete our coal reserves. As a result, our ability to produce coal in the future depends, in part, on our ability to acquire additional coal
reserves. We may not be able to obtain replacement reserves when we require them. If available, replacement reserves may not be available at favorable
prices, or we may not be capable of mining those reserves at costs that are comparable with our existing coal reserves. Our ability to obtain coal reserves in
the future could also be limited by restrictions under our existing or future debt agreements and competition from other coal producers. If we are unable to
acquire coal reserves to replace the coal reserves we mine, our future production may decrease significantly and our operating results may be negatively
affected.

In addition to the availability of additional coal reserves, our future performance depends on the accuracy with which we estimate the quantity and quality
of the coal included within those reserves. We base our estimates of reserve information on engineering, economic and geological data assembled, analyzed
and reviewed by internal and third-party engineers and consultants. Certain assumptions and other factors beyond our control, including those listed below,
could affect the accuracy of our estimates:

. unexpected geological and mining conditions which may not be fully identified by available exploration data or drill hole density and may differ
from our experience in areas we currently mine;

. future coal prices, operating costs, capital expenditures, severance and excise taxes, royalties and development and reclamation costs;
. future mining technology improvements; and
. the assumed effects of federal and state environmental, safety or other regulations.

We control substantial undeveloped reserves and have not identified the equipment or workforce that will be employed to mine these reserves. Permits
have been obtained for some of these undeveloped reserves. We expect to obtain the required remaining permits by the time we commence mining these
reserves, but we may be unable to do so at all or within the necessary time period. Some of the required permits have become increasingly more difficult and
expensive to obtain and the application review processes are taking longer to complete and have been subject to more frequent challenges.
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Because of these uncertainties, the quantity and quality of the coal we are ultimately able to recover within our coal reserves may differ materially from
our estimates. Inaccuracies in our estimates could result in revenue that is lower than we expect or operating costs that are higher than we expect.

A defect in title or the loss of a leasehold interest in certain property could limit our ability to mine our coal reserves or result in significant
unanticipated costs.

‘We conduct a significant part of our coal mining operations on properties that we lease. A title defect or the loss of a lease could adversely affect our
ability to mine the associated coal reserves. We may not verify title to our leased properties or associated coal reserves until we have committed to developing
those properties or coal reserves. We may not commit to develop property or coal reserves until we have obtained necessary permits and completed
exploration. As such, the title to property that we intend to lease or coal reserves that we intend to mine may contain defects prohibiting our ability to conduct
mining operations. Similarly, our leasehold interests may be subject to superior property rights of other third parties. In order to conduct our mining
operations on properties where these defects exist, we may incur unanticipated costs. In addition, some leases require us to produce a minimum quantity of
coal and contain minimum production royalties. Our inability to satisfy those requirements may cause the leasehold interest to terminate.

The availability and reliability of transportation facilities and fluctuations in transportation costs could affect the demand for our coal or impair
our ability to supply coal to our customers.

We depend upon rail, truck and belt transportation systems to deliver coal to our customers. Disruptions in transportation services due to weather-related
problems, mechanical difficulties, strikes, lockouts, bottlenecks, and other events could impair our ability to supply coal to our customers. As we do not have
long-term contracts with transportation providers to ensure consistent and reliable service, decreased performance levels over longer periods of time could
cause our customers to look to other sources for their coal needs. In addition, increases in transportation costs, including the price of gasoline and diesel fuel,
could make coal a less competitive source of energy when compared to alternative fuels or could make coal produced in one region of the United States less
competitive than coal produced in other regions of the United States or abroad. If we experience disruptions in our transportation services or if transportation
costs increase significantly and we are unable to find alternative transportation providers, our coal mining operations may be disrupted, we could experience a
delay or halt of production or our profitability could decrease significantly.

We may be unable to realize the benefits we expect to occur as a result of acquisitions that we undertake.

We continually seek to expand our operations and coal reserves through acquisitions of other businesses and assets, including leasehold interests. Certain
risks, including those listed below, could cause us not to realize the benefits we expect to occur as a result of those acquisitions:

. uncertainties in assessing the value, risks, profitability and liabilities (including environmental liabilities) associated with certain businesses or
assets;

. the potential loss of key customers, management and employees of an acquired business;

. the possibility that operating and financial synergies expected to result from an acquisition do not develop;

. problems arising from the integration of an acquired business; and

. unanticipated changes in business, industry or general economic conditions that affect the assumptions underlying the rationale for a particular
acquisition.

Our profitability depends upon the long-term coal supply agreements we have with our customers. Changes in purchasing patterns in the coal
industry could make it difficult for us to extend our existing long-term coal supply agreements or to enter into new agreements in the future.

We sell a substantial portion of our coal under long-term coal supply agreements, which we define as contracts with a term greater than one year. Under
these arrangements, we fix the prices of coal shipped during the initial year and may adjust the prices in later years. As a result, at any given time the market
prices for similar-quality coal may exceed the prices for coal shipped under these arrangements. Changes in the coal industry may cause some of our
customers not to renew, extend or enter into new long-term coal supply agreements with us or to enter into agreements to purchase fewer tons of coal than in
the past or on different terms or prices. In addition, uncertainty caused by federal and state regulations, including the Clean Air Act, could deter our customers
from entering into long-term coal supply agreements.

Because we sell a substantial portion of our coal production under long-term coal supply agreements, our ability to capitalize on more favorable market
prices may be limited. Conversely, at any given time we are subject to fluctuations in market prices for the quantities of coal that we have produced but which
we have not committed to sell. As described above under “Our profitability and the value of our coal reserves depend upon coal demand by United States
electric power generators and other factors beyond our control,” the market prices for coal may be volatile and may depend upon factors beyond our control.
Our profitability may be
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adversely affected if we are unable to sell uncommitted production at favorable prices or at all. For more information about our long-term coal supply
agreements, you should see “Long-Term Coal Supply Arrangements” on page 9.

The loss of, or significant reduction in, purchases by our largest customers could adversely affect our profitability.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we derived approximately 32% of our total coal revenues from sales to our three largest customers, Tennessee
Valley Authority, American Electric Power Company, Inc. and TUCO, Inc., and approximately 62% of our total coal revenues from sales to our ten largest
customers. At December 31, 2006, we had coal supply agreements with those ten customers that expire at various times from 2007 to 2017. We expect to
renew, extend or enter into new long-term coal supply agreements with those and other customers. However, we may be unsuccessful in obtaining long-term
coal supply agreements with those customers, and those customers may discontinue purchasing coal from us. If any of those customers, particularly any of
our three largest customers, was to significantly reduce the quantities of coal it purchases from us, or if we are unable to sell coal to those customers on terms
as favorable to us as the terms under our current long-term coal supply agreements, our profitability could suffer significantly. We have limited protection
during adverse economic conditions and may face economic penalties if we are unable to satisfy certain quality specifications under our long-term coal
supply agreements.

Our long-term coal supply agreements typically contain force majeure provisions allowing the parties to temporarily suspend performance during specified
events beyond their control. Most of our long-term coal supply agreements also contain provisions requiring us to deliver coal that satisfies certain quality
specifications, such as heat value, sulfur content, ash content, hardness and ash fusion temperature. These provisions in our long-term coal supply agreements
could result in negative economic consequences to us, including price adjustments, purchasing replacement coal in a higher-priced open market, the rejection
of deliveries or, in the extreme, contract termination. Our profitability may be negatively affected if we are unable to seek protection during adverse economic
conditions or if we incur financial or other economic penalties as a result of these provisions of our long-term supply agreements.

The amount of indebtedness we have incurred could significantly affect our business.

At December 31, 2006, we had consolidated indebtedness of approximately $1.0 billion. We also have significant lease and royalty obligations. Our ability
to satisfy our debt, lease and royalty obligations, and our ability to refinance our indebtedness, will depend upon our future operating performance. We may
be unable to generate sufficient cash flow from operations and future borrowings or other financing may be unavailable in an amount sufficient to enable us to
satisfy our financial obligations or our other liquidity needs. Our ability to satisfy our financial obligations may be adversely affected if we incur additional
indebtedness in the future. In addition, the amount of indebtedness we have incurred could have significant consequences to our business, including those
listed below:

. making it more difficult for us to satisfy our debt covenants and debt service, lease payment and other obligations;

. increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

. limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future acquisitions, working capital, capital expenditures or other general operating
requirements;

. reducing the availability of cash flow from operations to fund acquisitions, working capital, capital expenditures or other general operating purposes;

. limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we compete; and

. placing us at a competitive disadvantage when compared to competitors with less relative amounts of debt.

We may be unable to comply with restrictions imposed by our financing arrangements.

The agreements governing our outstanding debt impose a number of restrictions on us. For example, the terms of our leases and other financing
arrangements contain financial and other covenants that create limitations on our ability to effect acquisitions or dispositions and incur additional debt and
require us to maintain various financial ratios and comply with various other financial covenants. Our ability to comply with these restrictions may be
affected by events beyond our control and, as a result, we may be unable to comply with these restrictions. A failure to comply with these restrictions could
result in an event of default under these agreements. In the event of a default, our lenders and the counterparties to our other financing arrangements could
terminate their commitments to us and declare all amounts borrowed, together with accrued interest and fees, immediately due and payable. If this were to
occur, we might not be able to pay these amounts, or we might be forced to seek an amendment to our financing arrangements which could make the terms of
these arrangements more onerous for us.

Failure to obtain or renew surety bonds on acceptable terms could affect our ability to secure reclamation and coal lease obligations and,
therefore, our ability to mine or lease coal.

. Federal and state laws require us to obtain surety bonds to secure performance or payment of certain long-term obligations, such as mine closure or
reclamation costs, federal and state workers’ compensation costs, coal leases and other obligations.
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We generally reprice these bonds annually, however, they are not cancellable by the surety. Surety bond issuers and holders may increase premiums
on the bonds or impose other less favorable terms upon those renewals. The ability of surety bond issuers and holders to demand additional collateral
or other less favorable terms has increased as the number of companies willing to issue these bonds has decreased over time. Our failure to maintain,
or our inability to acquire, surety bonds required by federal and state law could affect our ability to secure reclamation and coal lease obligations
and, therefore, our ability to mine or lease coal.

Terrorist attacks and threats, escalation of military activity in response to such attacks or acts of war may adversely affect our business.

Terrorist attacks and threats, escalation of military activity or acts of war have significant effects on general economic conditions, fluctuations in consumer
confidence and spending and market liquidity. Future terrorist attacks, rumors or threats of war, actual conflicts involving the United States or its allies, or
military or trade disruptions affecting our customers may significantly affect our operations and those of our customers. As a result, we could experience
delays or losses in transportation and deliveries of coal to our customers, decreased sales of our coal or extended collections from our customers.

Risks Related to Environmental and Other Regulations

Federal and state regulations impose significant costs on us, and future regulations could increase those costs or limit our ability to produce and
sell coal.

Federal and state authorities regulate certain areas, including those listed below, that significantly affect the coal mining industry:
. the discharge of materials into the environment;

. employee health and safety;

. mine permitting and licensing requirements;

. reclamation and restoration of mining properties after mining is completed,;
. management of materials generated by mining operations;

. surface subsidence from underground mining;

. water pollution;

. statutorily mandated benefits for current and retired coal miners;

. air quality standards;

. protection of wetlands;

. endangered plant and wildlife protection;

. limitations on land use;

. storage and disposal of petroleum products and substances that are regarded as hazardous under applicable laws; and
. management of electrical equipment containing PCBs.

The costs, liabilities and requirements associated with these regulations may be significant and time-consuming and may delay commencement or
continuation of exploration or production operations. Failure to comply with these regulations may result in the assessment of administrative, civil and
criminal penalties, the imposition of cleanup and site restoration costs and liens, the issuance of injunctions to limit or cease operations, the suspension or
revocation of permits and other enforcement measures that could have the effect of limiting production from our mining operations. We may also incur costs
and liabilities resulting from claims for damages to property or injury to persons arising from our operations. Our profitability may be negatively affected if
we incur significant costs and liabilities as a result of these regulations. You should see “Environmental Matters” beginning on page 10 for more information
about the federal and state regulations affecting us.

The possibility exists that new legislation and/or regulations and orders may be adopted that may adversely affect our mining operations, our cost structure
and/or our customers’ ability to use coal. New legislation or administrative regulations (or new judicial interpretations or administrative enforcement of
existing laws and regulations), including proposals related to the protection of the environment that would further regulate and tax the coal industry, may also
require us or our customers to change operations significantly or incur increased costs. Such regulations, if enacted in the future, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our failure to obtain and renew permits necessary for our mining operations could negatively affect our business.

Mining companies must obtain numerous permits that regulate environmental and health and safety matters in connection with coal mining, including
permits issued by various federal and state agencies and regulatory bodies. We believe that we have obtained the necessary permits to mine our developed
reserves at our mining complexes. However, as we commence mining our undeveloped reserves, we will need to apply for and obtain the required permits.
The permitting rules are complex and change frequently, making our ability to comply with the applicable requirements more difficult or even impossible. In
addition, private individuals and the public at large have certain rights to comment on and otherwise engage in the permitting process, including through
intervention in the courts. Accordingly, the permits we need for our mining operations may not be issued, or, if issued, may not be issued in a timely fashion.
The permits may also involve requirements that may be changed or interpreted in a manner which restricts our ability to conduct our mining operations or to
do so profitably. An inability to conduct our mining operations pursuant to applicable permits would reduce our production, cash flow and profitability.

If the assumptions underlying our estimates of reclamation and mine closure obligations are inaccurate, our costs could be greater than anticipated.

SMCRA establishes operational, reclamation and closure standards for all aspects of surface mining, as well as most aspects of underground mining. We
base our estimates of reclamation and mine closure liabilities on permit requirements and our engineering expertise related to these requirements. Our
management and engineers periodically review these estimates. The estimates can change significantly if actual costs vary from assumptions or if
governmental regulations change significantly. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, which we
refer to as Statement No. 143, requires us to record these obligations as liabilities at fair value. If actual costs differ from our estimates of fair value, our
profitability could be negatively affected.

Our operations may impact the environment or cause exposure to hazardous substances, and our properties may have environmental
contamination, which could result in material liabilities to us.

Our operations currently use hazardous materials and generate limited quantities of hazardous wastes from time to time. We could become subject to
claims for toxic torts, natural resource damages and other damages as well as for the investigation and clean up of soil, surface water, groundwater, and other
media. Such claims may arise, for example, out of conditions at sites that we currently own or operate, as well as at sites that we previously owned or
operated, or may acquire. Our liability for such claims may be joint and several, so that we may be held responsible for more than our share of the
contamination or other damages, or even for the entire share.

We maintain coal refuse areas and slurry impoundments at some of our mining complexes. Slurry impoundments have been known to fail, releasing large
volumes of coal slurry into the surrounding environment. Structural failure of an impoundment can result in extensive damage to the environment and natural
resources, such as bodies of water that the coal slurry reaches, as well as liability for related personal injuries and property damages, and injuries to wildlife.
If one of our impoundments were to fail, we could be subject to claims for the resulting environmental contamination and associated liability, as well as for
fines and penalties.

Drainage flowing from or caused by mining activities can be acidic with elevated levels of dissolved metals, a condition referred to as “acid mine
drainage,” which we refer to as AMD. The treating of AMD can be costly. Although we do not currently face material costs associated with AMD, it is
possible that we could incur significant costs in the future.

These and other similar unforeseen impacts that our operations may have on the environment, as well as exposures to hazardous substances or wastes
associated with our operations, could result in costs and liabilities that could materially and adversely affect us.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

At December 31, 2006, we owned or controlled primarily through long-term leases approximately 101,000 acres of coal land in Wyoming, 62,000 acres of
coal land in Utah, 22,000 acres of coal land in New Mexico and 17,000 acres of coal land in Colorado. We sublease a significant portion of our coal land from
Arch Coal. Arch Coal leases a portion of that property from the federal government or from various state governments. Those government leases are subject
to readjustment and/or extension and to earlier termination for failure to meet diligent development requirements. Our Sufco, Medicine Bow and Seminoe II
loadout facilities are located on properties subject to leases which expire at varying dates over the next 30 years. Most of the leases contain options to renew.
Our remaining loadout facilities are located on property owned by Arch Coal or us or for which we have a special use permit.
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Our Reserves

We estimate that we owned or controlled approximately 2.3 billion tons of proven and probable recoverable reserves at December 31, 2006. Recoverable
reserves include only saleable coal and do not include coal which would remain unextracted, such as for support pillars, and processing losses, such as
washery losses. Reserve estimates are prepared by our engineers and geologists and reviewed and updated periodically. Total recoverable reserve estimates
and reserves dedicated to mines and complexes change from time to time to reflect mining activities, analysis of new engineering and geological data,
changes in reserve holdings and other factors.

The following tables present by state our estimated assigned and unassigned recoverable coal reserves at December 31, 2006:

Total Assigned Reserves
(Tons in millions)

Total

Assigned Sulfur Content
Recoverable (Ibs. per million Btus) As Received Reserve Control Mining Method Past Reserve Esti
Reserves Proven Probable <1.2 1.2-2.5 >2.5 Btu per Ib. (1) Leased Owned Surface Under-ground 2004 2005
Wyoming 1,655 1,612 43 1,611 44 — 8,849 1,639 16 1,655 — 1,840 1,748
Utah 110 59 51 94 16 — 11,491 108 2 — 110 112 108
Colorado _67 _52 _1s _67 = = 11,767 _65 2 = _67 _ 80 _74
Total 1,832 1,723 109 L772 60 — 9,114 1812 20 1,655 177 2,032 1,930

(1) As received Btu per Ib. includes the weight of moisture in the coal on an as sold basis.

Total Unassigned Reserves
(Tons in millions)

Total

Unassigned Sulfur Content
Recoverable (Ibs. per million Btus) As Received Reserve Control Mining Method
Reserves Proven Probable <1.2 1.2-2.5 >2.5 Btu per 1b.(1) Leased Owned Surface Underground
Wyoming 368 255 113 321 47 — 9,591 271 91 193 175
Utah 41 17 24 36 5 — 10,939 40 1 — 41
Colorado 52 ) _10 52 — — 11,579 52 = — 52
2 = 2 193 268

Total 461 314 147 409 9,935 369 193

(1) As received Btu per Ib. includes the weight of moisture in the coal on an as sold basis.

At December 31, 2006, approximately 4.9% of our coal reserves were held in fee, with the balance controlled by leases, most of which do not expire until
the exhaustion of mineable and merchantable coal. Other leases have primary terms expiring in various years ranging from 2007 to 2020, and most contain
options to renew for stated periods. Under current mining plans, substantially all reported leased reserves will be mined out within the period of existing
leases or within the time period of assured lease renewals. Royalties are paid to lessors either as a fixed price per ton or as a percentage of the gross sales price
of the mined coal. The majority of the significant leases are on a percentage royalty basis. In some cases, a payment is required, payable either at the time of
execution of the lease or in annual installments. In most cases, the prepaid royalty amount is applied to reduce future production royalties.

Federal and state legislation controlling air pollution affects the demand for certain types of coal by limiting the amount of sulfur dioxide which may be
emitted as a result of fuel combustion and encourages a greater demand for low sulfur coal. All of our identified coal reserves have been subject to
preliminary coal seam analysis to test sulfur content. Of these reserves, approximately 95.1% consist of compliance coal, or coal which emits 1.2 pounds or
less of sulfur dioxide per million Btu upon combustion, while the balance could be sold as low-sulfur coal. Some of our low-sulfur coal can be marketed as
compliance coal when blended with other compliance coal. Accordingly, most of our reserves are primarily suitable for the domestic steam coal markets.

The carrying cost of our coal reserves at December 31, 2006 was $460.3 million, consisting of $7.4 million of prepaid royalties and the $452.9 million net
book value of coal lands and mineral rights.

Title to coal properties held by lessors or grantors to us and our subsidiaries and the boundaries of properties are normally verified at the time of leasing or
acquisition. However, in cases involving less significant properties and consistent with industry practices, title and boundaries are not completely verified
until such time as our independent operating subsidiaries prepare to mine such reserves. If defects in title or boundaries of undeveloped reserves are
discovered in the future, control of and the right to mine such reserves could be adversely affected.

We must obtain permits from applicable state regulatory authorities before we begin to mine particular reserves. Applications for permits require extensive
engineering and data analysis and presentation, and must address a variety of environmental, health and safety matters associated with a proposed mining
operation. These matters include the manner and sequencing of coal extraction,
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the storage, use and disposal of waste and other substances and other impacts on the environment, the construction of overburden fills and water containment
areas, and reclamation of the area after coal extraction. We are required to post bonds to secure performance under our permits. As is typical in the coal
industry, we strive to obtain mining permits within a time frame that allows us to mine reserves as planned on an uninterrupted basis. We generally begin
preparing applications for permits for areas that we intend to mine up to three years in advance of their expected issuance date. Regulatory authorities have
considerable discretion in the timing of permit issuance and the public has rights to comment on and otherwise engage in the permitting process, including
through intervention in the courts.

Our reported coal reserves are those that could be economically and legally extracted or produced at the time of their determination. In determining
whether our reserves meet this standard, we take into account, among other things, our potential inability to obtain a mining permit, the possible necessity of
revising a mining plan, changes in estimated future costs, changes in future cash flows caused by changes in costs required to be incurred to meet regulatory
requirements and obtaining mining permits, variations in quantity and quality of coal, and varying levels of demand and their effects on selling prices. We
have obtained, or we have a high probability of obtaining, all required permits or government approvals with respect to our reserves. Except as described
elsewhere in this document with respect to permits to conduct mining operations involving valley fills, which has been taken into account in determining our
reserves, we are not currently aware of matters which would significantly hinder our ability to obtain future mining permits or governmental approvals with
respect to our reserves.

Arch Coal periodically engages third parties to review our reserve estimates. The most recent third-party review of our reserve estimates was conducted by
Weir International Mining Consultants in February 2007.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

You should see “Contingencies” on page 29 for more information.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
Not applicable.
PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

There is no market for our common equity.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

Year Ended December 31
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
@ @2 [€) )

(Amounts in thousands, except per ton data)
Statement of Operations Data:

Coal sales revenue $ 1,491,362 $ 1,126,742 $ 735,162 $ 500,555 $ 492,191
Income from operations 314,263 186,061 83,275 62,710 49,824
Income before cumulative effect of

accounting change 287,013 128,844 32,946 20,996 19,909
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (18,278) —
Net income 287,013 128,844 32,946 2,718 19,909

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 186 $ 152 $ 1,351 $ 35,171 $ 249
Receivable from Arch Coal, Inc. 1,152,102 869,056 677,934 351,866 333,825
Total assets 2,557,772 2,215,376 2,013,436 1,411,515 1,373,061
Total debt 958,881 960,247 961,613 700,000 675,000
Redeemable membership interests 6,934 5,647 4971 4,746 4,733
Non-redeemable membership interests 934,545 677,795 543,058 471,890 469,241
Cash Flow Data:

Cash provided by operating activities $ 539,666 $ 225,798 $ 115,302 $ 129,045 $ 138,827
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 108,272 98,347 80,703 63,053 69,388
Capital expenditures 260,368 108,600 78,313 27,322 51,360
Operating Data:

Tons sold 113,759 105,796 86,264 69,541 72,519
Tons produced 114,928 106,554 91,466 69,361 73,203
Average sales price per ton $ 13.11 $ 10.65 $ 8.52 $ 7.20 $ 6.79

(1) On October 27, 2005, we conducted a precautionary evacuation of our West Elk mine after we detected elevated readings of combustion-related gases
in an area of the mine where we had completed mining activities but had not yet removed final longwall equipment. We estimate that the idling resulted
in $30.0 million in lost profits during the first quarter of 2006, in addition to the effect of the idling and fire-fighting costs incurred during the fourth
quarter of 2005 of $33.3 million. We
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recognized insurance recoveries related to the event of $41.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2006. We have reflected these insurance
recoveries as a reduction of our cost of coal sales for the year ended December 31, 2006. We do not expect to recover any significant additional
amounts as a result of this event.

(2)  On December 30, 2005, we completed a reserve swap with Peabody Energy Corp. and sold to Peabody a rail spur, rail loadout and an idle office
complex located in the Powder River Basin, for a purchase price of $79.6 million. As a result of the transaction, we recognized a gain of $43.3 million,
which we recorded as a component of other operating income.

(3 During 2004, Arch Coal contributed the North Rochelle mine in the Powder River Basin to the Company. Arch Coal also purchased the remaining 35%
interest in Canyon Fuel that we did not already own and we began consolidating Canyon Fuel in our financial statements as of July 31, 2004.

(4> On January 1, 2003, we adopted Statement No. 143 resulting in a cumulative effect of accounting change of $18.3 million.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Overview

Our two reportable business segments are based on the low-sulfur coal producing regions in the western United States in which we operate — the Powder
River Basin and the Western Bituminous region. These geographically distinct areas are characterized by geology, coal transportation routes to consumers,
regulatory environments and coal quality. These similarities within a region have caused market and contract pricing environments to develop by coal region
and form the basis for the segmentation of our operations.

Our results for 2006 reflect higher margins driven primarily by increased price realization. We achieved those results despite continued rail challenges and
weak near-term market conditions. In 2005, we experienced significant disruptions in our rail service from major repair and maintenance work in the Powder
River Basin. During 2006, we experienced some shipment disruptions due to ongoing repairs and maintenance on the rail lines, although not of the magnitude
experienced in 2005. Our results for 2006 also reflected production at our Coal Creek surface mine in Wyoming, which restarted production in 2006, and
Skyline longwall mine in Utah, which commenced mining in a new reserve area in 2006.

Across both of our segments, we have committed to sell a large percentage of our coal under sales contracts that we signed in periods when market prices
of coal were lower than current market prices. Beginning in 2006 and continuing over the course of the next several years, many of these commitments will
expire, and we expect to reprice future coal production at more favorable prices. Abnormal weather patterns, better than expected performance by competing
fuels, increased coal production and an increase in utilities’ coal stockpiles during 2006 resulted in lower consumption by electric power generation facilities.
Nevertheless, we believe domestic and global demand growth for coal along with supply pressures will cause coal prices to increase. In addition, we expect
demand growth from new domestic coal-fueled capacity will also influence future coal consumption and coal prices.

We expect public interest in domestic energy security to accelerate the adoption of coal conversion and other clean-coal technologies. We anticipate that
growing legislative support for reducing the geopolitical risks associated with United States oil supplies will cause alternative fuel sources, including liquid
fuels generated from coal, to become more significant. We believe that advancement of these technologies represents a positive development for the long-
term outlook for coal demand.

Items Affecting Comparability of Reported Results
The comparison of our operating results for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 is affected by the following significant items:

Peabody reserve swap and asset sale — On December 30, 2005, we sold a rail spur, rail loadout and an idle office complex located in the Powder River
Basin to Peabody Energy Corp. for a purchase price of $79.6 million. In conjunction with the transactions, we agreed to lease the rail spur and loadout and
office facilities through 2008. We recognized a gain of $43.3 million on the transaction, after the deferral of $7.0 million of the gain, equal to the present
value of the lease payments, which will be recognized over the term of the lease.

West Elk combustion event — The combustion-related event at our West Elk mine in Colorado in October 2005 caused the idling of the mine into the first
quarter of 2006. We estimate that the idling resulted in $30.0 million in lost profits during the first quarter of 2006, in addition to the effect of the idling and
fire-fighting costs incurred during the fourth quarter of 2005 of $33.3 million. We recognized insurance recoveries related to the event of $41.9 million during
the year ended December 31, 2006. We have reflected these insurance recoveries as a reduction of our cost of coal sales for the year ended December 31,
2006. We do not expect to recover any significant additional amounts as a result of this event.

Accounting for pit inventory — On January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 04-6, Accounting for Stripping
Costs in the Mining Industry. This issue applies to stripping costs incurred in the production phase of a mine for the removal of overburden or waste materials
for the purpose of obtaining access to coal that will be extracted. Under the issue, stripping costs incurred during the production phase of the mine are variable
production costs that are included in the cost of
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inventory produced and extracted during the period the stripping costs are incurred. Historically, we recorded stripping costs associated with the tons of coal
uncovered and not yet extracted (pit inventory) at our surface mining operations as coal inventory. The cumulative effect of adoption was to reduce inventory
by $37.6 million and deferred development cost by $2.0 million with a corresponding decrease to retained earnings. This accounting change creates volatility
in our results of operations, as cost increases or decreases related to fluctuations in pit inventory can only be attributed to tons extracted from the pit. Due to
decreases in pit inventory, net income was $11.8 million higher during the year ended December 31, 2006 than it would have been under our previous
methodology of accounting for pit inventory.

Contribution of North Rochelle Mine— On August 20, 2004, Arch Coal acquired (1) Vulcan Coal Holdings, L.L.C., which owned all of the common equity
of Triton Coal Company, LLC, and (2) all of the preferred units of Triton for a purchase price of $382.1 million, including transaction costs and working
capital adjustments. Upon acquisition, Arch Coal contributed the assets and liabilities of Triton’s North Rochelle mine to us. We integrated the North Rochelle
mine into our existing Black Thunder mine in the Powder River Basin.

Acquisition of remaining interests of Canyon Fuel — On July 31, 2004, Arch Coal purchased the remaining 35% interest in Canyon Fuel that we did not
previously own from ITOCHU Corporation. We have consolidated Canyon Fuel in our financial statements since the acquisition. The results of operations of
the Canyon Fuel mines are included in our Western Bituminous segment.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005

The following discussion summarizes our operating results for the year ended December 31, 2006 and compares those results to our operating results for
the year ended December 31, 2005.

Revenues. The following table summarizes information about coal sales during the year ended December 31, 2006 and compares those results to the
comparable information for the year ended December 31, 2005:

Year Ended December 31 Increase
2006 2005 $ %
(Amounts in thousands, except per ton data)
Coal sales $1,491,362 $1,126,742 $364,620 32.4%
Tons sold 113,759 105,796 7,963 7.5
Coal sales realization per ton sold $ 13.11 $ 10.65 $§ 246 23.1%

Coal sales increased during 2006 when compared to 2005 due to higher contract prices in both of our segments and higher volumes in our Powder River
Basin segment. We have provided more information about the tons sold and the coal sales prices per ton by operating segment below.

The following table shows the number of tons sold by operating segment during the year ended December 31, 2006 and compares those amounts to the
comparable information for the year ended December 31, 2005:

Tons Sold Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 Tons %
(Amounts in thousands)
Powder River Basin 95,637 87,597 8,040 9.2%
Western Bituminous 18,122 18,199 (77) (0.4)

Total 113,759 105,796 7,963 7.5%

Sales volume increased in the Powder River Basin as a result of the restart of the Coal Creek mine in the second quarter of 2006 and rail service that
improved during 2006 when compared to 2005. In the Western Bituminous region, the effect of an extended longwall move at the Dugout Canyon mine offset
a portion of the 1.5 million tons sold from our Skyline mine, which commenced production in a new reserve area in the second quarter of 2006.

The following table shows the coal sales price per ton by operating segment during the year ended December 31, 2006 and compares those amounts to the
comparable information for the year ended December 31, 2005. Coal sales prices per ton exclude certain transportation costs that we pass through to our
customers. We use these financial measures because we believe the amounts as adjusted better represent the coal sales prices we achieved within our
operating segments. Since other companies may calculate coal sales prices per ton differently, our calculation may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures used by those companies. For the year ended December 31, 2006, transportation costs per ton billed to customers were $0.02 for the Powder River
Basin and $2.91 for the Western Bituminous region. Transportation costs per ton billed to customers for the year ended December 31, 2005 were $0.07 for the
Powder River Basin and $3.10 for the Western Bituminous region.

Year Ended December 31 Increase
2006 2005 $ %
Powder River Basin $10.78 $ 8.20 $2.58 31.5%
Western Bituminous 22.42 19.01 341 17.9
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The increase in our coal sales prices in 2006 resulted from higher contract pricing in both of our segments when compared to 2005, due primarily to the
expiration of lower-priced legacy contracts. As discussed previously, we continue to replace sales contracts that we signed in periods when market prices of
coal were lower than current market prices.

Expenses, costs and other. The following table summarizes expenses, costs and other operating income for the year ended December 31, 2006 and
compares those results to the comparable information for the year ended December 31, 2005:

Increase (Decrease)

Year Ended December 31 in Net Income
2006 2005 $ %
(Amounts in thousands)

Cost of coal sales $ 1,049,429 $ 865,760 $ (183,669) (21.2)%
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 108,272 98,347 (9,925) (10.1)
Selling, general and administrative expenses 23,466 23,958 492 2.1
Gain on sale of Powder River Basin assets — (43,297) (43,297) (100.0)
Other operating income (4,068) (4,087) (19) (0.5)

Total $ 1,177,099 $ 940,681 $ (236,418) (25.1)%

Cost of coal sales. Our cost of coal sales increased from 2005 to 2006 primarily due to increased sales volume in the Powder River Basin, and higher
costs, primarily production taxes and coal royalties, which we pay as a percentage of coal sales. We have provided more information about our operating
margins by segment below.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization. The increase in depreciation, depletion and amortization from 2005 to 2006 is due primarily to capital
improvements associated with development projects. We have provided additional information concerning our capital spending during 2006 in the section
entitled “Liquidity and Capital Resources” beginning on page 27.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses represent expenses allocated to us from Arch Coal.

Gain on sale. You should see “Items Affecting Comparability of Reported Results” beginning on page 23 for more information about the gain on the sale
of our Powder River Basin assets.

Operating margins. Our operating margins (reflected below on a per-ton basis) include all mining costs, which consist of all amounts classified as cost of
coal sales (except pass-through transportation costs discussed in “Revenues” above) and all depreciation, depletion and amortization attributable to mining
operations.

Year Ended December 31 Increase
2006 2005 $ Y%
Powder River Basin $ 222 $ 1.19 $ 1.03 86.6%
Western Bituminous 6.87 3.27 3.60 110.1

Powder River Basin — On a per-ton basis, operating margins in 2006 increased significantly from 2005 primarily due to the increase in per-ton coal sales
realizations discussed previously. The effect of the higher realizations were partially offset by increased production taxes and coal royalties, which we pay as
a percentage of coal sales realizations, higher repair and maintenance activity and higher diesel, tire and explosives costs during 2006 compared to 2005.

Western Bituminous — Operating margins per ton in 2006 increased from 2005 primarily due to higher per ton sales prices and insurance recoveries
related to the West Elk thermal event of $41.9 million, partially offset by higher costs resulting from an extended longwall move at our Dugout Canyon mine,
higher coal royalties and production taxes, which we pay as a percentage of sales, and higher repair and supplies costs.

Net interest expense. The following table summarizes our net interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2006 and compares that information to the
comparable information for the year ended December 31, 2005:

Increase (Decrease)

Year Ended December 31 in Net Income
2006 2005 $ %
(Amounts in thousands)
Interest expense $ (72,273) $  (65,543) $ (6,730) (10.3)%
Interest income 81,853 45,233 36,620 81.0
Total $ 9,580 $ (20310) $ 29,890 147.2%

The increase in interest expense in 2006 compared to 2005 results from the discount on trade accounts receivable sold to Arch Coal under Arch Coal’s
accounts receivable securitization program. See further discussion about this program in the section entitled “Liquidity and Capital Resources” beginning on
page 27.

Arch Coal manages our cash transactions. Cash paid to or from us that is not considered a distribution or a contribution is recorded in an Arch Coal
receivable account. The receivable earns interest at the prime rate. The increase in interest income on the
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receivable from Arch Coal results from a higher average receivable balance in 2006 as compared to 2005, including the effect of amounts related to the sale
of trade accounts receivable to Arch Coal.

Other non-operating expense. Our non-operating expense is related to the termination of hedge accounting on interest rate swaps and the resulting
amortization of amounts that had previously been deferred.

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004

Revenues. The following table summarizes information about coal sales during the year ended December 31, 2005 and compares those results to the
comparable information for the year ended December 31, 2004:

Year Ended December 31 Increase (Decrease)
2005 2004 $ %
(Amounts in thousands, except per ton data)
Coal sales $1,126,742 $735,162 $391,580 53.3%
Tons sold 105,796 86,264 19,532 22.6
Coal sales realization per ton sold $ 10.65 $ 852 $ 213 25.0%

Coal sales. The increase in our coal sales resulted from a combination of increased volumes in both segments and higher pricing. Our per ton realizations
increased due primarily to higher contract prices in both segments.

The following table shows the number of tons sold by operating segment during the year ended December 31, 2005 and compares those amounts to the
comparable information for the year ended December 31, 2004:

Tons Sold Increase
2005 2004 Tons %
(Amounts in thousands)
Powder River Basin 87,597 75,069 12,528 16.7%
Western Bituminous 18,199 11,195 7,004 62.6
Total 105,796 86,264 19,532 22.6%

In 2005, volumes increased as a result of the contribution of the North Rochelle mine in the Powder River Basin by Arch Coal on August 20, 2004 and the
consolidation of Canyon Fuel in the Western Bituminous region beginning on July 31, 2004, as discussed previously. In addition, both operating segments
benefited from an overall increase in demand,

The following table shows the coal sales price per ton by operating segment during the year ended December 31, 2005 and compares those amounts to the
comparable information for the year ended December 31, 2004. Coal sales prices per ton exclude certain transportation costs that we pass through to our
customers. We use these financial measures because we believe the amounts as adjusted better represent the coal sales prices we achieved within our
operating segments. As other companies may calculate coal sales prices per ton differently, our calculation may not be comparable to similarly titled measures
used by those companies. Transportation costs per ton billed to customers for the year ended December 31, 2005 were $0.07 for the Powder River Basin and
$3.10 for the Western Bituminous region. For the year ended December 31, 2004, transportation costs per ton billed to customers were $0.04 for the Powder
River Basin and $2.12 for the Western Bituminous region.

Year Ended December 31 Increase
2005 2004 $ %
Powder River Basin $ 8.20 $ 7.11 $1.09 15.3%
Western Bituminous 19.01 15.67 3.34 21.3

In the Powder River Basin, our coal sales prices increased due to higher base pricing and above-market pricing on certain contracts acquired with the
contribution of the North Rochelle mine, as well as higher sulfur dioxide quality premiums resulting from an increase in sulfur dioxide emission allowance
prices. The Western Bituminous region’s coal sales prices increased due to higher contract pricing.

Expenses, costs and other. The following table summarizes expenses, costs and other operating income for the year ended December 31, 2005 and
compares those results to the comparable information for the year ended December 31, 2004:

Increase (Decrease)

Year Ended December 31 in Net Income
2005 2004 $ %
(Amounts in thousands)

Cost of coal sales $ 865,760 $ 577,660 $ (288,100) (49.9)%
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 98,347 80,703 (17,644) (21.9)
Selling, general and administrative expenses 23,958 17,168 (6,790) (39.6)
Gain on sale of Powder River Basin assets (43,297) — 43,297 100.0
Other operating income (4,087) (23,644) (19,557) (82.7)

Total § 940,681 $ 651,887 $ (288,794) (44.3)%

Cost of coal sales. The increase in our cost of coal sales resulted from a combination of increased volumes and the contribution of the North Rochelle mine
in the Powder River Basin by Arch Coal on August 20, 2004 and the consolidation of Canyon Fuel in the Western Bituminous region beginning on July 31,
2004, as discussed previously, along with an increase in sales-sensitive taxes
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and royalties and higher diesel fuel, explosives and utilities costs.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization. The increase in depreciation, depletion and amortization is due primarily to the property additions resulting
from the acquisitions during the third quarter of 2004 and to higher capital expenditures during 2005.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses represent expenses allocated to us from Arch Coal.

Gain on sale. You should see “Items Affecting Comparability of Reported Results” beginning on page 23 for more information about the gain on the sale
of our Powder River Basin assets.

Other operating income, net. The decrease in other operating income in 2005 compared to 2004 is due to the decrease in income from investments
accounted for under the equity method of $8.4 million and production and administration payments from Canyon Fuel, which ended with the consolidation of
Canyon Fuel beginning in July, 2004, and a decrease in gains on other asset sales of $5.8 million in 2005 compared to 2004.

Operating margins. Our operating margins (reflected below on a per-ton basis) include all mining costs, which consist of all amounts classified as cost of
coal sales (except pass-through transportation costs discussed in “Revenues” above) and all depreciation, depletion and amortization attributable to mining
operations.

Year Ended December 31 Increase
2005 2004 $ %
Powder River Basin $ 1.19 $ 099 $ 020 20.2%
Western Bituminous 3.27 0.76 2.51 330.2

Powder River Basin — On a per-ton basis, higher coal sales prices in the Powder River Basin were partially offset by higher operating costs, primarily due
to higher production taxes and coal royalties, diesel fuel costs, depreciation, depletion and amortization costs and higher repairs and maintenance costs.
Additionally, average costs were higher due to the integration of the North Rochelle mine into our Black Thunder mine in the third quarter of 2004. These
costs would have been largely offset by increased productivity had rail service not adversely impacted volumes during the year.

Western Bituminous — On a per-ton basis, higher coal sales prices were partially offset by the effect of the West Elk thermal event discussed under “Items
Affecting Comparability of Reported Results” beginning on page 23.

Net interest expense. The following table summarizes our net interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2005 and compares that information to the
comparable information for the year ended December 31, 2004:

Increase (Decrease)

Year Ended December 31 in Net Income
2005 2004 $ %
(Amounts in thousands)
Interest expense $  (65,543) $  (55,582) $  (9,961) (17.9)%
Interest income 45,233 20,570 24,663 119.9
Total $  (20,310) $ (35012 $ 14,702 42.0%

The increase in interest expense results from a higher amount of average borrowings in 2005 as compared to the same period in 2004, primarily due to the
issuance of $250.0 million of 63/4% senior notes in October 2004. The increase in interest income resulted from an increase in the receivable from Arch Coal.

Other non-operating expense. Our non-operating expense is related to the termination of hedge accounting on interest rate swaps and the resulting
amortization of amounts that had previously been deferred.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of cash include sales of our coal production to customers, sales of assets and debt and offerings related to significant transactions.
Excluding any significant mineral reserve acquisitions, we generally satisfy our working capital requirements and fund capital expenditures and debt-service
obligations with cash generated from operations and, if necessary, cash from Arch Coal. Our ability to satisfy debt service obligations, to fund planned capital
expenditures and to make acquisitions will depend upon our future operating performance, which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions in the
coal industry and financial, business and other factors, some of which are beyond our control.

The following is a summary of cash provided by or used in each of the indicated types of activities during the past three years:

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004

(Amounts in thousands)

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 539,666 $ 225,798 $ 115,302
Investing activities (539,617) (226,932) (405,663)
Financing activities (15) (65) 256,541
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Cash provided by operating activities increased $313.9 million in 2006 compared to 2005 primarily as a result of an increase in net income and the sale of
our trade accounts receivable to Arch Coal.

On February 10, 2006, Arch Coal established an accounts receivable securitization program. Under the program, we sell our receivables to Arch Coal
without recourse at a discount based on the prime rate and days sales outstanding. During 2006, we sold $1.5 billion of trade accounts receivable to Arch
Coal, at a total discount of $10.5 million.

The increase in cash provided by operating activities in 2005 compared to 2004 resulted from improved operating results, the inclusion of a full year of
results for the North Rochelle assets contributed by Arch Coal on August 20, 2004 and the consolidation of Canyon Fuel beginning July 31, 2004.

We used $312.7 million more cash in investing activities in 2006 than in 2005, due to increased capital expenditures and a decrease of $81.5 million in
proceeds from dispositions of property, plant and equipment. Higher spending at our Powder River Basin operations related to the restart of the Coal Creek
mine and costs related to the purchase of a replacement longwall at the Canyon Fuel operations in the Western Bituminous region resulted in an increase in
capital expenditures in 2006 compared to the prior year period. The decrease in proceeds is a result of the sale in 2005 of the railspur, rail loadout and idle
office complex in the Powder River Basin described in “Items Affecting Comparability of Reported Results,” beginning on page 23.

‘We make capital expenditures to improve and replace existing mining equipment, expand existing mines, develop new mines and improve the overall
efficiency of mining operations. We anticipate that capital expenditures during 2007 will be between approximately $125 million and $145 million. This
estimate includes work on a new loadout at Black Thunder, and the final expenditures for a new longwall at the Sufco mine. This estimate assumes no other
acquisitions, significant expansions of our existing mining operations or additions to our reserve base. We anticipate that we will fund these capital
expenditures with available cash, existing credit facilities and cash generated from operations.

Cash used in investing activities decreased $178.7 million during 2005 compared to 2004 as a result of the sale of the rail spur, rail loadout and idle office
complex, which resulted in proceeds of $79.6 million. In addition, the receivable from Arch Coal increased $318.8 million in 2004 compared to
$187.3 million in 2005, due to the proceeds from borrowings in 2004 being loaned to Arch Coal. The decrease was partially offset by increased capital
spending as a result of the addition of the North Rochelle mining operations and the consolidation of Canyon Fuel.

Cash provided by financing activities in 2004 was $256.4 million. On August 20, 2004, we borrowed $100.0 million under a term loan facility, which was
loaned to Arch Coal to help finance the Triton acquisition. On October 22, 2004, we issued $250 million of 6°/2% senior notes due 2013 at a price of 104.75%
of par. The net proceeds of the offering were used to repay and retire the $100.0 million term loan, to repay indebtedness under our revolving credit facility
and for general corporate purposes.

Contractual Obligations

The following is a summary of our significant contractual obligations as of December 31, 2006:

Payments Due by Period
2007 2008-2009 2010-2011 After 2011 Total
(Amounts in thousands)
Long-term debt $ — $ — $ — $ 958,881 $ 958,881
Operating leases 23,401 40,939 33,731 11,220 109,291
Royalty leases 5,031 6,110 3,086 8,590 22,817
Unconditional purchase obligations 162,051 — — — 162,051
Total contractual obligations $ 190,483 $ 47,049 $ 36,817 $ 978,691 $ 1,253,040

Long-term debt is reflected at the amount on our consolidated balance sheet. Certain of our 63/4% senior notes due 2013 were issued at a premium. The par
value of our long-term debt is $950.0 million.

Royalty leases represent non-cancelable royalty lease agreements. Unconditional purchase obligations represent amounts committed for purchases of
materials and supplies, payments for services, purchased coal, and capital expenditures.

Our consolidated balance sheet reflects a liability of $182.0 million for the fair value of asset retirement obligations that arise from SMCRA and similar
state statutes, which require that mine property be restored in accordance with specified standards and an approved reclamation plan. The determination of the
fair value of asset retirement obligations involves a number of estimates, as discussed in the section entitled “Critical Accounting Policies” beginning on page
29, including the timing of payments to satisfy asset retirement obligations. The timing of payments to satisfy asset retirement obligations is based on
numerous factors, including mine closure dates. You should see the notes to our consolidated financial statements for more information about our asset
retirement obligations.

The contractual obligations table included above also excludes certain other obligations reflected in our consolidated balance sheet, including an allocated
portion of liabilities under Arch Coal’s pension and postretirement benefit plans and obligations under our self-insured workers’ compensation program. We
are not obligated to make contributions to Arch Coal’s plans, but we are charged for an allocated portion of Arch Coal’s contributions. The timing of
payments may vary based on changes in the fair value of the plan’s assets (for pension obligations) and actuarial assumptions, and benefit payments. See the
section entitled “Critical Accounting Policies” for more information about these assumptions. See Notes 13 and 14 to our consolidated financial statements
for more informaton about the amounts we have recorded for workers’ compensation and pension and postretirement benefit obligations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In the normal course of business, we are a party to certain off-balance sheet arrangements. These arrangements include guarantees, indemnifications,
financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk, such as performance or
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surety bonds. Liabilities related to these arrangements are not reflected in our consolidated balance sheets, and we do not expect any material adverse effects
on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows to result from these off-balance sheet arrangements.

We use a combination of surety bonds and corporate guarantees (e.g., self bonds) to secure our financial obligations for reclamation, workers’
compensation, coal lease obligations and other obligations as follows as of December 31, 2006:

‘Workers’
Reclamation Lease Compensation
Obligations Obligations Obligations Other Total
(Amounts in thousands)
Self bonding $265,222 $  — $ — $ — $265,222
Surety bonds 71,120 23,097 100 5,100 99,417

Contingencies

SMCRA and similar state statutes require that mine property be restored in accordance with specified standards and an approved reclamation plan. We
accrue for the costs of reclamation in accordance with the provisions of Statement No. 143. These costs relate to reclaiming the pit and support acreage at
surface mines and sealing portals at underground mines. Other costs of reclamation common to surface and underground mining are related to reclaiming
refuse and slurry ponds, eliminating sedimentation and drainage control structures, and dismantling or demolishing equipment or buildings used in mining
operations. The establishment of the asset retirement obligation liability is based upon permit requirements and requires various estimates and assumptions,
principally associated with costs and productivities.

We review our entire environmental liability periodically and make necessary adjustments, including permit changes and revisions to costs and
productivities, to reflect current experience. Our management believes it is making adequate provisions for all expected reclamation and other associated
costs.

We are a party to numerous claims and lawsuits and are subject to numerous other contingencies with respect to various matters. We provide for costs
related to contingencies, including environmental, legal and indemnification matters, when a loss is probable and the amount is reasonably determinable.
After conferring with counsel, it is the opinion of management that the ultimate resolution of these claims, to the extent not previously provided for, will not
have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with accounting principles that are generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these
financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses as
well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Additionally, these estimates and judgments are discussed with our audit committee on a periodic basis.
Actual results may differ from the estimates used under different assumptions or conditions. We have provided a description of all significant accounting
policies in the notes to our consolidated financial statements. We believe that of these significant accounting policies, the following may involve a higher
degree of judgment or complexity:

Asset Retirement Obligations

Our asset retirement obligations arise from SMCRA and similar state statutes, which require that mine property be restored in accordance with specified
standards and an approved reclamation plan. Significant reclamation activities include reclaiming refuse and slurry ponds, reclaiming the pit and support
acreage at surface mines, and sealing portals at deep mines. Our asset retirement obligations are initially recorded at fair value, or the amount at which the
obligations could be settled in a current transaction between willing parties. This involves determining the present value of estimated future cash flows on a
mine-by-mine basis based upon current permit requirements and various estimates and assumptions, including estimates of disturbed acreage and reclamation
costs and assumptions regarding productivity. We estimate disturbed acreage based on approved mining plans and related engineering data. Since we plan to
use internal resources to perform reclamation activities, our estimate of reclamation costs involves estimating third-party profit margins, which we base on
our historical experience with contractors that perform certain types of reclamation activities. We base productivity assumptions on historical experience with
the equipment that we expect to utilize in the reclamation activities. In order to determine fair value, we must also discount our estimates of cash flows to
their present value. We base our discount rate on the rates of treasury bonds with maturities similar to expected mine lives, adjusted for our credit standing.

On at least an annual basis, we review our entire reclamation liability and make necessary adjustments for permit changes as granted by state authorities,
changes in the timing of reclamation activities, and revisions to cost estimates and productivity assumptions, to reflect current experience. Any difference
between the actual cost of reclamation and the fair value will be recorded as a gain or loss when the obligation is settled. We expect our actual cost to reclaim
our properties will be less than the amount
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reflected as an asset retirement obligation. At December 31, 2006, we had recorded asset retirement obligation liabilities of $182.0 million, including amounts
classified as a current liability. While the precise amount of these future costs cannot be determined with certainty, as of December 31, 2006, we estimate that
the aggregate undiscounted cost of final mine closure is approximately $465.3 million.

Related Party Transactions

We receive certain services from, and have entered into certain transactions with, Arch Coal. These include Arch Coal’s management of our cash
transactions, accounts receivable securitization and coal land lease transactions. In addition, certain costs are controlled at Arch Coal and allocated to us,
including employee benefit plan costs and selling, general and administrative costs. These transactions are discussed in “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions, and Director Independence” beginning on page 32. Transactions with Arch Coal may not be at arms length and cost allocations require the use
of estimates. If such transactions were negotiated with an unrelated party, the impact could be material to our results of operations.

Employee Benefit Plans

We participate in Arch Coal’s non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering certain of our salaried and non-union hourly employees. Benefits
are generally based on the employee’s age and compensation. Arch Coal allocates the net periodic benefit cost and benefit obligation based on participant
information. The calculation of our net periodic benefit costs (expense) and benefit obligation (liability) associated with Arch Coal’s defined benefit pension
plans requires the use of a number of assumptions that we deem to be “critical accounting estimates.” These assumptions include the long term rate of return
on plan assets and the discount rate, representing the interest rate at which pension benefits could be effectively settled. Changes in these assumptions can
result in different pension expense and liability amounts, and actual experience can differ from the assumptions. Arch Coal reports separately on the
assumptions used in the determination of net periodic benefit costs and benefit obligation associated with its defined benefit plans.

We also provide certain postretirement medical/life insurance coverage for eligible employee’s under Arch Coal’s plans. Generally, covered employees
who terminate employment after meeting eligibility requirements are eligible for postretirement coverage for themselves and their dependents. The salaried
employee postretirement medical/life plans are contributory, with retiree contributions adjusted periodically, and contain other cost-sharing features such as
deductibles and coinsurance. Arch Coal allocates the net postretirement benefit cost and benefit obligation based on participant information. The calculation
of our net postretirement benefit costs (expense) and benefit obligation (liability) associated with Arch Coal’s postretirement benefit plans requires the use of
assumptions that we deem to be “critical accounting estimates,” primarily the discount rate. Because postretirement costs for participants are capped at current
levels, future changes in health care costs have no future effect on the plan benefits. Arch Coal reports separately on the assumptions used in the
determination of net periodic benefit costs and benefit obligation associated with its postretirement plans.

The impact of lowering the expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets 0.5% in 2006 would have been an increase in expense of
approximately $0.5 million. The impact of lowering the discount rate 0.5% in 2006 would have been an increase in net periodic pension and postretirement
costs of approximately $1.1 million.

Accounting Standards Issued and Not Yet Adopted

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, which we refer to as Statement
No. 157. Statement No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
Statement No. 157 applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. Statement No. 157 is effective
prospectively for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within that fiscal year. We are still analyzing Statement No. 157 to
determine what the impact of adoption will be.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

‘We manage our commodity price risk for our non-trading, long-term coal contract portfolio through the use of long-term coal supply agreements, rather
than through the use of derivative instruments. The majority of our tonnage is sold under long-term contracts. We are also exposed to price risk related to the
value of sulfur dioxide emission allowances that are a component of quality adjustment provisions in many of our coal supply contracts. We manage this risk
through the use of long-term coal supply agreements. In addition, Arch Coal may enter into derivative instruments that fix the price we ultimately realize
related to sulfur dioxide emission allowances.

We are also exposed to the risk of fluctuations in cash flows related to our purchase of diesel fuel. Arch Coal enters into forward physical purchase
contracts and heating oil swaps and options to reduce volatility in the price of diesel fuel for our operations. The swap agreements essentially fix the price
paid for diesel fuel by requiring us to pay a fixed heating oil price and receive a floating heating oil price. The call options protect against increases in diesel
fuel by granting us the right to participate in increases in heating oil prices. The changes in the floating heating oil price highly correlate to changes in diesel
fuel prices.

We are exposed to market risk associated with interest rates due to our existing level of indebtedness. At December 31, 2006, all of our outstanding debt
bore interest at fixed rates. In the past, we have utilized interest rate swap agreements to modify the interest characteristics of our floating-rate debt. We had
no swaps outstanding as of December 31, 2006.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The consolidated financial statements and consolidated financial statement schedule of Arch Western Resources, LLC and subsidiaries are included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on page F-1.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

We performed an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2006. Based on that evaluation, our
management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of such
date. There were no changes in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2006 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

PART IIT

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Our managing member is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Arch Coal. As a result, we are effectively managed by the management of Arch Coal.
You should see the list of Arch Coal’s executive officers and related information under “Executive Officers” beginning on page 14.

The following is a list of directors of Arch Coal, other than Messrs. Eaves and Leer, whose biographical information is contained under “Executive
Officers” beginning on page 14, their ages on March 26, 2007 and biographical information:

James R. Boyd, 60, has been a director of Arch Coal since 1990. Mr. Boyd served as chairman of the board of directors from 1998 to April 2006, when he
was appointed lead director. He served as Senior Vice President and Group Operating Officer of Ashland Inc., a multi-industry company with operations in
chemicals, motor oil, car care products and highway construction, from 1989 until his retirement in January 2002. Mr. Boyd is also a director of Farmers
Bancorp of Lynchburg, Tennessee and Halliburton Inc.

Frank M. Burke, 67, has been a director of Arch Coal since September 2000. He has served as Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Managing General
Partner of Burke, Mayborn Company, Ltd., a private investment and consulting company since 1984. Mr. Burke is also a director of Crosstex Energy GP,
LLC (general partner of Crosstex Energy, L.P.), Crosstex Energy, Inc. and Corrigan Investments, Inc., and is a member of the National Petroleum Council.

Patricia F. Godley, 58, has been a director of Arch Coal since 2004. Since 1998, Ms. Godley has been a partner with the law firm of Van Ness Feldman in
Washington, D.C., practicing in the areas of economic and environmental regulation of electric utilities and natural gas companies. From 1994 until 1998,
Ms. Godley served as the Assistant Secretary for Fossil Energy at the U.S. Department of Energy. Ms. Godley is also a director of the United States Energy
Association.

Douglas H. Hunt, 54, has been a director of Arch Coal since 1995 and, since May 1995, has served as Director of Acquisitions of Petro-Hunt, LLC, a
private oil and gas exploration and production company.

Brian J. Jennings, 46, has been a director of Arch Coal since July 2006. From March 2004 to December 2006, Mr. Jennings served as Senior Vice
President — Corporate Finance and Development and Chief Financial Officer of Devon Energy Corporation. Mr. Jennings served as Senior Vice President —
Corporate Finance and Development from 2001 to March 2004. Mr. Jennings joined Devon in March 2000 as Vice President — Corporate Finance.

Thomas A. Lockhart, 71, has been a director of Arch Coal since February 2003 and a member of the Wyoming State House of Representatives since 2000.
Mr. Lockhart worked for PacifiCorp, an electric utility, for over 30 years and retired in 1998 as a Vice President. Mr. Lockhart is also a director of First
Interstate Bank of Casper, Wyoming and Blue Cross Blue Shield of Wyoming.

A. Michael Perry, 70, has been a director of Arch Coal since 1998. He served as Chairman of Bank One, West Virginia, N.A. from 1993 and as its Chief
Executive Officer from 1983 to his retirement in June 2001. Mr. Perry is also a director of Champion Industries, Inc., and Portec Rail Products, Inc.

Robert G. Potter, 67, has been a director of Arch Coal since April 2001. Mr. Potter was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Solutia Inc., a producer
and marketer of a variety of high performance chemical-based materials, from 1997 to his retirement in 1999. Mr. Potter served for 32 years with Monsanto
Company prior to its spin-off of Solutia in 1997, most recently as the Chief Executive of its chemical businesses. Mr. Potter is a private investor and director
of Stepan Company.

Theodore D. Sands, 61, has been a director of Arch Coal since 1999 and, since February 1999, has served as President of HAAS Capital, LLC, a private
consulting and investment company. Mr. Sands is also a director of Protein Sciences Corporation and Terra
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Nitrogen Corporation. Mr. Sands served as Managing Director, Investment Banking for the Global Metals/Mining Group of Merrill Lynch & Co. from 1982
until February 1999.

Wesley M. Taylor, 64, has been a director of Arch Coal since July 2005. Mr. Taylor was President of TXU Generation, a company engaged in electricity
infrastructure ownership and management. Mr. Taylor served for 38 years at TXU prior to his retirement in 2004. Mr. Taylor is also a director of FirstEnergy
Corporation.

All of our officers and employees must act ethically at all times and in accordance with the Arch Coal code of conduct, which is published under
“Corporate Governance” in the Investors section of Arch Coal’s website at archcoal.com and available in print upon request. Amendments to or waivers from
(to the extent applicable to an executive officer of the company) the code will be posted on Arch Coal’s website.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Our managing member is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Arch Coal. As a result, we are effectively managed by the management of Arch Coal.
Arch Coal reports separately on the executive compensation of its management.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Arch Coal owns 99.5% of our common membership interests. In addition to the remaining 0.5% of our common membership interests, BP p.l.c. owns a
0.5% preferred membership interest. The stockholders of Arch Coal may be deemed to beneficially own an interest in our membership interests by virtue of
their ownership of shares of common stock of Arch Coal. Arch Coal reports separately on the ownership by its directors, executive officers and significant
stockholders of shares of its common stock.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

We are subject to the conflict of interest restrictions contained in Arch Coal’s code of conduct and do not have a separate policy governing transactions
with related persons. As a result, transactions with Arch Coal may not be at arms length. If the transactions were negotiated with an unrelated party, the
impact could be material to our results of operations.

Our cash transactions are managed by Arch Coal. Cash paid to or from us that is not considered a distribution or a contribution is recorded in an Arch Coal
receivable account. In addition, any amounts owed between us and Arch Coal are recorded in the account. The receivable from Arch Coal was $1.2 billion at
December 31, 2006 and $869.1 million at December 31, 2005. This amount earns interest from Arch Coal at the prime interest rate. Interest earned was
$81.2 million in 2006, $44.8 million in 2005 and $20.5 million in 2004. The receivable is payable on demand; however, it is currently management’s intention
to not demand payment of the receivable within the next year. Therefore, the receivable is classified on our balance sheets as long-term.

On February 10, 2006, Arch Coal established an accounts receivable securitization program. Under the program, we sell our receivables to Arch Coal
without recourse at a discount based on the prime rate and days sales outstanding. Under the program, we sold $1.5 billion of trade accounts receivables to
Arch Coal during 2006, at a total discount of $10.5 million.

We mine on tracts that are owned by Arch Coal and subleased to us. Certain subleases required annual advance royalty payments of $10.0 million in each
of the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 which were fully recoupable against production through production royalties. All sublease agreements
between us and Arch Coal were amended as of April 1, 2005 such that royalties on all properties leased from Arch Coal are 7% of the value of the coal mined
and removed from the leased land, pursuant to Federal coal regulations. No advance royalties are required under the new agreement. We incurred production
royalties of $41.4 million in 2006, $23.2 million in 2005 and $11.5 million in 2004 to Arch Coal under sublease agreements.

Amounts charged to the intercompany account for our allocated portion of cash contributions to Arch Coal’s pension and postretirement plans totaled
$17.0 million in 2006, $12.9 million in 2005 and $11.3 million in 2004.

We are charged selling, general and administrative services fees by Arch Coal. Expenses are allocated based on Arch Coal’s best estimates of proportional
or incremental costs, whichever is more representative of costs incurred by Arch Coal on our behalf. Amounts allocated to us by Arch Coal were
$23.5 million in 2006, $24.0 million in 2005 and $17.2 million in 2004. Such amounts are reported as selling, general and administrative expenses in our
statements of income.

Prior to our consolidation of Canyon Fuel, we received administration and production fees from Canyon Fuel for managing those operations. The
production fee was calculated on a per-ton basis while the administration fee represented the costs incurred by our employees for administrative matters. We
received administration and production fees of $4.8 million during 2004 in connection with these arrangements.

Our managing member is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Arch Coal. As a result, we are effectively managed by the management of Arch Coal.
Arch Coal reports separately on the independence of its directors.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Ernst & Young LLP is our independent registered public accounting firm. Our audit fees are determined as part of the overall audit fees for Arch Coal and
are approved by the audit committee of the board of directors of Arch Coal. Arch Coal reports separately on the fees and services of its principal accountants.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The consolidated financial statements and consolidated financial statement schedule of Arch Western Resources, LLC and subsidiaries are included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on page F-1.

You should see the exhibit index for a list of exhibits included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Members
Arch Western Resources, LLC

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Arch Western Resources, LLC and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2006
and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, nonredeemable membership interest, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2006. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15. These financial statements and schedule
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged
to perform an audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as
a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Arch Western
Resources, LLC and subsidiaries at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for stripping costs effective January 1, 2006.
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for pension and other postretirement benefits
effective December 31, 2006.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
St. Louis, Missouri
March 23, 2007
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ARCH WESTERN RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Revenues
Coal sales
Costs, expenses and other
Cost of coal sales
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Other operating income:
Gain on sale of Powder River Basin assets
Other income

Income from operations
Interest income (expense), net:
Interest expense
Interest income, primarily from Arch Coal, Inc.

Other non-operating expense:
Expenses resulting from early debt extinguishment and termination of hedge accounting for
interest rate swaps
Income before minority interest
Minority interest
Net income
Net income attributable to redeemable membership interest
Net income attributable to non-redeemable membership interest

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)
$1,491,362 $ 1,126,742 $735,162
1,049,429 865,760 577,660
108,272 98,347 80,703
23,466 23,958 17,168
— (43,297) —
(4,068) (4,087) (23,644)
1,177,099 940,681 651,887
314,263 186,061 83,275
(72,273) (65,543) (55,582)
81,853 45233 20,570
9,580 (20,310) (35,012)
(7,928) (12,688) (14,295)
315,915 153,063 33,968
(28,902) (24,219) (1,022)
$ 287,013 $§ 128,844 $ 32,946
$ 1,435 $ 644 $ 165
$ 285,578 $ 128,200 $ 32,781
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ARCH WESTERN RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts receivable
Other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid royalties
Other
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Coal lands and mineral rights
Plant and equipment
Deferred mine development

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization

Property, plant and equipment, net
Other assets
Receivable from Arch Coal, Inc.
Other
Total other assets
Total assets

Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Accrued postretirement benefits other than pension
Asset retirement obligations
Accrued workers’ compensation
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Redeemable membership interest

Minority interest
Non-redeemable membership interest

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ INTERESTS

Total liabilities and membership interests

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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December 31

2006 2005
(In thousands)
$ 186 $ 152
985 111,948
14,733 5,469
94,828 98,478
2,945 —
24,458 17,318
138,135 233,365
762,819 762,699
973,359 772,027
357,736 280,996
2,093,914 1,815,722
(860,068) (747,563)
1,233,846 1,068,159
1,152,102 869,056
33,689 44,796
1,185,791 913,852
$2,557,772 $2,215,376
§ 110,725 $ 89,632
129,495 111,821
240,220 201,453
958,881 960,247
31,036 27,016
174,902 136,092
10,027 11,446
38,705 62,060
1,453,771 1,398,314
6,934 5,647
162,522 133,620
934,545 677,795
$2,557,772 $2,215,376
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ARCH WESTERN RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)
Operating Activities
Net income $ 287,013 $ 128,844 $ 32,946
Adjustments to reconcile to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 108,272 98,347 80,703
Prepaid royalties expensed 5,264 12,722 10,051
Net (gain) loss on dispositions of property, plant and equipment 221 (44,525) (5,826)
Net distributions from equity investment — — 16,049
Minority interest 28,902 24,220 1,022
Other non-operating expense 7,928 12,688 14,295
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (see Note 20) 119,900 (6,681) (28,190)
Other (17,834) 183 (5,748)
Cash provided by operating activities 539,666 225,798 115,302
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (260,368) (108,600) (78,313)
Increase in receivable from Arch Coal, Inc. (279,135) (187,280) (318,766)
Additions to prepaid royalties (409) (12,807) (14,643)
Proceeds from dispositions of property, plant and equipment 295 81,755 6,059
Cash used in investing activities (539,617) (226,932) (405,663)
Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes — — 261,875
Debt financing costs (15) (65) (5,334)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities (15) (65) 256,541
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 34 (1,199) (33,820)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 152 1,351 35,171
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 186 $ 152 $ 1,351

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 64,125 $ 65,423 $ 46,636

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ARCH WESTERN RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NON-REDEEMABLE MEMBERSHIP INTEREST
Three years ended December 31, 2006

Non-redeemable

Common
Membership
Interest
(In thousands)
Balance at January 1, 2004 $ 471,890
Comprehensive income
Net income 32,781
Unrealized gains on derivatives 13,493
Pension and postretirement benefit adjustment (1,461)
Total comprehensive income 44,813
Contribution of North Rochelle (see Note 4) 26,450
Dividends on preferred membership interest (95)
Balance at December 31, 2004 543,058
Comprehensive income
Net income 128,200
Unrealized gains on derivatives 12,625
Pension and postretirement benefit adjustment (6,116)
Total comprehensive income 134,709
Contribution by BP p.l.c. 120
Unearned compensation 3
Dividends on preferred membership interest 95)
Balance at December 31, 2005 677,795
Comprehensive income
Net income 285,578
Unrealized gains on derivatives 7,888
Pension and postretirement benefit adjustment 1,694
Total comprehensive income 295,160
Effect of adoption of EITF 04-6 (39,401)
Effect of adoption of Statement No. 158 994
Employee stock-based compensation expense 89
Dividends on preferred membership interest (92)
Balance at December 31, 2006 $ 934,545

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ARCH WESTERN RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Formation of the Company

On June 1, 1998, Arch Coal, Inc. (“Arch Coal”) acquired the Colorado and Utah coal operations of Atlantic Richfield Company (“ARCO”) and
simultaneously combined the acquired ARCO operations and Arch Coal’s Wyoming operation with ARCO’s Wyoming operations in a new joint venture
named Arch Western Resources, LLC (the “Company”). ARCO was acquired by BP p.l.c. (formerly BP Amoco) in 2000. Arch Coal has a 99.5% common
membership interest in the Company, while BP p.1.c. has a 0.5% common membership interest and a 0.5% preferred membership interest in the Company.
Net profits and losses are allocated only to the common membership interests on the basis of 99.5% to Arch Coal and 0.5% to BP p.l.c. In accordance with the
membership agreement of the Company, no profit or loss is allocated to the preferred membership interest of BP p.l.c. Except for a Preferred Return,
distributions to members are allocated on the basis of 99.5% to Arch Coal and 0.5% to BP p.l.c. The Preferred Return entitles BP p.l.c. to receive an annual
distribution from the common membership interests equal to 4% of the preferred capital account balance at the end of the year. The Preferred Return is
payable at the Company’s discretion.

In connection with the formation of the Company, Arch Coal agreed to indemnify BP p.l.c. against certain tax liabilities in the event that such liabilities
arise as a result of certain actions taken by Arch Coal or the Company prior to June 1, 2013. The provisions of the indemnification agreement may restrict the
Company’s ability to sell or dispose of certain properties, repurchase certain of its equity interests, or reduce its indebtedness.

As of and for the period ended July 31, 2004, the membership interests in the Utah coal operations, Canyon Fuel Company, LLC (“Canyon Fuel”), were
owned 65% by Arch Western and 35% by a subsidiary of ITOCHU Corporation. Through July 31, 2004, the Company’s 65% ownership of Canyon Fuel was
accounted for on the equity method in the consolidated financial statements as a result of certain super-majority voting rights in the joint venture agreement.
Income from Canyon Fuel through July 31, 2004 is reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income in other income. On July 31, 2004,
Arch Coal acquired the remaining 35% of Canyon Fuel. See Note 6, “Investment in Canyon Fuel” for further discussion.

2. Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries and controlled entities. The Company’s primary
business is the production of steam coal from surface and underground mines, for sale to utility and industrial markets. The Company’s mines are located in
Wyoming, Colorado and Utah. Intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.

Accounting Pronouncements Adopted

On December 31, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans (“Statement No. 158”). Statement No. 158 requires that an employer recognize the overfunded or underfunded status
of a defined benefit postretirement plan (other than a multiemployer plan) and other postemployment benefits determined on an actuarial basis as an asset or
liability in its balance sheet and to recognize changes in the funded status though comprehensive income when they occur. Statement No. 158 also requires an
employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its year-end balance sheet. See Note 13, “Accrued Workers’ Compensation” for additional
disclosures relating to these obligations. Statement No. 158 does not apply to the Company’s pension and postretirement costs, since the Company’s
employees are covered by Arch Coal’s plans. See further discussion in Note 14, “Employee Benefit Plans.”
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The following table reflects the incremental effect of applying Statement No. 158 on individual line items in the accompanying Consolidated Balance

Sheet at December 31, 2006:

December 31, 2006
Balances Prior to

December 31, 2006
Balances After

Adoption of Adoption of
Statement No. 158 Adjustments Statement No. 158
(In thousands)
Accrued workers” compensation— noncurrent $ 11,026 $ (999) $ 10,027
Total liabilities 1,454,770 (999) 1,453,771
Redeemable membership interest 6,929 5 6,934
Non-redeemable membership interest 933,551 994 934,545
Total liabilities and membership interests 2,556,773 999 2,557,772

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 04-6, Accounting for Stripping Costs in the Mining Industry
(“EITF 04-6”). EITF 04-6 applies to stripping costs incurred in the production phase of a mine for the removal of overburden or waste materials for the
purpose of obtaining access to coal that will be extracted. Under EITF 04-6, stripping costs incurred during the production phase of the mine are variable
production costs that are included in the cost of inventory extracted during the period the stripping costs are incurred. Historically, the Company had classified
stripping costs associated with the tons of coal uncovered and not yet extracted (pit inventory) at its surface mining operations as coal inventory. The effect of
adopting EITF 04-6 was a reduction of $37.6 million and $2.0 million of inventory and deferred development costs, respectively, with a corresponding
decrease to membership interests of $39.6 million. This accounting change creates volatility in the Company’s results of operations, as cost increases or
decreases related to fluctuations in pit inventory can only be attributed to tons extracted from the pit. During the year ended December 31, 2006, decreases in
pit inventory resulted in net income that was $11.8 million higher than it would have been under the Company’s previous methodology of accounting for pit
inventory.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost. Cash equivalents consist of highly-liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less
when purchased.

Allowance for Uncollectible Receivables

The Company maintains allowances to reflect the amounts of its trade accounts receivable and other receivables which are not expected to be collected,
based on past collection history, the economic environment and specified risks identified in the receivables portfolio. Receivables are considered past due if
the full payment is not received by the contractual due date. At both December 31, 2006 and 2005 the allowances were $1.0 million.

Inventories

Coal and supplies inventories are valued at the lower of average cost or market. Coal inventory costs include labor, supplies, equipment costs and
operating overhead.

Prepaid Royalties

Rights to leased coal lands are often acquired through royalty payments. Where royalty payments represent prepayments recoupable against production,
they are recorded as a prepaid asset, and amounts expected to be recouped within one year are classified as a current asset. As mining occurs on these leases,
the prepayment is charged to cost of coal sales.
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Coal Supply Agreements

Acquisition costs allocated to coal supply agreements (sales contracts) are capitalized and amortized on the basis of coal to be shipped over the term of
the contract. Value is allocated to coal supply agreements based on discounted cash flows attributable to the difference between the above or below-market
contract price and the then-prevailing market price. The net book value of the Company’s above-market coal supply agreements was $3.8 million and
$4.8 million at December 31, 2006 and 20035, respectively. These amounts are recorded in other assets in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
net book value of all below-market coal supply agreements was $3.2 million and $15.0 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The Company’s
coal supply agreements are recorded in other noncurrent liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amortization expense, included in cost
of coal sales in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income, on all above-market coal supply agreements was $1.0 million, $8.0 million and
$3.8 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Amortization income on all below-market coal supply agreements was $11.8 million, $16.0 million and
$4.1 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Interest costs applicable to major asset additions are capitalized during the construction period. During the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, interest costs of $3.6 million, $1.6 million and $0.1 million were capitalized. Expenditures which extend the
useful lives of existing plant and equipment or increase the productivity of the asset are capitalized. The cost of maintenance and repairs that do not extend the
useful life or increase the productivity of the asset are expensed as incurred. Plant and equipment are depreciated principally on the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets, which generally range from three to 30 years, except for preparation plants and loadouts. Preparation plants and
loadouts are depreciated using the units-of-production method over the estimated recoverable reserves, subject to a minimum level of depreciation.

Deferred Mine Development

Costs of developing new mines or significantly expanding the capacity of existing mines are capitalized and amortized using the units-of-production
method over the estimated recoverable reserves that are associated with the property being benefited. Additionally, the asset retirement obligation asset has
been recorded as a component of deferred mine development.

Coal Lands and Mineral Rights

A significant portion of the Company’s coal reserves are controlled through leasing arrangements. Amounts paid to acquire such reserves are
capitalized and depleted over the life of those reserves that are proven and probable. Coal lease rights are depleted using the units-of-production method, and
the rights are assumed to have no residual value. The leases are generally long-term in nature (original terms range from 10 to 50 years), and substantially all
of the leases contain provisions that allow for automatic extension of the lease term as long as mining continues. The net book value of the Company’s leased
coal interests was $452.9 million and $486.2 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Impairment

If facts and circumstances suggest that a long-lived asset may be impaired, the carrying value is reviewed for recoverability. If this review indicates that
the carrying amount of the asset will not be recoverable through projected undiscounted cash flows related to the asset over its remaining life, then an
impairment loss is recognized by reducing the carrying value of the asset to its fair value.

Deferred Financing Costs

The Company capitalizes costs incurred in connection with borrowings or establishment of credit facilities and issuance of debt securities. These costs
are amortized as an adjustment to interest expense over the life of the borrowing or term of the credit facility using the interest method. Deferred financing
costs were $13.9 million and $16.1 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Amounts classified as current were $2.2 million and $2.1 million at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Coal sales revenues include sales to customers of coal produced at Company operations and coal purchased from other companies. The Company
recognizes revenue from coal sales at the time risk of loss passes to the customer at the Company’s mine locations at
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contracted amounts. Transportation costs are included in cost of coal sales and amounts billed by the Company to its customers for transportation are included
in coal sales.

Other Operating Income

Other operating income in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income reflects income and expense from sources other than coal sales,
primarily gains and losses from dispositions of long-term assets and, in 2004, income from equity investments.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company’s legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets are recognized at fair value at the time the obligations are incurred.
Obligations are incurred at the time development of a mine commences for underground and surface mines or construction begins for support facilities, refuse
areas and slurry ponds. The obligation’s fair value is determined using discounted cash flow techniques and is accreted over time to its expected settlement
value. Upon initial recognition of a liability, a corresponding amount is capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Amortization
of the related asset is recorded on a units-of-production basis over the mine’s estimated recoverable reserves. See additional discussion in Note 15, “Asset
Retirement Obligations.”

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company has used derivative financial instruments to manage exposures to interest rates. Derivative financial instruments are recognized in the
balance sheet at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in earnings if they are not eligible for hedge accounting or in other comprehensive income if
they qualify for cash flow hedge accounting. Amounts in other comprehensive income are reclassified to earnings when the hedged transaction affects
earnings.

In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company terminated certain interest rate swap agreements that at one time had been designated as a hedge of interest
rate volatility on floating rate debt. The amounts that had been deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income were amortized as additional expense
over the contractual terms of the swap agreements prior to their termination. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company
recognized $7.9 million, $12.7 million and $13.6 million of other non-operating expense, respectively, related to the amortization of the balance in other
comprehensive income. The remaining balance of $3.1 million will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net income in 2007.

Income Taxes

The financial statements do not include a provision for income taxes as the Company is treated as a partnership for income tax purposes and does not
incur federal or state income taxes. Instead, its earnings and losses are included in the Members’ separate income tax returns.

Related Party Transactions

Transactions with Arch Coal may not be at arms length. If the transactions were negotiated with an unrelated party, the impact could be material to the
Company’s results of operations. See Note 16, “Related Party Transactions” for discussion of various transactions with Arch Coal.

Accounting Standards Issued and Not Yet Adopted

In February 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments
(“Statement No. 155”). Statement No. 155 simplifies the accounting for certain hybrid financial instruments by permitting fair value remeasurement for any
hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation. Statement No. 155 also clarifies and amends
certain other provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities and
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities.
Statement No. 155 is effective for all financial instruments acquired, issued, or subject to a remeasurment event occurring after January 1, 2007. The
Company does not expect the adoption of this statement to have a material impact on its financial statements.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“Statement No. 1577).
Statement No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements and applies
under other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. Statement No. 157 is effective prospectively for fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within that fiscal year. The Company is still analyzing Statement No. 157 to determine what the
impact of adoption will be.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior years’ financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the classifications in the current year’s financial
statements with no effect on previously-reported net income, membership interests or statements of cash flows.

3. Redeemable Membership Interest

The terms of the Company’s membership agreement grant a put right to BP p.l.c. which allows BP p.l.c. to cause Arch Coal to purchase its membership
interest. The terms of the agreement state that the price of the membership interest shall be determined by mutual agreement between the members. In the
absence of an agreed-upon price, the price is equal to the sum of the Preferred Capital Amount of $2,399,000 and the Net Equity of BP p.l.c.’s common
membership interest, as defined in the agreement. In addition, Arch Coal has a call right which allows Arch Coal to purchase BP p.l.c.’s members’ interest as
long as it pays damages as set forth in the agreement between the members. It is the members’ intention at this point to continue the joint venture.

The following table presents the components of and changes in BP p.l.c.’s membership interest:

Common Preferred Redzgleﬁlble
Membership Membership Membership
Interest Interest Interest
(In thousands)

Balance at January 1, 2004 $ 2,347 $ 2,399 $ 4,746
Net income attributable to BP p.l.c. common membership interest 165 — 165
Other comprehensive income attributable to BP p.l.c. common membership interest 61 — 61
Dividends on preferred membership interest (1) — (1)

Balance at December 31, 2004 2,572 2,399 4971
Net income attributable to BP p.l.c. common membership interest 644 — 644
Other comprehensive income attributable to BP p.l.c. common membership interest 33 — 33
Dividends on preferred membership interest (1) — (1)

Balance at December 31, 2005 3,248 2,399 5,647
Net income attributable to BP p.l.c. common membership interest 1,435 — 1,435
Other comprehensive income attributable to BP p.l.c. common membership interest 49 — 49
Effect of adoption of EITF 04-6 (198) — (198)
Effect of adoption of Statement No. 158 5 — 5
Dividends on preferred membership interest 4) — 4)

Balance at December 31, 2006 $ 4,535 $ 2,399 $ 6934

4. Contribution of North Rochelle Mine

On August 20, 2004, Arch Coal acquired (1) Vulcan Coal Holdings, L.L.C., which owns all of the common equity of Triton Coal Company, LLC
(“Triton™), and (2) all of the preferred units of Triton for a total purchase price of $382.1 million. Upon acquisition, Arch Coal contributed the assets and
liabilities of Triton’s North Rochelle mine (excluding coal reserves) to the Company. Upon contribution, the North Rochelle mine was integrated with the
Company’s Black Thunder mine in the Powder River Basin.

The effects of the contribution have been recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as of and for the periods subsequent to
August 20, 2004. The contributed assets and liabilities were recorded at their fair value. The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed at the date of contribution (in thousands):
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Cash $ 407
Accounts receivable 14,233
Materials and supplies 4,161
Coal inventory 4,875
Other current assets 3,792
Property, plant, equipment and mine development 81,059
Coal supply agreements 8,486
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (72,326)
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net (18,236)
Total contribution $ 26,451

Amounts allocated to coal supply agreements noted in the table above represent the value attributed to the net above-market coal supply agreements to
be amortized over the remaining terms of the contracts. See Note 2, “Accounting Policies” for amortization related to coal supply agreements.

Pro Forma Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2004 presents the combined results of operations of the
Company, and the contributed North Rochelle mine, as well as the consolidation of Canyon Fuel (net of Arch Coal’s minority interest), on a pro forma basis,
as though the contribution and consolidation had occurred as of the beginning of 2004. The pro forma financial information does not necessarily reflect the
results of operations that would have occurred had the Company and the North Rochelle mine constituted a single entity during those periods (in thousands):

Revenues:
As reported $735,162
Pro forma 984,952
Income before accounting changes:
As reported 32,946
Pro forma 33,981
Net income:
As reported 32,946
Pro forma 33,981

5. Dispositions

On December 30, 2005, the Company sold to Peabody Energy Corp. a rail spur, rail loadout and an idle office complex located in the Powder River
Basin for a purchase price of $79.6 million. In conjunction with the transactions, the Company will continue to lease the rail spur and loadout and office
facilities through 2008 while the Company mines adjacent reserves. The Company recognized a gain of $43.3 million on the transaction, after the deferral of
$7.0 million of the gain, equal to the present value of the lease payments. The deferred gain will be recognized over the term of the lease. See further
discussion in Note 18, “Leases.”

6. Investment in Canyon Fuel

On July 31, 2004, Arch Coal purchased the 35% interest in Canyon Fuel that was not owned by the Company from ITOCHU Corporation. As a result
of the acquisition, the Company consolidates Canyon Fuel in its financial statements. The results of operations of the Canyon Fuel mines are included in the
Company’s Western Bituminous segment.

The following table presents unaudited summarized financial information for Canyon Fuel, for the period ended July 31, 2004, in which it was
accounted for on the equity method (in thousands):
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Condensed Income Statement Information

Revenues $142,893
Total costs and expenses 133,546
Net income before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 9,347
65% of Canyon Fuel net income $ 6,075
Effect of purchase adjustments 2,335
Arch Western’s income from its equity investment in Canyon Fuel $ 8410

Through July 31, 2004, the Company’s income from its equity investment in Canyon Fuel represented 65% of Canyon Fuel’s net income after adjusting
for the effect of purchase adjustments related to its investment in Canyon Fuel. The Company’s investment in Canyon Fuel reflects purchase adjustments
primarily related to the reduction in amounts assigned to sales contracts, mineral reserves and other property, plant and equipment. The purchase adjustments
were amortized consistent with the underlying assets of the joint venture.

7. Insurance Recoveries

A combustion-related event in October 2005 caused the idling of the Company’s West Elk mine in Colorado into the first quarter of 2006, which cost
the Company an estimated $30.0 million in lost profits during the first quarter of 2006, in addition to the effect of the idling and fire-fighting costs incurred
during the fourth quarter of 2005 of $33.3 million. The Company recorded insurance recoveries in 2006 related to the event of $41.9 million. Of these
recoveries, $19.5 million was for business interruption. The insurance recoveries are reflected as a reduction of cost of coal sales in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Income and the balance receivable at December 31, 2006 of $11.9 million related to these recoveries is reflected in other current
receivables on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

8. Other Comprehensive Income

Accumulated other comprehensive loss includes the following:

Accumulated
Pension, Postretirement Other
Financial and Other Post- Comprehensive
Derivatives Employment Benefits Loss
(In thousands)
Balance January 1, 2004 $ (37,323) $ (6,916) $ (44,239)
2004 activity 13,561 (1,468) 12,093
Balance December 31, 2004 (23,762) (8,384) (32,146)
2005 activity 12,688 (6,146) 6,542
Balance December 31, 2005 (11,074) (14,530) (25,604)
2006 activity 7,928 2,702 10,630
Balance December 31, 2006 $ (3,146) $ (11,828) $ (14,974)
9. Inventories
Inventories consist of the following:
December 31
2006 2005
(In thousands)
Coal $ 31,350 $ 49,144
Repair parts and supplies, net of allowance 63,478 49,334
$ 94,828 $ 98,478

The repair parts and supplies are stated net of an allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories of $12.1 million and $12.4 million at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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The decrease in coal inventories is primarily the result of the implementation of EITF 04-6 discussed in Note 2, “Accounting Policies” as of January 1,
2006, partially offset by an increase in coal inventories primarily at the Western Bituminous segment’s operations. The increase in repair parts and supplies is
primarily the result of an increase in tire inventories and higher costs associated with materials and supplies.

10. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31
2006 2005

(In thousands)
Payroll and employee benefits $ 20,361 $ 16,153
Taxes other than income taxes 63,815 51,889
Interest 32,063 32,063
Asset retirement obligations 7,133 8,352
Other accrued expenses 6,123 3,364
$ 129,495 $111,821

11. Debt and Financing Arrangements

On October 22, 2004, the Company issued $250.0 million of 6.75% Senior Notes due 2013 at a price of 104.75% of par. Interest on the notes is payable
on January 1 and July 1 of each year, beginning on January 1, 2005. The debt offering was issued under an indenture dated June 25, 2003, under which the
Company previously issued $700.0 million of 6.75% Senior Notes due 2013. The senior notes are guaranteed by the Company and certain of the Company’s
subsidiaries and are secured by a security interest in the Company’s receivable from Arch Coal. The terms of the senior notes contain restrictive covenants
that limit the Company’s ability to, among other things, incur additional debt, sell or transfer assets, and make investments. The net proceeds were used to
repay $100.0 million in borrowings under a term loan facility, with the remainder loaned to Arch Coal.

12. Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating its fair value disclosures for financial instruments:
Cash and cash equivalents: At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate fair value.

Debt: At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the fair value of the Company’s senior notes was $950.5 million and $979.5 million, respectively.
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13. Accrued Workers’ Compensation

The Company is liable under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1969, as subsequently amended, to provide for pneumoconiosis (occupational
disease) benefits to eligible employees, former employees, and dependents. The Company is also liable under various states’ statutes for occupational disease
benefits. The Company currently provides for federal and state claims principally through a self-insurance program. Charges are being made to operations as
determined by independent actuaries, at the present value of the actuarially computed present and future liabilities for such benefits over the employees’
applicable years of service.

In addition, the Company is liable for workers’ compensation benefits for traumatic injuries that are accrued as injuries are incurred. Traumatic claims
are either covered through self-insured programs or through state-sponsored workers’ compensation programs.

Workers’ compensation expense consists of the following components:

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)

Self-insured occupational disease benefits:

Service cost $ 347 $ 266 $ 184

Interest cost 390 423 295

Net amortization (513) (409) (474)
Total occupational disease 224 280 5

Traumatic injury claims and assessments 1,821 506 1,767
Total provision $ 2,045 $ 786 $ 1,772
Discount rate 5.90% 5.80% 6.00%
Cost escalation rate 3.00% 3.00% 4.00%

Net amortization represents the systematic recognition of actuarial gains or losses over a five-year period.

The reconciliation of changes in the benefit obligation of the occupational disease liability is as follows:

December 31
2006 2005

(In thousands)
Beginning of year obligation $ 6,745 $ 7,375
Service cost 347 266
Interest cost 390 423
Actuarial gain 1,056 (1,219)
Benefit and administrative payments (50) (100)
Net obligation at end of year 8,488 6,745
Unrecognized gain — 2,568
Accrued cost $ 8,488 $ 9,313

Summarized below is information about the amounts recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets for workers’ compensation
benefits:

December 31
2006 2005

(In thousands)
Occupational disease costs $ 8,488 $ 9,313
Traumatic and other workers’ compensation claims 3,020 3,447
Total obligations 11,508 12,760
Less amount included in accrued expenses 1,481 1,314
Noncurrent obligations $ 10,027 $ 11,446

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had $0.1 million in surety bonds outstanding to secure workers” compensation obligations.
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14. Employee Benefit Plans
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

Essentially all of the Company’s employees are covered by Arch Coal’s defined benefit pension plan. The benefits are based on the employee’s age and
compensation. Arch Coal funds the plans in an amount not less than the minimum statutory funding requirements or more than the maximum amount that can
be deducted for federal income tax purposes. Arch Coal allocates a portion of the funding to the Company, which is charged to the intercompany balance. See
Note 16, “Related Party Transactions” for further discussion.

The Company also provides certain postretirement medical/life insurance benefits for eligible employees under Arch Coal’s plans. Generally, covered
employees who terminate employment after meeting eligibility requirements are eligible for postretirement coverage for themselves and their dependents. The
employee postretirement medical/life plans are contributory, with retiree contributions adjusted periodically, and contain other cost-sharing features such as
deductibles and coinsurance. Arch Coal allocates a portion of the funding to the Company, which is charged to the intercompany balance as benefits are paid.

The Company’s allocated expense related to these plans was $13.1 million, $12.8 million and $6.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively. The Company’s balance sheet reflects its allocated portion of Arch Coal’s liabilities and assets related to its benefit plans,
including amounts recorded through other comprehensive income. The Company’s recorded balance sheet amounts are as follows:

December 31,

2006 2005
(In thousands)
Intangible asset (noncurrent assets) $ — $ 2,139
Accrued benefit liabilities (current) 1,935 2,562
Accrued benefit liabilities (noncurrent) 35,153 38,006
Accumulated other comprehensive income 12,828 14,531

Other Plans

Arch Coal sponsors savings plans which were established to assist eligible employees in providing for their future retirement needs. The Company’s
expense related to the plans were $7.3 million in 2006, $5.7 million in 2005 and $3.7 million in 2004.

15. Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company’s asset retirement obligations arise from the Federal Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977 and similar state statutes,
which require that mine property be restored in accordance with specified standards and an approved reclamation plan. The required reclamation activities to
be performed are outlined in the Company’s mining permits. These activities include reclaiming the pit and support acreage at surface mines, sealing portals
at underground mines, and reclaiming refuse areas and slurry ponds.

The Company accounts for its reclamation obligations in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations. The Company reviews its asset retirement obligation at least annually and makes necessary adjustments for permit changes as
granted by state authorities and for revisions of estimates of the amount and timing of costs. For ongoing operations, adjustments to the liability result in an
adjustment to the corresponding asset. For idle operations, adjustments to the liability are recognized as income or expense in the period the adjustment is
recorded.
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The following table describes the changes to the Company’s asset retirement obligation:

Year Ended December 31
2006 2005
(In thousands)

Balance January 1 (including current portion) $ 144,444 $140,620
Accretion expense 12,820 11,418
Adjustments to the liability from changes in estimates 26,892 (2,318)
Liabilities settled (2,121) (5,276)
Balance at December 31 182,035 144,444
Current portion included in accrued expenses (7,133) (8,352)
Noncurrent liability $174,902 $136,092

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had $71.1 million in surety bonds outstanding and $265.2 million in self-bonding to secure reclamation
obligations.

16. Related Party Transactions

The Company’s cash transactions are managed by Arch Coal. Cash paid to or from the Company that is not considered a distribution or a contribution
is recorded in an Arch Coal receivable account. In addition, any amounts owed between the Company and Arch Coal are recorded in the account. At
December 31, 2006 and 2005, the receivable from Arch Coal was $1,152.1 million and $869.1 million, respectively. This amount earns interest from Arch
Coal at the prime interest rate. Interest earned for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $81.2 million, $44.8 million and $20.5 million,
respectively. The receivable is payable on demand by the Company; however, it is currently management’s intention to not demand payment of the receivable
within the next year. Therefore, the receivable is classified on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as long-term.

On February 10, 2006, Arch Coal established an accounts receivable securitization program. Under the program, the Company sells its receivables to
Arch Coal without recourse at a discount based on the prime rate and days sales outstanding. Under the program, the Company sold $1.5 billion of trade
accounts receivable to Arch Coal during 2006, at a total discount of $10.5 million.

The Company mines on tracts that are owned by Arch Coal and subleased to the Company. Certain subleases required annual advance royalty payments
of $10.0 million in each of the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 which were fully recoupable against production through production royalties. All
sublease agreements between the Company and Arch Coal were amended as of April 1, 2005 such that royalties on all properties leased from Arch Coal are
7% of the value of the coal mined and removed from the leased land, pursuant to Federal coal regulations. No advance royalties are required under the new
agreement.

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company incurred production royalties of $41.4 million, $23.2 million and $11.5 million,
respectively, to Arch Coal under sublease agreements.

Amounts charged to the intercompany account for the Company’s allocated portion of cash contributions to Arch Coal’s pension and postretirement
plans totaled $17.0 million, $12.9 million and $11.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Company is charged selling, general and administrative services fees by Arch Coal. Expenses are allocated based on Arch Coal’s best estimates of
proportional or incremental costs, whichever is more representative of costs incurred by Arch Coal on behalf of the Company. Amounts allocated to the
Company by Arch Coal were $23.5 million, $24.0 million and $17.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Such
amounts are reported as selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.

The Company received administration and production fees from Canyon Fuel for managing the Canyon Fuel operations through July 31, 2004. The fee
arrangement was calculated annually and was approved by the Canyon Fuel Management Board. The production fee was calculated on a per-ton basis while
the administration fee represented the costs incurred by the Company’s employees related to Canyon Fuel administrative matters. The fees recognized as
other income by the Company and as expense by Canyon Fuel were $4.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.
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17. Concentration of Credit Risk and Major Customers

The Company places its cash equivalents in investment-grade short-term investments and limits the amount of credit exposure to any one commercial
issuer.

The Company markets its coal principally to electric utilities in the United States. Generally, credit is extended based on an evaluation of the customer’s
financial condition, and collateral is not generally required. Credit losses are provided for in the financial statements and historically have been minimal.

The Company is committed under long-term contracts to supply coal that meets certain quality requirements at specified prices. These prices are
generally adjusted based on indices. Quantities sold under some of these contracts may vary from year to year within certain limits at the option of the
customer. The Company sold 113.8 million tons of coal in 2006. Approximately 79% of this tonnage was sold under long-term contracts (contracts having a
term of greater than one year). Long-term contracts ranged in remaining life from one to 11 years. Sales (including spot sales) to major customers were as
follows:

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)
Tennessee Valley Authority $188,774 $149,994 $83,950

Transportation

The Company depends upon barge, rail, truck and belt transportation systems to deliver coal to its customers. Disruption of these transportation services
due to weather-related problems, mechanical difficulties, strikes, lockouts, bottlenecks, and other events could temporarily impair the Company’s ability to
supply coal to its customers, resulting in decreased shipments. Disruptions in rail service in 2005 resulted in missed shipments and production interruptions.
The Company has no long-term contracts with transportation providers to ensure consistent and reliable service.

18. Leases

The Company leases equipment, land and various other properties under non-cancelable long-term leases, expiring at various dates. Certain leases
contain options that would allow the Company to extend the lease or purchase the leased asset at the end of the base lease term. Rental expense related to
these operating leases amounted to $21.0 million in 2006, $16.1 million in 2005 and $8.5 million in 2004. In addition, the Company enters into various non-
cancelable royalty lease agreements under which future minimum payments are due.

Minimum payments due in future years under these agreements in effect at December 31, 2006 are as follows:

Operating

Leases Royalties
(In thousands)

2007 $ 23,401 $§ 5,031
2008 22,646 4,087
2009 18,293 2,023
2010 14,873 1,867
2011 18,858 1,219
Thereafter 11,220 8,590
$109,291 $ 22,817

On December 31, 2005, the Company sold its rail spur, rail loadout and idle office complex at its Thunder Basin mining complex in Wyoming, and
agreed to lease them back through September 2008, while it mines adjacent reserves, for $0.2 million per month. The lease contains an option to extend on a
month-to-month basis through September 2010. The Company deferred a gain on the sale, equal to the present value of the minimum lease payments, to be
amortized over the term of the lease. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had deferred gains totaling $4.5 million and $7.0 million, respectively,
related to the sale.

As of December 31, 2006, certain of the Company’s lease obligations were secured by outstanding surety bonds totaling $23.1 million.
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19. Contingencies

The Company is a party to numerous claims and lawsuits with respect to various matters. The Company provides for costs related to contingencies
when a loss is probable and the amount is reasonably determinable. After conferring with counsel, it is the opinion of management that the ultimate resolution
of pending claims will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial condition, results of operations or liquidity of the Company.

20. Cash Flow

The changes in operating assets and liabilities as shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows are comprised of the following:

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)

Decrease (increase) in operating assets:

Trade and other receivables $ 97,723 $(28,496) $ (881)

Inventories (33,904) (20,577) (4,978)
Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 38,767 35,054 (23,531)

Accrued postretirement benefits other than pension 5,817 2,344 249

Accrued reclamation and mine closure 11,917 6,143 992

Accrued workers’ compensation (420) (1,149) 41)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities $ 119,900 $ (6,681) $(28,190)

21. Segment Information

The Company produces coal from surface and underground mines for sale to utility and industrial markets. The Company operates only in the United
States, with mines in two of the major low-sulfur coal basins. The Company has two reportable business segments, which are based on the coal basins in
which the Company operates. Geology, coal transportation routes to customers, regulatory environments and coal quality are generally consistent within a
basin. Accordingly, market and contract pricing have developed by coal basin. The Company manages its coal sales by coal basin, not by individual mine
complex. Mine operations are evaluated based on their per-ton operating costs (defined as including all mining costs but excluding pass-through
transportation expenses), as well as on other non-financial measures, such as safety and environmental performance. The Company’s reportable segments are
the Powder River Basin (PRB) segment, with operations in Wyoming, and the Western Bituminous segment (WBIT), with operations in Utah, Colorado and
Southern Wyoming.

Operating segment results for the years ending December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are presented below. Results for the operating segments include all
direct costs of mining. Corporate, Other and Eliminations includes overhead, other support functions, and the elimination of intercompany transactions.

Corporate,
December 31, 2006 Other and
(Amounts in thousands) PRB WBIT Eliminations Consolidated

(In thousands)

Coal sales $1,032,416 $ 458,946 $ — $1,491,362
Income from operations 214,821 128,874 (29,432) 314,263
Total assets 1,584,483 1,841,104 (867,815) 2,557,772
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 61,925 46,347 — 108,272
Capital expenditures 121,737 138,631 — 260,368
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Corporate,
December 31, 2005 Other and
(Amounts in thousands) PRB WBIT Eliminations Consolidated

(In thousands)

Coal sales $ 724,509 $ 402,233 $ — $1,126,742
Income from operations 149,434 59,747 (23,120) 186,061
Total assets 1,333,289 1,723,744 (841,657) 2,215,376
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 64,983 33,364 — 98,347
Capital expenditures 30,668 77,932 — 108,600

Corporate,
December 31, 2004 Other and
(Amounts in thousands) PRB WBIT Eliminations C lidated

(In thousands)
Coal sales $ 536,673 $ 198,489 $ — $ 735,162
Income from equity investments — 8,410 — 8,410
Income from operations 75,453 18,145 (10,323) 83,275
Total assets 1,154,317 1,663,764 (804,645) 2,013,436
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 56,590 24,113 — 80,703
Capital expenditures 55,035 23,278 — 78,313
Reconciliation of income from operations to net income:
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)

Income from operations $314,263 $ 186,061 $ 83,275
Interest expense (72,273) (65,543) (55,582)
Interest income 81,853 45,233 20,570
Other non-operating expense (7,928) (12,688) (14,295)
Minority interest (28,902) (24,219) (1,022)
Net income $287,013 $128,844 $ 32,946

22. Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

Pursuant to the indenture governing the Arch Western Finance senior notes, certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company have fully and
unconditionally guaranteed the senior notes on a joint and several basis. The following tables present unaudited condensed consolidating financial
information for (i) the Company, (ii) the issuer of the senior notes (Arch Western Finance, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), (iii) the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries (Thunder Basin Coal Company, LLC, Mountain Coal Company, LLC, and Arch of Wyoming, LLC), on a combined
basis, which are guarantors under the Notes, and (iv) the Company’s majority-owned subsidiary (Canyon Fuel Company, LLC) which is not a guarantor under
the Notes. Amounts for Canyon Fuel included in the following consolidating condensed financial statements are recorded by the Company under the equity

method of accounting through July 31, 2004 and consolidated thereafter.
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STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31, 2006
(in thousands)

Parent Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Company Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Coal sales revenues $ — $ — $1,165,654 $ 325,708 $ — $1,491,362
Cost of coal sales 3,759 — 813,825 231,310 535 1,049,429
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization — — 80,626 27,646 — 108,272
Selling, general and administrative
expenses allocated from Arch Coal 23,466 — — — — 23,466
Other operating income (124) — (1,437) (1,972) (535) (4,068)
27,101 — 893,014 256,984 — 1,177,099
Income from investment in subsidiaries 343,437 — — — (343,437) —
Income from operations 316,336 — 272,640 68,724 (343,437) 314,263
Interest expense (72,653) (61,309) (434) (1,946) 64,069 (72,273)
Interest income, primarily from Arch
Coal 80,160 64,069 560 1,133 (64,069) 81,853
7,507 2,760 126 (813) — 9,580
Other non-operating expense (7,928) — — — — (7,928)
Minority interest (28,902) — — — — (28,902)
Net income (loss) $287,013 $ 2,760 $ 272,766 $ 67,911 $ (343,437) $ 287,013
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Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts receivable

Other receivables

Inventories

Prepaid royalties

Other current assets

Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Investment in subsidiaries
Receivable from Arch Coal, Inc.
Intercompanies

Other

Total other assets

Total assets

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Accrued postretirement benefits other
than pension

Asset retirement obligations

Accrued workers’ compensation

Other noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Redeemable membership interest

Minority interest

Non-redeemable membership interest

Total liabilities and membership
interests

11,439
12,446

1,917,292
1,124,910
(1,903,278)
639
1,139,563

$ 1,152,009
15,151
3,360
18,511

18,981

5,262
5,254
48,008
6,934
162,522
934,545

$ 1,152,009

BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2006
(in thousands)

Issuer

$ _

977,096
11,764

988,860
$991,014

32,063

32,063
958,881

990,944

70

$991,014
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Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations
$ 161 $ 25 $ =
— 985 —
13,453 273 —
58,796 36,032 —
2,648 297 —
6,235 4,630 —
81,293 42,242 —
879,211 354,635
— — (1,917,292)
) 27,194 —
910,676 15,506 —
15,829 5,457
926,503 48,157 (1,917,292)
$ 1,887,007 $ 445,034 $(1,917,292)
77,347 18,227 —
85,202 8,870 —
162,549 27,097 —
2,485 9,570 —
163,832 11,070 —
1,236 3,529 —
27,757 5,694 —
357,859 56,960 —
1,529,148 388,074 (1,917,292)
$ 1,887,007 $ 445,034 $(1,917,292)

Consolidated

$ 186
985

14,733
94,828
2,945
24,458

138,135
1,233,846

1,152,102

33,689

1,185,791
$2,557,772

110,725

129,495

240,220
958,881

31,036
174,902
10,027
38,705

1,453,771

6,934
162,522

934,545

$2,557,772
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Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities
Investing Activities

Capital expenditures

Increase in receivable from Arch Coal
Additions to prepaid royalties

Proceeds from dispositions of capital assets
Cash used in investing activities

Financing Activities

Debt financing costs

Transactions with affiliates, net

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31, 2006
(in thousands)

Parent

Company

$ 50,847

(251,943)

(251,943)

201,096
201,096

Issuer

$ 3,553

Guarantor

Subsidiaries

$ 378,073

(155,440)
2

91

(155,347)

(222,691)
(222,691)

35
126

$ 161

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

$ 107,193

(104,928)
(27,194)
(409)
204
(132,327)

25,133
25,133

(1)
26

$ 25

Consolidated
$ 539,666

(260,368)
(279,135)
(409)
295
(539,617)

(15)
as)

34
152

$ 186
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Coal sales revenues

Cost of coal sales

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

Selling, general and administrative

Gain on sale of Powder River Basin
assets

Other operating income

Income from investment in subsidiaries

Income from operations

Interest expense

Interest income primarily from Arch
Coal, Inc.

Other non-operating expense
Minority interest

Net income (loss)

Parent
Company
$ _

1,410

23,958

(823)
24,545

209,584

185,039
(64,063)

44,775
(19,288)
(12,688)
(24,219)

$128,844

$

$

STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Year ended December 31, 2005

(in thousands)

Issuer

(63,340)

64,067

727

727

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

$ 865,892
670,340
81,133

(43,297)
(2,531)
705,645

160,247
(2,207)

409
(1,798)

$ 158,449

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

$ 260,850
194,539
17,214

(1,262)
210,491

50,359

49
49

5 50408

Eliminations
$ _
(529)

529

(209,584)

(209,584)
64,067

(64,067)

$ (209,584)

Consolidated

$1,126,742
865,760
98,347
23,958

(43,297)

(4,087)

940,681

186,061
(65,543)

45,233

(20,310)

(12,688)
(24,219)

$ 128,844
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Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts receivable
Other receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Investment in subsidiaries
Receivable from Arch Coal, Inc.
Intercompanies
Other
Total other assets
Total assets

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Accrued postretirement benefits other
than pension
Asset retirement obligations
Accrued workers’ compensation
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Redeemable membership interest
Minority interest
Non-redeemable membership interest
Total liabilities and membership
interests

Parent
Company
$ _
87,012
1,072
6,947
95,031
1,604,489
869,056
(1,702,182)
1,865
773,228
$ 868,259
18,499
3,862
22,361

15,826

5,947
7,063
51,197

5,647
133,620
677,795

$ 868,259

BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2005
(in thousands)

Issuer

973,558
13,916

987,474
$989,620

32,063

32,063
960,247

992,310

(2,690)

$989,620
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Guarantor

Subsidiaries

$ 126
31

673

78,993
3212

83,035
778,945

687,985
25,210

713,195
S1575.175

51,980

67,919

119,899

2,486
126,255
1,325
35,748

285,713

1,289,462

$1.575.175

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

$ 26
24,905

3,724

19,485

5,013

53,153
289,214

40,639

3,805

44,444

$ 386,811
19,153

7,977

27,130

8,704
9,837
4,174
19,249
69,094

317,717

$ 386811

Eliminations

$ _

(1,604,489)

(1,604,489)
$(1,604,489)

(1,604,489)

$(1,604,489)

Consolidated

$ 152
111,948
5,469
98,478
17,318

233,365
1,068,159

869,056

44,796

913,852
$2,215,376

89,632

111,821

201,453
960,247

27,016
136,092
11,446
62,060

1,398,314

5,647
133,620

677,795

$2,215,376
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Operating Activities

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing Activities

Capital expenditures

Receivable from Arch Coal, Inc.

Additions to prepaid royalties

Proceeds from dispositions of capital assets
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Financing Activities

Proceeds from issuance of senior notes

Debt financing costs

Transactions with affiliates

Payments on term loans

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Coal sales revenues

Cost of coal sales

Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Selling, general and administrative
Other operating income

Income from investment in subsidiaries
Income from operations
Interest expense

Interest income primarily from Arch
Coal, Inc.

Other non-operating expense
Minority interest
Net income (loss)

Parent
Company
$ _

3,445

17,168
(12,734)
7,879

89,325
81,446
(53,753)
20,570
(33,183)
(14,295)

(1,022)
$ 32,946

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31, 2005
(in thousands)

Parent

Company Issuer
$ (63,415) $ 248
(187,280) —
(187,280) —
(65) —
250,760 (248)
250,695 (248)
$ — $ o
STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year ended December 31, 2004
(in thousands)

Guarantor

Issuer Subsidiaries
$ — $ 646,473
— 492,009

— 72,820

— (1,913)

— 562,916

— 83,557
(54,165) —
52,336 —
(1,829) —
$ (1,829) $ 83,557
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Guarantor
Subsidiaries

$ 220,994

(52,173)

(12,461)
81,117
16,483

(238,536)

(238,536)
(1,059)
1,185

$ 126

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

$ 88,689
82,206
7,883

(8,997)
81,092

7,597

$ 7,597

Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries

$ 67,971

(56,427)
(346)
638

(56,135)

(11,976)

(11,976)

(140)
166

$ 26

Eliminations

$ _

(89,325)
(89,325)
52,336

(52,336)

$ (89,325)

Consolidated
$ 225,798

(108,600)
(187,280)
(12,807)
81,755
(226,932)

(g)
(65)

(1,199)
1,351

$ 152

Consolidated
$ 735,162
577,660
80,703
17,168
(23,644)
651,887

83,275
(55,582)

20,570
(35,012)
(14,295)

(1,022)

$ 32,946
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Operating Activities

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing Activities

Capital expenditures

Receivable from Arch Coal, Inc.

Additions to prepaid royalties

Proceeds from dispositions of capital assets
Cash used in investing activities

Financing Activities

Proceeds from issuance of senior notes

Debt financing costs

Transactions with affiliates

Payments on term loans

Cash provided by (used in)financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31, 2004
(in thousands)

Parent Company

$  (74,268)

(318,766)

5,750
(313,016)

(5,334)
392,618

387,284

Issuer

$ 3,397

261,875

(265,272)

(3,397)

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

$ 146,954

(68,034)

(14,348)
125
(82,257)

(98,683)

(98,683)

(33,986)
35,171

$ 1,185

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

$ 39,219

(10,279)

(295)
184
(10,390)

(28,663)

(28,663)
166

5 1o

Consolidated
$ 115,302

(78,313)
(318,766)
(14,643)
6,059
(405,663)

261,875
(5,334)

256,541
(33,820)
35,171

$ 1,351
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ARCH WESTERN RESOURCES, LLC

SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Year Ended Dec. 31, 2006
Reserves deducted from asset accounts
Other assets — other notes and accounts
receivable
Current assets — repair parts and supplies
inventories
Year Ended Dec. 31, 2005
Reserves deducted from asset accounts
Other assets — other notes and accounts
receivable
Current assets — repair parts and supplies
inventories
Year Ended Dec. 31, 2004
Reserves deducted from asset accounts
Other assets — other notes and accounts
receivable
Current assets — repair parts and supplies
inventories

(1) Represents amounts added as a result of the contribution of North Rochelle.

(2) Represents amounts added as a result of the consolidation of Canyon Fuel.

Additions

Balance at Charged to Costs Charged to Balance at
Beginning of Year and Exp Other Accounts Deductions End of Year

962 $ — = $ — $ 962

12,411 191 — 526 12,076

962 — — — 962

12,441 377 — 407 12,411

— — 962(1) — 962

8,739 999 3,010(2) 307 12,441
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Arch Western Resources, LLC

F o

A A~
[; Ll L e -

Paul A. Lang.
President
March 30, 2007

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS: That each of the undersigned member and officers of Arch Western Resources, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, hereby constitutes and appoints Robert G. Jones and Gregory A. Billhartz, and each of them, its or his true and lawful attorney-in-
fact and agent, with full power to act without the other, to sign Arch Western Resources, LLC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2006, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; to
file such Annual Report and the exhibits thereto and any and all other documents in connection therewith, including without limitation, amendments thereto,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission; and to do and perform any and all other acts and things requisite and necessary to be done in connection with
the foregoing as fully as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or any of them, may lawfully
do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on
the dates indicated.

Signatures Capacity Date

Paul A. Lang March 30, 2007
President
(Principal Executive Officer)

Robert J. Messey March 30, 2007
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

A LA

Arch Western Acquisition Corporation Sole Managing Member March 30, 2007

Ay

By:
Robert J. Messey, Vice President
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Exhibit Index
Exhibit Description

3.1 Certificate of Formation (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-107569) filed
by Arch Western Finance, LLC on August 1, 2003).

32 Limited Liability Company Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-
107569) filed by Arch Western Finance, LLC on August 1, 2003).

4.1 Indenture, dated as of June 25, 2003, by and among Arch Western Finance, LLC, Arch Coal, Inc., Arch Western Resources, LLC, Arch of
Wyoming, LLC, Mountain Coal Company, L.L.C., Thunder Basin Coal Company, L.L.C. and The Bank of New York, as trustee (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-107569) filed by Arch Western Finance, LLC on
August 1, 2003).

4.2 First Supplemental Indenture, dated October 22, 2004, by and among Arch Western Finance, LLC, Arch Western Resources, LLC, Arch of
Wyoming, LLC, Mountain Coal Company, L.L.C., Thunder Basin Coal Company, L.L.C. and The Bank of New York, as trustee (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on October 23, 2004).

43 Form of 6°/2% Senior Notes due 2013 (included in Exhibit 4.1).

4.4 Form of Guarantee of 6°/2% Senior Notes due 2013 (included in Exhibit 4.1).

4.5 Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 22, 2004, among Arch Coal, Inc., Arch Western Resources, LLC, Arch Western Finance, LLC,
Triton Coal Company, LLC, Arch Western Bituminous Group, LLC, Arch of Wyoming, LLC, Mountain Coal Company, L.L.C. and Thunder
Basin Coal Company, L.L.C. and Citigroup Global Markets Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, as
representatives of the initial purchasers named therein (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by
the registrant on October 23, 2004).

10.1 Federal Coal Lease dated as of June 24, 1993 between the United States Department of the Interior and Southern Utah Fuel Company
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 of Arch Coal Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998).

10.2 Federal Coal Lease between the United States Department of the Interior and Utah Fuel Company (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.18 of Arch Coal Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998).

10.3 Federal Coal Lease dated as of July 19, 1997 between the United States Department of the Interior and Canyon Fuel Company, LLC (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of Arch Coal Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998).

10.4 Federal Coal Lease dated as of January 24, 1996 between the United States Department of the Interior and the Thunder Basin Coal Company
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of Arch Coal Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998).

10.5 Federal Coal Lease Readjustment dated as of November 1, 1967 between the United States Department of the Interior and the Thunder Basin Coal
Company (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of Arch Coal Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1998).

10.6 Federal Coal Lease effective as of May 1, 1995 between the United States Department of the Interior and Mountain Coal Company (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of Arch Coal Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998).

10.7 Federal Coal Lease dated as of January 1, 1999 between the Department of the Interior and Ark Land Company (incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.23 of Arch Coal Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998).

10.8 Federal Coal Lease dated as of October 1, 1999 between the United States Department of the Interior and Canyon Fuel Company, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 of Arch Coal Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1999).

10.9 Federal Coal Lease effective as of March 1, 2005 by and between the United States of America and Ark Land LT, Inc. covering the tract of land
known as “Little Thunder” in Campbell County, Wyoming (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by
Arch Coal Inc. on February 10, 2005).

10.10 Modified Coal Lease (WY W71692) executed January 1, 2003 by and between the United States of America, through the Bureau of Land

Management, as lessor, and Triton Coal Company, LLC, as lessee, covering a tract of land known as “North Rochelle” in Campbell County,
Wyoming (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Arch Coal Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004).
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Exhibit Description

10.11 Coal Lease (WYW127221) executed January 1, 1998 by and between the United States of America, through the Bureau of Land Management, as
lessor, and Triton Coal Company, LLC, as lessee, covering a tract of land known as “North Roundup” in Campbell County, Wyoming
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Arch Coal Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004).

10.12 Master Lease and Sublease Agreement, dated effective as of April 1, 2005, by and between Ark Land Company, Ark Land LT, Inc., Thunder Basin
Coal Company, L.L.C. and Triton Coal Company, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2005).

10.13 Amendment No. 1 to Master Lease and Sublease Agreement, dated effective as of December 30, 2005, by and between Ark Land Company, Ark
Land LT, Inc., Thunder Basin Coal Company, L.L.C. and Triton Coal Company, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the
registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005).

10.14 State Coal Lease executed October 1, 2004 by and between The State of Utah, Thru School & Institutional Trust Lands Admin, as lessor, and Ark
Land Company and Arch Coal, Inc., as lessees, covering a tract of land located in Seiever County, Utah (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.20 to Arch Coal Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006).

10.15 State Coal Lease executed September 1, 2000 by and between The State of Utah, Thru School & Institutional Trust Lands Admin, as lessor, and
Canyon Fuel Company, LLC, as lessee, for lands located in Carbon County, Utah(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Arch Coal Inc.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006).

10.16 Federal Coal Lease executed September 1, 1996 by and between the Bureau of Land Management, as lessor, and Canyon Fuel Company, LLC, as
lessee, covering a tract of land known as “The North Lease” in Carbon County, Utah (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Arch Coal
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006).

10.17 Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2006, by and among various entities listed on Schedule I, as the originators, and Arch Coal,
Inc.

21.1 Subsidiaries of the registrant.

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Paul A. Lang.

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Robert J. Messey.

32.1 Section 1350 Certification of Paul A. Lang.
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THIS PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, this “Agreement”), dated
as of February 3, 2006 is entered into by and among the VARIOUS ENTITIES LISTED ON SCHEDULE I HERETO (each, an “Originator” and collectively,
“Originators”), and ARCH COAL, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”).

DEFINITIONS

Unless otherwise indicated herein, capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined in this Agreement are defined in Exhibit I to the Receivables Purchase
Agreement, dated as of the date hereof (as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Receivables
Purchase Agreement”), among Arch Receivable Company, LLC, as Seller (the “Seller”), Arch Coal Sales Company, Inc., as initial Servicer, Market Street
Funding LLC, as Issuer, the LC Participants from time to time party thereto, and PNC Bank, National Association, as Administrator and as LC Bank. All
references herein to months are to calendar months unless otherwise expressly indicated.

BACKGROUND:
1. The Originators are operating subsidiaries of the Company;
2. The Originators generate Receivables in the ordinary course of their businesses;

3. The Originators, in order to finance their respective businesses, wish to sell Receivables to the Company, and the Company is willing to purchase
Receivables from the Originators, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein;

4. The Originators and the Company intend this transaction to be a true sale of Receivables by each Originator to the Company, providing the Company
with the full benefits of ownership of the Receivables, and the Originators and the Company do not intend the transactions hereunder to be characterized as a
loan from the Company to any Originator; and

5. The Originators and the Company acknowledge that the Company will sell and contribute the Receivables purchased by it hereunder and the related
security (together with accounts receivable originated by the Company and the related security) to the Seller, from time to time, pursuant to that certain Sale
and Contribution Sale Agreement, dated as of the date hereof (as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time,
the “Sale and Contribution Agreement”), between the Company, as transferor (in such capacity, the “Transferor”) and the Seller, as buyer, and that thereafter
the Seller may from time to time transfer, assign and grant a security interest in undivided beneficial interests in the Receivables, Related Security and other
rights to the Administrator for the benefit of the Purchasers under the Receivables Purchase Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
AGREEMENT TO PURCHASE AND SELL
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SECTION 1.1 Agreement To Purchase and Sell. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, each Originator, severally and for
itself, agrees to sell to the Company, and the Company agrees to purchase from such Originator, from time to time on or after the Closing Date, but before the
Purchase and Sale Termination Date (as defined in Section 1.4), all of such Originator’s right, title and interest in and to:

(a) each Receivable of such Originator that existed and was owing to such Originator at the closing of such Originator’s business on January 1, 2006
(the “Cut-off Date™)

(b) each Receivable generated by such Originator from and including the Cut-oft Date to but excluding the Purchase and Sale Termination Date;
(c) all rights to, but not the obligations of, such Originator under all Related Security with respect to any of the foregoing Receivables;

(d) all monies due or to become due to such Originator with respect to any of the foregoing;

(e) all books and records of such Originator to the extent related to any of the foregoing;

() all collections and other proceeds and products of any of the foregoing (as defined in the UCC) that are or were received by such Originator on or
after the Cut-off Date, including, without limitation, all funds which either are received by such Originator, the Company or the Servicer from or on behalf
of the Obligors in payment of any amounts owed (including, without limitation, invoice price, finance charges, interest and all other charges) in respect of
any of the above Receivables or are applied to such amounts owed by the Obligors (including, without limitation, any insurance payments that such
Originator, the Company or the Servicer applies in the ordinary course of its business to amounts owed in respect of any of the above Receivables, and net
proceeds of sale or other disposition of repossessed goods or other collateral or property of the Obligors in respect of any of the above Receivables or any
other parties directly or indirectly liable for payment of such Receivables); and

(g) all right, title and interest (but not obligations) in and to the Lock-Box Accounts into which any Collections or other proceeds with respect to
such Receivables may be deposited, and any related investment property acquired with any such collections or other proceeds (as such term is defined in
the applicable UCC).

All purchases hereunder shall be made without recourse, but shall be made pursuant to, and in reliance upon, the representations, warranties and covenants of

the Originators set forth in this Agreement and each other Transaction Document. No obligation or liability to any Obligor on any Receivable is intended to be
assumed by the Company hereunder, and any such assumption is expressly disclaimed. The Company’s foregoing agreement to purchase Receivables and the

proceeds and rights described in clauses (¢) through (g) (collectively, the “Related Rights”) is herein called the “Purchase Facility.”
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SECTION 1.2 Timing of Purchases.

(a) Closing Date Purchases. Each Originator’s entire right, title and interest in (i) each Receivable that existed and was owing to such Originator at the
Cut-off Date, (ii) all Receivables created by such Originator from and including the Cut-off Date, to and including the Closing Date, and (iii) all Related
Rights with respect thereto automatically shall be deemed to have been sold by such Originator to the Company on the Closing Date.

(b) Subsequent Purchases. After the Closing Date, until the Purchase and Sale Termination Date, each Receivable and the Related Rights generated by
each Originator shall be deemed to have been sold by such Originator to the Company immediately (and without further action) upon the creation of such
Receivable.

SECTION 1.3 Consideration for Purchases. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Company agrees to make Purchase
Price payments to the Originators in accordance with Article III.

SECTION 1.4 Purchase and Sale Termination Date. The “Purchase and Sale Termination Date” shall be the earliest to occur of (a) the date the Purchase
Facility is terminated pursuant to Section 8.2 and (b) the Payment Date (as defined in Section 2.2) immediately following the day on which the Originators
shall have given written notice to the Company, the Seller and the Administrator at or prior to 10:00 a.m. (New York City time) that the Originators desire to
terminate this Agreement.

SECTION 1.5 Intention of the Parties. It is the express intent of each Originator and the Company that each conveyance by such Originator to the
Company pursuant to this Agreement of the Receivables and Related Rights, including without limitation, all Receivables, if any, constituting general
intangibles as defined in the UCC, and all Related Rights be construed as a valid and perfected sale and absolute assignment (without recourse except as
provided herein) of such Receivables and Related Rights by such Originator to the Company (rather than the grant of a security interest to secure a debt or
other obligation of such Originator) and that the right, title and interest in and to such Receivables and Related Rights conveyed to the Company be prior to
the rights of and enforceable against all other Persons at any time, including, without limitation, lien creditors, secured lenders, purchasers and any Person
claiming through such Originator. However, if, contrary to the mutual intent of the parties, any conveyance of Receivables and Related Rights, including
without limitation any Receivables constituting general intangibles, is not construed to be both a valid and perfected sale and absolute assignment of such
Receivables and Related Rights, and a conveyance of such Receivables and Related Rights that is prior to the rights of and enforceable against all other
Persons at any time, including without limitation lien creditors, secured lenders, purchasers and any Person claiming through such Originator, then, it is the
intent of such Originator and the Company that (i) this Agreement also shall be deemed to be, and hereby is, a security agreement within the meaning of the
UCC; and (ii) such Originator shall be deemed to have granted to the Company as of the Closing Date, and such Originator hereby grants to the Company, a
security interest in, to and under all of such Originator’s right, title and interest in and to: (A) the Receivables and the Related Rights now existing and
hereafter created by such Originator transferred or purported to be transferred hereunder, (B) all monies due or to become due and all amounts received with
respect thereto, (C) all books and records of
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such Originator to the extent related to any of the foregoing, and (D) all proceeds and products of any of the foregoing to secure all of such Originator’s
obligations hereunder.

ARTICLE I
PURCHASE REPORT; CALCULATION OF PURCHASE PRICE

SECTION 2.1 Purchase Report. On the Closing Date and on the 21st day of each calendar month thereafter (or if such day is not a Business Day, the next
occurring Business Day) (each such date, a “Monthly Purchase Report Date”), the Servicer shall deliver to the Company and each Originator a report in
substantially the form of Exhibit A (each such report being herein called a “Purchase Report”) setting forth, among other things:

(a) Receivables purchased by the Company from each Originator on the Closing Date (in the case of the Purchase Report to be delivered on the Closing
Date);

(b) Receivables purchased by the Company from each Originator during the period commencing on the Monthly Purchase Report Date immediately
preceding such Monthly Purchase Report Date to (but not including) such Monthly Purchase Report Date (in the case of each subsequent Purchase Report);
and

(c) the calculations of reductions of the Purchase Price for any Receivables as provided in Section 3.2 (a) and(b).

SECTION 2.2 Calculation of Purchase Price. The “Purchase Price” to be paid to each Originator for the Receivables that are purchased hereunder from
such Originator shall be determined in accordance with the following formula:

PP = OB x FMVD

where:

PP = Purchase Price for each Receivable as calculated on the relevant Payment Date.

OB = The Outstanding Balance of such Receivable on the relevant Payment Date.

FMVD = Fair Market Value Discount, as measured on such Payment Date, which is equal to the quotient (expressed as percentage) of

(a) one divided by (b) the sum of (i) one, plus (ii) the product of (A) the Prime Rate on such Payment Date, and (B) a fraction,
the numerator of which is the Days’ Sales Outstanding (calculated as of the last Business Day of the calendar month next
preceding such Payment Date) and the denominator of which is 365.

“Payment Date” means (i) the Closing Date and (ii) each Business Day thereafter that the Originators are open for business.
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“Prime Rate” means a per annum rate equal to the “Prime Rate” as published in the “Money Rates” section of The Wall Street Journal or if such
information ceases to be published in The Wall Street Journal, such other publication as determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion.

ARTICLE III
PAYMENT OF PURCHASE PRICE

SECTION 3.1 Purchases.

(a) Initial Purchase Price Payment. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Company agrees to pay to each
Originator the Purchase Price for the purchase to be made from such Originator on the Closing Date in cash.

(b) Subsequent Purchase Price Payments. On each Payment Date subsequent to the Closing Date, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in
this Agreement, the Company shall pay to each Originator the Purchase Price for the Receivables generated by such Originator on such Payment Date in
cash.

SECTION 3.2 Settlement as to Specific Receivables and Dilution.

(a) If (i) on the day of purchase of any Receivable from an Originator hereunder, any of the representations or warranties set forth in Sections 5.10, 5.15
and 5.17 are not true with respect to such Receivable or (ii) as a result of any action or inaction (other than solely as a result of the failure to collect such
Receivable due to a discharge in bankruptcy or similar insolvency proceeding or other credit related reasons with respect to the relevant Obligor) of such
Originator, on any subsequent day, any of such representations or warranties set forth in Sections 5.10, 5.15 and 5.17 is no longer true with respect to such
Receivable, then the Purchase Price with respect to such Receivable shall be reduced by an amount equal to the Outstanding Balance of such Receivable and
shall be accounted to such Originator as provided in clause (c) below; provided, that if the Company thereafter receives payment on account of Collections
due with respect to such Receivable, the Company promptly shall deliver such funds to such Originator.

(b) If, on any day, the Outstanding Balance of any Receivable purchased hereunder is reduced or adjusted as a result of any defective, rejected, returned
goods or services, or any discount or other adjustment made by any Originator, the Company or the Servicer or any setoff or dispute between any Originator
or the Servicer and an Obligor, as indicated on the books of the Company (or, for periods prior to the Closing Date, the books of such Originator), then the
Purchase Price with respect to such Receivable shall be reduced by the amount of such net reduction and shall be accounted to such Originator as provided in
clause (¢) below.

(c) Any reduction in the Purchase Price of any Receivable pursuant to clause (a) or (b) above shall be applied as a credit for the account of the
Company against the Purchase Price of Receivables subsequently purchased by the Company from such Originator hereunder; provided, however if there
have been no purchases of Receivables from such Originator (or insufficiently large purchases of Receivables) to create a Purchase Price sufficient to so apply
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such credit against, the amount of such credit shall be paid in cash to the Company by such Originator.

SECTION 3.3 Reconveyance of Receivables. In the event that an Originator has paid to the Company the full Outstanding Balance of any Receivable
pursuant to Section 3.2, the Company shall reconvey such Receivable to such Originator, without representation or warranty, but free and clear of all liens,
security interests, charges, and encumbrances created by the Company or the Seller.

ARTICLE IV
CONDITIONS OF PURCHASES

SECTION 4.1 Conditions Precedent to Initial Purchase. The initial purchase hereunder is subject to the condition precedent that the Company and the
Administrator (as the total assignee of the Company) shall have received, on or before the Closing Date, the following, each (unless otherwise indicated)
dated the Closing Date, and each in form and substance satisfactory to the Company and the Administrator (as the total assignee of the Company):

(a) A copy of the resolutions of the board of directors or managers of each Originator approving the Transaction Documents to be executed and
delivered by it and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, certified by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of such Originator;

(b) Good standing certificates for each Originator issued as of a recent date acceptable to the Company and the Administrator (as the total assignee of
the Company) by the Secretary of State of the jurisdiction of such Originator’s organization and each jurisdiction where such Originator is qualified to
transact business;

(c) A certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of each Originator certifying the names and true signatures of the officers authorized on such
Person’s behalf to sign the Transaction Documents to be executed and delivered by it (on which certificate the Servicer, the Company, the Seller and the
Administrator (as the total assignee of the Company) may conclusively rely until such time as the Servicer, the Company, the Seller and the Administrator (as
the total assignee of the Company) shall receive from such Person a revised certificate meeting the requirements of this clause (¢));

(d) The certificate or articles of incorporation or other organizational document of each Originator duly certified by the Secretary of State of the
jurisdiction of such Originator’s organization as of a recent date, together with a copy of the by-laws of such Originator, each duly certified by the Secretary
or an Assistant Secretary of such Originator;

(e) Originals of the proper financing statements (Form UCC-1) that have been duly authorized and name each Originator as the debtor/seller and the
Company as the buyer/assignor (and the Administrator, for the benefit of the Purchasers, as secured party/assignee) of the Receivables generated by such
Originator as may be necessary or, in the Company’s or the Administrator’s opinion, desirable under the UCC of all appropriate jurisdictions to perfect the
Company’s ownership interest in all Receivables and such other
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rights, accounts, instruments and moneys (including, without limitation, Related Security) in which an ownership or security interest has been assigned to it
hereunder;

(f) A written search report from a Person satisfactory to the Company and the Administrator (as the total assignee of the Company) listing all effective
financing statements that name the Originators as debtors or sellers and that are filed in all jurisdictions in which filings may be made against such Person
pursuant to the applicable UCC, together with copies of such financing statements (none of which, except for those described in the foregoing clause (¢)
(and/or released or terminated as the case may be on or prior to the date hereof pursuant to the Release Agreement), shall cover any Receivable or any Related
Rights which are to be sold to the Company hereunder), and tax, ERISA and judgment lien search reports from a Person satisfactory to the Company and the
Administrator showing no evidence of such liens filed against any Originator;

(g) Favorable opinions, addressed to each Rating Agency, the Administrator and each Purchaser, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrator, of (i) Bryan Cave LLP, counsel for the Seller, the Originators, the Servicer, the Transferor and ACI, covering such matters as the Administrator
may reasonably request, including, without limitation, certain organizational and New York enforceability matters, certain bankruptcy matters, certain UCC
perfection and priority matters, and (ii) Robert G. Jones, Vice President — Law, General Counsel and Secretary of ACI; and

(h) Evidence (i) of the execution and delivery by each of the parties thereto of each of the other Transaction Documents to be executed and delivered in
connection herewith and (ii) that each of the conditions precedent to the execution, delivery and effectiveness of such other Transaction Documents has been
satisfied to the Company’s and the Administrator’s (as the total assignee of the Company) satisfaction.

SECTION 4.2 Certification as to Representations and Warranties. Each Originator, by accepting the Purchase Price related to each purchase of
Receivables generated by such Originator, shall be deemed to have certified that the representations and warranties contained in Article V, as from time to
time amended in accordance with the terms hereof, are true and correct on and as of such day, with the same effect as though made on and as of such day
(except for representations and warranties which apply to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be true and correct as of
such earlier date).

SECTION 4.3 Additional Originators. Additional Persons may be added as Originators hereunder, with the prior written consent of the Company and the
Administrator; provided that the following conditions are satisfied on or before the date of such addition:

(a) The Company shall have given the Administrator at least thirty days prior written notice of such proposed addition and the identity of the proposed
additional Originator and shall have provided such other information with respect to such proposed additional Originator as the Administrator may reasonably
request;
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(b) such proposed additional Originator has executed and delivered to the Company and the Administrator an agreement substantially in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit B (a “Joinder Agreement”)

(c) such proposed additional Originator has delivered to the Company and the Administrator (as the total assignee of the Company) each of the
documents with respect to such Originator described in Sections 4.1 and 4.2, in each case in form and substance satisfactory to the Company and the
Administrator (as the total assignee of the Company); and

(d) no Purchase and Sale Termination Date shall have occurred and be continuing.

ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE ORIGINATORS

In order to induce the Company to enter into this Agreement and to make purchases hereunder, each Originator hereby represents and warrants with
respect to itself that each representation and warranty concerning it or the Receivables sold by it hereunder, that is contained in the Receivables Purchase
Agreement is true and correct, and hereby makes as of the Closing Date the representations and warranties set forth in this Article V.

SECTION 5.1 Existence and Power. Such Originator is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its
organization, and has all power and authority and all governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals required to carry on its business in each
jurisdiction in which its business is conducted except if failure to have such licenses, authorizations, consents or approvals could not reasonably be expected
to have a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.2 Company and Governmental Authorization. Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by such Originator of this Agreement
are within such Originator’s company powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary company action, require no action by or in respect of, or filing with
(other than the filing of the UCC financing statements and continuation statements contemplated hereunder), any governmental body, agency or official, and,
do not contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of applicable law or regulation or of the organizational documents of such Originator or of any
agreement, judgment, injunction, order, decree or other instrument binding upon such Originator or result in the creation or imposition of any lien (other than
liens in favor of the Company, the Seller and Administrator under the Transaction Documents) on assets of such Originator or any of its Subsidiaries.

SECTION 5.3 Binding Effect of Agreement. This Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party constitutes the legal, valid
and binding obligation of such Originator enforceable against such Originator in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by general principles of equity,
regardless of whether enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.
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SECTION 5.4 Accuracy of Information. All information heretofore furnished by such Originator to the Company or the Administrator pursuant to or in
connection with this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or any transaction contemplated hereby or thereby is, and all such information hereafter
furnished by such Originator to the Company or the Administrator in writing pursuant to this Agreement or any Transaction Document will be, true and
accurate in all material respects on the date such information is stated or certified.

SECTION 5.5 Actions, Suits. There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or, to the best of such Originator’s knowledge, threatened against or
affecting such Originator or any of its Affiliates or their respective properties, in or before any court, arbitrator or other body, which could reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.6 Taxes. Such Originator has filed or caused to be filed all U.S. federal income tax returns and all other material returns, statements, forms
and reports for taxes, domestic or foreign, required to be filed by it and has paid all taxes payable by it which have become due or any assessments made
against it or any of its property and all other material taxes, fees or other charges imposed on it or any of its property by any Governmental Authority, except
to the extent that such taxes are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which such reserves or other appropriate provisions, if any,
as are required by generally accepted accounting principles shall have been made.

SECTION 5.7 Compliance with Applicable Laws. Such Originator is in compliance with the requirements of all applicable laws, rules, regulations and
orders of all Governmental Authorities except to the extent that the failure to comply could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. In
addition, no Receivable sold hereunder contravenes any laws, rules or regulations applicable thereto or to such Originator.

SECTION 5.8 Reliance on Separate Legal Identity. Such Originator acknowledges that each of the Purchasers and the Administrator are entering into the
Transaction Documents to which they are parties in reliance upon the Seller’s identity as a legal entity separate from such Originator and the Transferor.

SECTION 5.9 Investment Company. Such Originator is not an “investment company,” or a company “controlled” by an “investment company” within the
meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. In addition, such Originator is not a “holding company,” a “subsidiary company” of a
“holding company” or an “affiliate” of a “holding company” or of a “subsidiary company” of a “holding company” within the meaning of the Public Utility
Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended.

SECTION 5.10 Perfection. Immediately preceding its sale of each Receivable hereunder, such Originator was the owner of such Receivable sold or
purported to be sold, free and clear of any Adverse Claims (other than any Adverse Claim created prior to the date hereof in favor of PNC pursuant to the
revolving credit agreement of ACI in effect on the date hereof, as may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, which
such Adverse Claim has been released pursuant to the Release Agreement), and each such sale hereunder constitutes a valid sale, transfer and assignment of
all of such Originator’s right, title and interest in, to and under the Receivables sold by it, free and clear of any Adverse Claims. On or before
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the date hereof and before the generation by such Originator of any new Receivable to be sold or otherwise conveyed hereunder, all financing statements and
other documents, if any, required to be recorded or filed in order to perfect and protect the Company’s ownership interest in such Receivable against all
creditors of and purchasers from such Originator will have been duly filed in each filing office necessary for such purpose, and all filing fees and taxes, if any,
payable in connection with such filings shall have been paid in full.

SECTION 5.11 Creation of Receivables. Such Originator has exercised at least the same degree of care and diligence in the creation of the Receivables
sold or otherwise conveyed hereunder as it has exercised in connection with the creation of receivables originated by it and not so transferred hereunder.

SECTION 5.12 Credit and Collection Policy. Such Originator has complied in all material respects with its Credit and Collection Policy in regard to each
Receivable sold by it hereunder and the related Contract.

SECTION 5.13 Enforceability of Contracts. Each Contract related to any Receivable sold by such Originator hereunder is effective to create, and has
created, a legal, valid and binding obligation of the related Obligor to pay the outstanding balance of such Receivable, enforceable against the Obligor in
accordance with its terms, without being subject to any defense, deduction, offset or counterclaim and such Originator has fully performed its obligations
under such Contract.

SECTION 5.14 Location and Offices. As of the Closing Date, such Originator’s location (as such term is defined in the applicable UCC) is in the state set
forth on Schedule II hereto, and such location has not been changed for at least four months before the date hereof The offices where such Originator keeps
all records concerning the Receivables are located at the addresses set forth on Schedule I1I hereto or such other locations of which the Company and the
Administrator (as total assignee of the Company) has been given written notice in accordance with the terms hereof

SECTION 5.15 Good Title. Upon the creation of each new Receivable sold or otherwise conveyed or purported to be conveyed hereunder and on the
Closing Date for then existing Receivables, the Company shall have a valid and perfected first priority ownership interest in each Receivable sold to it
hereunder, free and clear of any Adverse Claim.

SECTION 5.16 Names. Except as described in Schedule IV, such Originator has not used any corporate or company names, tradenames or assumed names
other than its name set forth on the signature pages of this Agreement.

SECTION 5.17 Nature of Receivables. Each Pool Receivable purchased hereunder and included in the calculation of Net Receivables Pool Balance is, on
the date of such purchase, an Eligible Receivable.

SECTION 5.18 Bulk Sales, Margin Regulations. No Fraudulent Conveyance. No transaction contemplated hereby requires compliance with or will
become subject to avoidance under any bulk sales act or similar law. No use of funds obtained by such Originator
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hereunder will conflict with or contravene Regulation T, U or X of the Federal Reserve Board. No purchase hereunder constitutes a fraudulent transfer or
conveyance under any United States federal or applicable state bankruptcy or insolvency laws or is otherwise void or voidable under such or similar laws or
principles or for any other reason.

SECTION 5.19 Solvency. On the date hereof, and on the date of each purchase hereunder (both before and after giving effect to such purchase), such
Originator shall be Solvent.

SECTION 5.20 Licenses, Contingent Liabilities, and Labor Controversies.

(a) Such Originator has not failed to obtain any licenses, permits, franchises or other governmental authorizations necessary to the ownership of its
properties or to the conduct of its business, except such failures to have such licenses, permits, franchises or other governmental authorizations that could not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) There are no labor controversies pending against such Originator that have had (or could reasonably be expected to have) a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.21 Reaffirmation of Representations and Warranties by the Originator. On each day that a new Receivable is created, and when sold to the
Company hereunder, such Originator shall be deemed to have certified that all representations and warranties set forth in this Article V are true and correct on
and as of such day (except for representations and warranties which apply as to an earlier date (in which case such representations and warranties shall be true
and correct as of such earlier date)).

ARTICLE VI
COVENANTS OF THE ORIGINATORS

SECTION 6.1 Affirmative Covenants. At all times from the date hereof until the latest of the Facility Termination Date, the date on which no Capital of or
Discount in respect of the Purchased Interest shall be outstanding, the date the LC Participation Amount is cash collateralized in full, and the date all other
amounts owed by the Seller, any Originator or the Transferor under the Transaction Documents to any Purchaser, the Administrator and any other
Indemnified Party or Affected Person shall be paid in full, each Originator shall, unless the Administrator and the Company shall otherwise consent in
writing:

(a) General Information. Furnish to the Company and the Administrator such information as the Company or the Administrator may from time to time
reasonably request.

(b) Furnishing of Information and Inspection of Records. Furnish to the Company and the Administrator from time to time such information with
respect to the Receivables as such Person may reasonably request. Such Originator will, at such Originator’s expense, during regular business hours with prior
written notice (i) permit the Company or the Administrator, or their respective agents or representatives, (A) to examine and make copies of and abstracts
from all books and records relating to the Receivables or other Pool Assets and (B) to visit the offices and properties of such Originator for the purpose of
examining such books and
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records, and to discuss matters relating to the Receivables, other Related Rights or such Originator’s performance hereunder or under the other Transaction
Documents to which it is a party with any of the officers, directors, employees or independent public accountants of such Originator (provided that
representatives of such Originator are present during such discussions) having knowledge of such matters and (ii) without limiting the provisions of clause (i)
above, during regular business hours, at Originator’s expense, upon reasonable prior written notice from the Company or the Administrator, permit certified
public accountants or other auditors acceptable to the Administrator to conduct, a review of its books and records with respect to the Receivables; provided,
that such Originator shall only be responsible for the expenses incurred in connection with one (1) review for any calendar year pursuant to this clause (ii), so
long as no Termination Event has occurred.

(c) Keeping of Records and Books. Have and maintain (i) administrative and operating procedures (including an ability to recreate records if originals
are destroyed), (ii) adequate facilities, personnel and equipment and (iii) all records and other information reasonably necessary for collection of the
Receivables originated by such Originator (including records adequate to permit the daily identification of each new such Receivable and all Collections of,
and adjustments to, each existing such Receivable). Such Originator will give the Company and the Administrator prior notice of any change in such
administrative and operating procedures that causes them to be materially different from the procedures described to the Company and the Administrator on
or before the date hereof as such Originator’s then existing or planned administrative and operating procedures for collecting Receivables.

(d) Performance and Compliance with Receivables and Contracts. Timely and fully perform and comply, at its own expense, in all material respects
with all provisions, covenants and other promises required to be observed by it under all Contracts or other documents or agreements related to the
Receivables.

(e) Credit and Collection Policy. Comply in all material respects with its Credit and Collection Policy in regard to each Receivable originated by it and
any related Contract or other related document or agreement.

(f) Receivable Purchase Agreement. Perform and comply in all material respects with each covenant and other undertaking in the Receivables Purchase
Agreement and the Sale and Contribution Agreement that the Company undertakes to cause such Originator to perform, subject to any applicable grace
periods, if any, for such performance provided for in such agreements.

(g) Preservation of Existence. Preserve and maintain its existence as a corporation or limited liability company, as applicable, and all rights, franchises
and privileges in the jurisdiction of its organization, and qualify and remain qualified in good standing as a foreign corporation or limited liability company, as
applicable, in each jurisdiction where the failure to preserve and maintain such existence, rights, franchises, privileges and qualification could be reasonably
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(h) Location of Records. Keep its location (as such term is defined in the applicable UCC), and the offices where it keeps its records concerning or
related to Receivables,
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at the address(es) referred to in Schedule II or Schedule 111, respectively, or, upon 30 days’ prior written notice to the Company and the Administrator (as the
Company’s assignee), at such other locations in jurisdictions where all action required by Section 7.3 shall have been taken and completed.

(i) Data Records. Place and maintain on its summary master control data processing records the following legend (or the substantive equivalent
thereof): “THE RECEIVABLES DESCRIBED HEREIN HAVE BEEN SOLD TO ARCH COAL, INC. PURSUANT TO A PURCHASE AND SALE
AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 3, 2006, BETWEEN THE ORIGINATORS NAMED THEREIN AND ARCH COAL, INC.; AND AN
INTEREST IN THE RECEIVABLES DESCRIBED HEREIN HAS BEEN GRANTED TO PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, FOR THE BENEFIT
OF THE PURCHASERS UNI)ER THE RECEIVABLES PURCHASE AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 3, 2006, AMONG ARCH
RECEIVABLE COMPANY, LLC, ARCH COAL SALES COMPANY, INC., MARKET STREET FUNDING LLC, THE VARIOUS LC PARTICIPANTS
FROM TIME TO TIME PARTY THERETO AND PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, AS ADMINISTRATOR AND AS LC BANK.”

SECTION 6.2 Reporting Requirements. From the date hereof until the first day following the Purchase and Sale Termination Date, each Originator will,
unless the Company and the Administrator shall otherwise consent in writing, furnish to the Company and the Administrator:

(a) Purchase and Sale Termination Events. As soon as possible, and in any event within three (3) Business Days after such Originator becomes aware of
the occurrence of each Purchase and Sale Termination Event or each event which with notice or the passage of time or both would become a Purchase and
Sale Termination Event (an “Unmatured Purchase and Sale Termination Event”), a written statement of the chief financial officer, treasurer or other officer of
such Originator describing such Purchase and Sale Termination Event or Unmatured Purchase and Sale Termination Event and the action that such Originator
proposes to take with respect thereto, in each case in reasonable detail;

(b) Proceedings. As soon as possible, and in any event within three (3) Business Days after such Originator becomes aware thereof, written notice of
(i) litigation, investigation or proceeding of the type described in Section 5.5 not previously disclosed to the Company and the Administrator which could
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and (ii) all material adverse developments that have occurred with respect to any previously
disclosed litigation, proceedings and investigations; and

(c) Other. Promptly, from time to time, such other information, documents, records or reports respecting the Receivables or the conditions or
operations, financial or otherwise, of such Originator as the Company or the Administrator may from time to time reasonably request in order to protect the
interests of the Company, the Purchasers or the Administrator under or as contemplated by the Transaction Documents.

SECTION 6.3 Negative Covenants. At all times from the date hereof until the latest of the Facility Termination Date, the date on which no Capital of or
Discount in respect of the
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Purchased Interest shall be outstanding, the date the LC Participation Amount is cash collateralized in full, and the date all other amounts owed by the Seller,
any Originator or the Transferor under the Transaction Documents to any Purchaser, the Administrator and any other Indemnified Party or Affected Person
shall be paid in full, each Originator agrees that, unless the Company and the Administrator shall otherwise consent in writing, it shall not:

(a) Sales, Liens, Etc. Except as otherwise provided herein or in any other Transaction Document, sell, assign (by operation of law or otherwise) or
otherwise dispose of, or create or suffer to exist any Adverse Claim, other than the security interests and liens created prior to the date hereof in favor of PNC
to secure its obligations under the revolving credit agreement of ACI in effect on the date hereof, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time, which such security interests and liens have been released pursuant to the Release Agreement, upon or with respect to, any Receivable sold
or otherwise conveyed or purported to be sold or otherwise conveyed hereunder or related Contract or Related Security, or any interest therein, or any
Collections thereon, or assign any right to receive income in respect thereof

(b) Extension or Amendment of Receivables. Except as otherwise permitted in Section 4.2(a) of the Receivables Purchase Agreement and the
applicable Credit and Collection Policy, extend, amend or otherwise modify the terms of any Receivable in any material respect generated by it that is sold or
otherwise conveyed hereunder, or amend, modify or waive, in any material respect, any term or condition of any Contract related thereto (which term or
condition relates to payments under, or the enforcement of, such Contract).

(c) Change in Business or Credit and Collection Policy. (i) Make any change in the character of its business or (ii) make any change in its Credit and
Collection Policy that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, in the case of either clause (i) or (jj) above, without the prior written
consent of the Administrator. No Originator shall make any other written change in any Credit and Collection Policy without giving prior written notice
thereof to the Administrator.

(d) Receivables Not to be Evidenced by Promissory Notes or Chattel Paper. Except as otherwise provided in the Receivables Purchase Agreement in
regard to servicing, take any action to cause or permit any Receivable generated by it that is sold by it hereunder to become evidenced by any “instrument” or
“chattel paper” (as defined in the applicable UCC).

(e) Mergers. Acquisitions. Sales, etc. (i) Be a party to any merger, consolidation or other restructuring, except (A) a Permitted Merger or (B) any other
merger, consolidation or other restructuring where the Company and the Administrator have each (1) received 30 days’ prior notice thereof, (2) consented in
writing thereto, (3) received executed copies of all documents, certificates and opinions (including, without limitation, opinions relating to bankruptcy and
UCC matters) as the Company or the Administrator shall request and (4) been satisfied that all other action to perfect and protect the interests of the Company
and the Administrator, on behalf of the Purchasers, in and to the Receivables to be sold by it hereunder and other Related Rights, as requested by the
Company or the Administrator shall have been taken by, and at the expense of such Originator (including the filing of any UCC financing statements, the
receipt of certificates and other requested documents from public officials and all
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such other actions required pursuant to Section 7.3) or (ii) directly or indirectly sell, transfer, assign, convey or lease whether in one or a series of transactions,
all or substantially all of its assets (other than in accordance with the Transaction Documents); provided, that (i) the Originators shall be permitted to, prior to
the date hereof, have granted security interests and liens in favor of PNC to secure their respective obligations under the revolving credit agreement of the
Company in effect on the date hereof, as may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, which such security interests and
liens covering Receivables and Related Rights have been released pursuant to the Release Agreement, and (ii) any member of the Arch Western Group shall
be permitted to transfer any of its assets (other than the assets sold or purported to be sold by it under the Transaction Documents) to any other member of the
Arch Western Group.

(f) Lock-Box Banks. Make any changes in its instructions to Obligors regarding Collections on Receivables sold or otherwise conveyed by it hereunder
or add or terminate any bank as a Lock-Box Bank unless the requirements of Sections 1(f) and (k) of Exhibit IV to the Receivables Purchase Agreement have
been met.

(g) Accounting for Purchases. Account for or treat (whether in financial statements or otherwise) the transactions contemplated hereby in any manner
other than as sales of the Receivables and Related Rights by such Originator to the Company.

(h) Transaction Documents. Enter into, execute, deliver or otherwise become bound after the Closing Date by any agreement, instrument, document or
other arrangement that restricts the right of such Originator to amend, supplement, amend and restate or otherwise modify, or to extend or renew, or to waive
any right under, this Agreement or any other Transaction Document.

SECTION 6.4 Substantive Consolidation. Each Originator hereby acknowledges that this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents are being
entered into in reliance upon the Seller’s identity as a legal entity separate from such Originator and its Affiliates. Therefore, from and after the date hereof,
each Originator shall take all reasonable steps necessary to make it apparent to third Persons that the Seller is an entity with assets and liabilities distinct from
those of such Originator and any other Person, and is not a division of such Originator, its Affiliates or any other Person. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing and in addition to and consistent with the other covenants set forth herein, such Originator shall take such actions as shall be required in order that:

(a) such Originator shall not be involved in the day to day management of the Seller;

(b) such Originator shall maintain separate corporate records and books of account from the Seller and otherwise will observe corporate formalities and
have a separate area from the Seller for its business (which may be located at the same address as the Seller, and, to the extent that it and the Seller have
offices in the same location, there shall be a fair and appropriate allocation of overhead costs between them, and each shall bear its fair share of such
expenses);
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(c) the financial statements and books and records of such Originator shall be prepared after the date of creation of the Seller to reflect and shall
reflect the separate existence of the Seller; provided, that the Seller’s assets and liabilities may be included in a consolidated financial statement issued by
an affiliate of the Seller; provided, however, that any such consolidated financial statement or the notes thereto shall make clear that the Seller’s assets are
not available to satisfy the obligations of such affiliate;

(d) except as permitted by the Receivables Purchase Agreement, (i) such Originator shall maintain its assets (including, without limitation, deposit
accounts) separately from the assets (including, without limitation, deposit accounts) of the Seller and (ii) the Company’s assets, and records relating
thereto, have not been, are not, and shall not be, commingled with those of any other Originator;

(e) all of the Seller’s business correspondence and other communications shall be conducted in the Seller’s own name and on its own stationery;
(f) such Originator shall not act as an agent for the Seller (other than servicing activities pursuant to the Transaction Documents);

(g) such Originator shall not conduct any of the business of the Seller in its own name;

(h) such Originator shall not pay any liabilities of the Seller out of its own funds or assets;

(i) such Originator shall maintain an arm’s-length relationship with the Seller;

(j) such Originator shall not assume or guarantee or become obligated for the debts of the Seller or hold out its credit as being available to satisfy the
obligations of the Seller;

(k) such Originator shall not acquire obligations of the Seller;

(1) such Originator shall allocate fairly and reasonably overhead or other expenses that are properly shared with the Seller, including, without
limitation, shared office space;

(m) such Originator shall identify and hold itself out as a separate and distinct entity from the Seller;
(n) such Originator shall correct any known misunderstanding respecting its separate identity from the Seller;
(o) such Originator shall not enter into, or be a party to, any transaction with the Seller, except in the ordinary course of its business and on terms
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which are intrinsically fair and not less favorable to it than would be obtained in a comparable arm’s-length transaction with an unrelated third party;
(p) such Originator shall not pay the salaries of the Seller’s employees, if any; and

(q) to the extent not already covered in paragraphs (a) through (p) above, such Originator shall comply and/or act in accordance with all of the other
separateness covenants set forth in Section 3 of Exhibit IV to the Receivables Purchase Agreement.

ARTICLE VII
ADDITIONAL RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS
IN RESPECT OF RECEIVABLES

SECTION 7.1 Rights of the Company. Each Originator hereby authorizes the Company, the Servicer or their respective designees or assignees under the
Sale and Contribution Agreement or the Receivables Purchase Agreement (including, without limitation, the Administrator) to take any and all steps in such
Originator’s name necessary or desirable, in their respective determination, to collect all amounts due under any and all Receivables sold or otherwise
conveyed or purported to be conveyed by it hereunder, including, without limitation, endorsing the name of such Originator on checks and other instruments
representing Collections and enforcing such Receivables and the provisions of the related Contracts that concern payment and/or enforcement of rights to
payment.

SECTION 7.2 Responsibilities of the Originators. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding:

(a) Collection Procedures. Each Originator agrees to direct its respective Obligors to make payments of Receivables sold or otherwise conveyed or
purported to be conveyed by it hereunder directly to the relevant Lock-Box Account at a Lock-Box Bank. Each Originator further agrees to transfer any
Collections of Receivables sold or conveyed by it hereunder that it receives directly to a Lock-Box Account within two (2) Business Days of receipt thereof,
and agrees that all such Collections shall be deemed to be received in trust for the Company and the Administrator (for the benefit of the Purchasers).

(b) Each Originator shall perform its obligations hereunder, and the exercise by the Company or its designee of its rights hereunder shall not relieve
such Originator from such obligations.

(c) None of the Company, the Servicer, the Purchasers or the Administrator shall have any obligation or liability to any Obligor or any other third
Person with respect to any Receivables, Contracts related thereto or any other related agreements, nor shall the Company, the Servicer, the Purchasers or the
Administrator be obligated to perform any of the obligations of such Originator thereunder.

(d) Each Originator hereby grants to the Administrator an irrevocable power of attorney, with full power of substitution, coupled with an interest,

during the occurrence and
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continuation of a Purchase and Sale Termination Event to take in the name of such Originator all steps necessary or advisable to endorse, negotiate or
otherwise realize on any writing or other right of any kind held or transmitted by such Originator or transmitted or received by the Company (whether or not
from such Originator) in connection with any Receivable sold or otherwise conveyed or purported to be conveyed by it hereunder or Related Right.

SECTION 7.3 Further Action Evidencing Purchases. Each Originator agrees that from time to time, at its expense, it will promptly execute and deliver all
further instruments and documents, and take all further action that the Company, the Servicer or the Administrator may reasonably request in order to perfect,
protect or more fully evidence the Receivables and Related Rights purchased by the Company hereunder, or to enable the Company to exercise or enforce any
of its rights hereunder or under any other Transaction Document. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, upon the request of the Company, or the
Administrator, such Originator will:

(a) execute (if applicable), authorize and file such financing or continuation statements, or amendments thereto or assignments thereof, and such
other instruments or notices, as may be necessary or appropriate; and

(b) on the Closing Date and from time to time, if requested thereafter, mark the master data processing records that evidence or list such Receivables
and related Contracts with the legend set forth in Section 6.1(1).

Each Originator hereby authorizes the Company or its designee (including, without limitation, the Administrator) to file one or more financing or continuation
statements, and amendments thereto and assignments thereof, without the signature of such Originator, relative to all or any of the Receivables sold or
otherwise conveyed or purported to be conveyed by it hereunder and Related Rights now existing or hereafter generated by such Originator. If any Originator
fails to perform any of its agreements or obligations under this Agreement, the Company or its designee (including, without limitation, the Administrator)
may (but shall not be required to) itself perform, or cause the performance of, such agreement or obligation, and the expenses of the Company or its designee
(including, without limitation, the Administrator) incurred in connection therewith shall be payable by such Originator.

SECTION 7.4 Application of Collections. Any payment by an Obligor in respect of any indebtedness owed by it to any Originator shall, except as
otherwise specified by such Obligor or required by applicable law and unless otherwise instructed by the Servicer (with the prior written consent of the
Administrator) or the Administrator, be applied as a Collection of any Receivable or Receivables of such Obligor to the extent of any amounts then due and
payable thereunder before being applied to any other indebtedness of such Obligor.

ARTICLE VIII
PURCHASE AND SALE TERMINATION EVENTS

SECTION 8.1 Purchase and Sale Termination Events. Each of the following events or occurrences described in this Section 8.1 shall constitute a
“Purchase and Sale Termination Event™:
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(a) The Facility Termination Date (as defined in the Receivables Purchase Agreement) shall have occurred; or

(b) Any Originator shall fail to make when due any payment or deposit to be made by it under this Agreement or any other Transaction Document to
which it is a party and such failure shall remain unremedied for one (1) Business Day; or

(c) Any representation or warranty made or deemed to be made by any Originator (or any of its officers) under or in connection with this
Agreement, any other Transaction Documents to which it is a party, or any other information or report delivered pursuant hereto or thereto shall prove to
have been incorrect or untrue in any material respect when made or deemed made or delivered; or

(d) Any Originator shall fail to perform or observe any other term, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement or any other Transaction
Document to which it is a party on its part to be performed or observed and such failure shall continue for thirty (30) days after the earlier of such
Originator’s knowledge or notice thereof

SECTION 8.2 Remedies.

(a) Optional Termination. Upon the occurrence of a Purchase and Sale Termination Event, the Company shall have the option, by notice to the
Originators (with a copy to the Administrator), to declare the Purchase Facility as terminated.

(b) Remedies Cumulative. Upon any termination of the Purchase Facility pursuant to Section 8.2(a), the Company shall have, in addition to all other
rights and remedies under this Agreement, all other rights and remedies provided under the UCC of each applicable jurisdiction and other applicable laws,
which rights shall be cumulative.

ARTICLE IX
INDEMNIFICATION

SECTION 9.1 Indemnities by _the Originators. Without limiting any other rights which the Company may have hereunder or under applicable law, each
Originator, severally and for itself alone, jointly and severally with each other Originator, hereby agrees to indemnify the Company and each of its officers,
directors, employees and agents (each of the foregoing Persons being individually called a “Purchase and Sale Indemnified Party”), forthwith on demand,
from and against any and all damages, losses, claims, judgments, liabilities and related costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and
disbursements (all of the foregoing being collectively called “Purchase and Sale Indemnified Amounts”) awarded against or incurred by any of them arising
out of or as a result of the failure of such Originator to perform its obligations under this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, or arising out of the
claims asserted against a Purchase and Sale Indemnified Party relating to the transactions contemplated herein or therein or the use of proceeds thereof or
therefrom; excluding, however, (i) Purchase and Sale Indemnified Amounts to the extent resulting from gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of
such Purchase and Sale Indemnified Party, (ii) any
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indemnification which has the effect of recourse for non-payment of the Receivables due to a discharge in bankruptcy or similar insolvency proceeding or
other credit related reasons with respect to the relevant Obligor and (iii) any net income or franchise tax imposed on such Purchase and Sale Indemnified
Party by the jurisdiction under the laws of which such Purchase and Sale Indemnified Party is organized or any political subdivision thereof Without limiting
the foregoing, and subject to the exclusions set forth in the preceding sentence, each Originator, severally for itself alone, jointly and severally with each
Originator, shall indemnify each Purchase and Sale Indemnified Party for Purchase and Sale Indemnified Amounts relating to or resulting from:

(a) the transfer by such Originator of an interest in any Receivable to any Person other than the Company;

(b) the breach of any representation or warranty made by such Originator (or any of its officers) under or in connection with this Agreement or any
other Transaction Document, or any information or report delivered by Originator pursuant hereto or thereto, which shall have been false or incorrect when
made or deemed made;

(c) the failure by such Originator to comply with any applicable law, rule or regulation with respect to any Receivable generated by such Originator
sold or otherwise transferred or purported to be transferred hereunder or the related Contract, or the nonconformity of any Receivable generated by such
Originator sold or otherwise transferred or purported to be transferred hereunder or the related Contract with any such applicable law, rule or regulation;

(d) the failure by such Originator to vest and maintain vested in the Company an ownership interest in the Receivables generated by such Originator
sold or otherwise transferred or purported to be transferred hereunder free and clear of any Adverse Claim;

(e) the failure to file, or any delay in filing, by such Originator financing statements or other similar instruments or documents under the UCC of any
applicable jurisdiction or other applicable laws with respect to any Receivables or purported Receivables generated by such Originator sold or otherwise
transferred or purported to be transferred hereunder, whether at the time of any purchase or at any subsequent time to the extent required hereunder;

(f) any dispute, claim, offset or defense (other than discharge in bankruptcy or similar insolvency proceeding of an Obligor or other credit related
reasons) of the Obligor to the payment of any Receivable or purported Receivable generated by such Originator sold or otherwise transferred or purported
to be transferred hereunder (including, without limitation, a defense based on such Receivable’s or the related Contract’s not being a legal, valid and
binding obligation of such Obligor enforceable against it in accordance with its terms), or any other claim resulting from the services related to any such
Receivable or the furnishing of or failure to furnish such services;
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(g) any product liability claim arising out of or in connection with services that are the subject of any Receivable generated by such Originator; and

(h) any tax or governmental fee or charge (other than any tax excluded pursuant to clause (iii) in the proviso to the preceding sentence), all interest
and penalties thereon or with respect thereto, and all out-of-pocket costs and expenses, including the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel in defending
against the same, which are required to be paid by reason of the purchase or ownership of the Receivables generated by such Originator or any Related
Security connected with any such Receivables.

If for any reason the indemnification provided above in this Section 9.1 is unavailable to a Purchase and Sale Indemnified Party or is insufficient to hold such
Purchase and Sale Indemnified Party harmless, then each of the Originators, severally and for itself, jointly and severally with each other Originator, shall
contribute to the amount paid or payable by such Purchase and Sale Indemnified Party to the maximum extent permitted under applicable law.

ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 10.1 Amendments, etc.

(a) The provisions of this Agreement may from time to time be amended, modified or waived, if such amendment, modification or waiver is in writing
and executed by the Company and each Originator, with the prior written consent of the Administrator.

(b) No failure or delay on the part of the Company, the Servicer, any Originator, the Administrator or any third party beneficiary in exercising any
power or right hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such power or right preclude any other or further
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other power or right. No notice to or demand on the Company, the Servicer or any Originator in any case shall entitle it
to any notice or demand in similar or other circumstances. No waiver or approval by the Company, the Administrator or the Servicer under this Agreement
shall, except as may otherwise be stated in such waiver or approval, be applicable to subsequent transactions. No waiver or approval under this Agreement
shall require any similar or dissimilar waiver or approval thereafter to be granted hereunder.

(c) The Transaction Documents contain a final and complete integration of all prior expressions by the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter
thereof and shall constitute the entire agreement among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter thereof, superseding all prior oral or written
understandings.

SECTION 10.2 Notices, etc. All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall, unless otherwise stated herein, be in writing (including
facsimile communication) and shall be delivered or sent by facsimile, or by overnight mail, to the intended party at the mailing address or facsimile number of
such party set forth under its name on the signature pages hereof or at such other address or facsimile number as shall be designated by such party in a written
notice to the other parties hereto or in the case of the Administrator, at its
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address for notice pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement. All such notices and communications shall be effective (i) if delivered by overnight mail,
when received, and (ii) if transmitted by facsimile, when sent, receipt confirmed by telephone or electronic means.

SECTION 10.3 No Waiver; Cumulative Remedies. The remedies herein provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided by law.

SECTION 10.4 Binding Effect Assignability. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and each Originator and their
respective successors and permitted assigns. No Originator may assign any of its rights hereunder or any interest herein without the prior written consent of
the Company and the Administrator. This Agreement shall create and constitute the continuing obligations of the parties hereto in accordance with its terms,
and shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the parties hereto shall agree. The rights and remedies with respect to any breach of any
representation and warranty made by any Originator pursuant to Article V and the indemnification and payment provisions of Article IX and Section 10.6
shall be continuing and shall survive any termination of this Agreement.

SECTION 10.5 Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF
THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

SECTION 10.6 Costs. Expenses and Taxes. In addition to the obligations of the Originators under Article IX, each Originator, severally and for itself
alone, jointly and severally with each Originator, agrees to pay on demand:

(a) to the Company (and any successor and permitted assigns thereof) all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by such Person in connection with
the enforcement of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents; and

(b) all stamp and other taxes and fees payable in connection with the execution, delivery, filing and recording of this Agreement or the other
Transaction Documents to be delivered hereunder, and agrees to indemnify each Purchase and Sale Indemnified Party against any liabilities with respect to
or resulting from any delay in paying or omitting to pay such taxes and fees.

SECTION 10.7 SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY (a) SUBMITS TO THE NON-EXCLUSIVE
JURISDICTION OF ANY COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK OR THE FEDERAL COURT OF THE UNITED STATES FOR THE SOUTHERN
DISTRICT OF NEW YORK OVER ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO ANY TRANSACTION DOCUMENT;

(b) AGREES THAT ALL CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE HEARD AND DETERMINED IN SUCH STATE OR
UNITED STATES FEDERAL COURT; (c) WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT IT MAY EFFECTIVELY DO SO, THE DEFENSE OF AN
INCONVENIENT FORUM TO THE MAINTENANCE OF SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING:; (d) IRREVOCABLY CONSENTS TO THE SERVICE OF
ANY AND ALL PROCESS IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING BY THE MAILING OF COPIES OF SUCH PROCESS TO SUCH PERSON
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AT ITS ADDRESS SPECIFIED Th1 SECTION 10.2 AND (e) AGREES THAT A FINAL JUDGMENT IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING
SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE ENFORCED IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS BY SUIT ON THE JUDGMENT OR IN ANY OTHER MANNER
PROVIDED BY LAW. NOTHING IN THIS SECTION 10.7 SHALL AFFECT THE COMPANY’S RIGHT TO SERVE LEGAL PROCESS IN ANY
OTHER MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW OR TO BRING ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING AGAINST ANY ORIGINATOR OR ITS PROPERTY IN
THE COURTS OF ANY OTHER JURISDICTIONS.

SECTION 10.8 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR
PROCEEDING TO ENFORCE OR DEFEND ANY RIGHTS UNI)ER OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER TRANSACTION
DOCUMENT, OR ANY AMENDMENT, INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT DELIVERED OR WHICH MAY IN THE FUTURE BE
DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR ARISING FROM ANY RELATIONSFHP EXISTING IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT
OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENT, AND AGREES THAT (a) ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE TRIED BEFORE A
COURT AND NOT BEFORE A JURY AND (b) ANY PARTY HERETO (OR ANY ASSIGNEE OR THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY OF THIS
AGREEMENT) MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF
THE CONSENT OF ANY OTHER PARTY OR PARTIES HERETO TO WAIVER OF ITS OR THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

SECTION 10.9 Captions and Cross References; Incorporation by Reference. The various captions (including, without limitation, the table of contents) in
this Agreement are included for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement. References in this
Agreement to any underscored Section or Exhibit are to such Section or Exhibit of this Agreement, as the case may be. The Exhibits hereto are hereby
incorporated by reference into and made a part of this Agreement.

SECTION 10.10 Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate
counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same
Agreement.

SECTION 10.11 Acknowledgment and Agreement. By execution below, each Originator expressly acknowledges and agrees that all of the Company’s
rights, title, and interests in, to, and under this Agreement (but not its obligations), shall be assigned by the Company to the Seller pursuant to the Sale and
Contribution Agreement and then by the Seller to the Administrator (for the benefit of the Purchasers) pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement, and
each Originator consents to such assignments. Each of the parties hereto acknowledges and agrees that the Purchasers and the Administrator are third party
beneficiaries of the rights of the Company arising hereunder and under the other Transaction Documents to which any Originator is a party.
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SECTION 10.12 No Proceeding. Each Originator hereby agrees that it will not institute, or join any other Person in instituting, against the Seller any
Insolvency Proceeding so long as any of the Seller’s obligations under the Receivables Purchase Agreement remains outstanding and for at least one year and
one day following the day on which the Seller’s obligations under the Receivables Purchase Agreement are paid in full. Each Originator further agrees that
notwithstanding any provisions contained in this Agreement to the contrary, the Seller shall not, and shall not be obligated to, pay any amount to such
Originator pursuant to this Agreement or any other Transaction Document unless the Seller has received funds which may, subject to Section 1.4 of the
Receivables Purchase Agreement, be used to make such payment. Any amount which the Seller does not pay pursuant to the operation of the preceding
sentence shall not constitute a claim (as defined in §101 of the Bankruptcy Code) against or corporate obligation of the Seller by such Originator for any such
insufficiency unless and until the provisions of the foregoing sentence are satisfied. The agreements in this Section 10.12 shall survive any termination of this
Agreement.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first
above written.

ARCH COAL, INC.

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name:  James E. Florczak
Title: Treasurer

Address: One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis, Missouri
63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone: 314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739

Purchase and Sale Agreement
(Arch Coal)

S-1




ORIGINATORS:

ARCH COAL SALES COMPANY, INC.,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name:  James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address: One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis, Missouri
63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone: 314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739

ARCH COAL TERMINAL, INC,,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name:  James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address: One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis, Missouri
63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone:314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739
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ARCH ENERGY RESOURCES, INC.,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name:  James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address: One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis, Missouri
63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone:314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739

ARCH OF WYOMING, LLC,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name:  James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address: One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis, Missouri
63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone: 314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739
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ARCH WESTERN RESOURCES, LLC,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name:  James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address: One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis, Missouri
63141

Attention: James E. Florezak
Telephone: 314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739

ASHLAND TERMINAL, INC,,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name:  James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address: One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis, Missouri
63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone: 314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739
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CANYON FUEL COMPANY, LLC,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name: James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address:  One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis, Missouri
63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone: 314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739

CATENARY COAL HOLDINGS, INC.,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name: James B. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address:  One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis, Missouri
63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone:314-994-2785
Facsimile:314-994-2739
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COAL-MAC, INC,,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name:  James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address: One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis, Missouri
63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone: 314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739

CUMBERLAND RIVER COAL COMPANY,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name:  James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address: One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis, Missouri
63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone:314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739
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LONE MOUNTAIN PROCESSING, INC.,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name: James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address:  One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis,
Missouri 63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone:314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739

MINGO LOGAN COAL COMPANY,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name: James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address:  One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis,
Missouri 63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone:314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739
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MOUNTAIN COAL COMPANY, L.L.C,,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name: James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address: One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis,
Missouri 63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone: 314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739

MOUNTAIN MINING, INC,,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name: James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address:  One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis,
Missouri 63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone: 314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739
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THUNDER BASIN COAL COMPANY, L.L.C.,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name: James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address:  One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis,
Missouri 63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone: 314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739

TRITON COAL COMPANY, LLC,
as an Originator

By: /s/ James E. Florczak
Name: James E. Florczak
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Address:  One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300 St. Louis,
Missouri 63141

Attention: James E. Florczak
Telephone: 314-994-2785
Facsimile: 314-994-2739
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Schedule 1

LIST OF ORIGINATORS

Arch Coal Sales Company, Inc.
Arch Coal Terminal, Inc.

Arch Energy Resources, Inc.
Arch of Wyoming, LLC

Arch Western Resources, LLC
Ashland Terminal, Inc.

Canyon Fuel Company, LLC
Catenary Coal Holdings, Inc.
Coal-Mac, Inc.

Cumberland River Coal Company
Lone Mountain Processing, Inc.
Mingo Logan Coal Company
Mountain Coal Company, L.L.C.
Mountain Mining, Inc.

Thunder Basin Coal Company, L.L.C.
Triton Coal Company, LLC
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Schedule I1

LOCATION OF EACH ORIGINATOR

Originator Location

Arch Coal Sales Company, Inc. Delaware
Arch Coal Terminal, Inc. Delaware
Arch Energy Resources, Inc. Delaware
Arch of Wyoming, LLC Delaware
Arch Western Resources, LLC Delaware
Ashland Terminal, Inc. Delaware
Canyon Fuel Company, LLC Delaware
Catenary Coal Holdings, Inc. Delaware
Coal-Mac, Inc. Kentucky
Cumberland River Coal Company Delaware
Lone Mountain Processing, Inc. Delaware
Mingo Logan Coal Company Delaware
Mountain Coal Company, L.L.C. Delaware
Mountain Mining, Inc. Delaware
Thunder Basin Coal Company, L.L.C. Delaware
Triton Coal Company, LLC Delaware
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Schedule II1

LOCATION OF BOOKS AND RECORDS OF EACH ORIGINATOR

One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300
St. Louis, Missouri 63141
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Schedule IV

TRADE NAMES

Legal Name Trade Names

Arch Coal Sales Company, Inc.

Arch Coal Terminal, Inc.

Arch Energy Resources, Inc.

Arch of Wyoming, LLC

Arch Western Resources, LLC

Ashland Terminal, Inc.

Canyon Fuel Company, LLC

Catenary Coal Holdings, Inc.

Coal-Mac, Inc. Phoenix Coal-Mac Mining, Inc.
Cumberland River Coal Company Arch of the North Fork
Lone Mountain Processing, Inc.

Mingo Logan Coal Company

Mountain Coal Company, L.L.C.

Mountain Mining, Inc.

Thunder Basin Coal Company, L.L.C.

Triton Coal Company, LLC
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Originator: [Name of Originator]
Purchaser: Arch Coal, Inc.

Payment Date:
1. Outstanding Balance of Receivables Purchased:
2. Fair Market Value Discount:

1/{ 1 + [(Prime Rate x Days’ Sales Outstanding]}
365

Where:

Prime Rate =

Days’ Sales Outstanding =
3. Purchase Price (1x2)=$§

FORM OF PURCHASE REPORT

Exhibit A-1

Exhibit A
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Exhibit B

FORM OF JOINDER AGREEMENT

THIS JOINDER AGREEMENT, dated as of 20 (this “Agreement”) is executed by a [corporation] organized under the laws
of (the “Additional Originator™), with its principal place of business located at
BACKGROUND:

A. Arch Coal, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) and the various entities from time to time party thereto, as Originators (collectively, the
“Originators”), have entered into that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2006 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise
modified through the date hereof, and as it may be further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Purchase and Sale
Agreement”).

B. The Additional Originator desires to become a Originator pursuant to Section 4.3 of the Purchase and Sale Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the Additional Originator hereby agrees as follows:

SECTION 1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned thereto in the
Purchase and Sale Agreement or in the Receivables Purchase Agreement (as defined in the Purchase and Sale Agreement).

SECTION 2. Transaction Documents. The Additional Originator hereby agrees that it shall be bound by all of the terms, conditions and provisions of, and
shall be deemed to be a party to (as if it were an original signatory to), the Purchase and Sale Agreement and each of the other relevant Transaction
Documents. From and after the later of the date hereof and the date that the Additional Originator has complied with all of the requirements of Section 4.3 of
the Purchase and Sale Agreement, the Additional Originator shall be an Originator for all purposes of the Purchase and Sale Agreement and all other
Transaction Documents. The Additional Originator hereby acknowledges that it has received copies of the Purchase and Sale Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents.

SECTION 3. Representations and Warranties. The Additional Originator hereby makes all of the representations and warranties set forth in Article V (to
the extent applicable) of the Purchase and Sale Agreement as of the date hereof (unless such representations or warranties relate to an earlier date, in which
case as of such earlier date), as if such representations and warranties were fully set forth herein. The Additional Originator hereby represents and warrants
that its location (as defined in the applicable UCC) is [ ] and the offices where the Additional Originator keeps all of its Records and Related
Security is as follows:
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SECTION 4. Miscellaneous. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of New York. This
Agreement is executed by the Additional Originator for the benefit of the Company, and its assigns, and each of the foregoing parties may rely hereon. This
Agreement shall be binding upon, and shall inure to the benefit of, the Additional Originator and its successors and permitted assigns.

[Signature Pages Follow]

Purchase and Sale Agreement
(Arch Coal)

Exhibit B-2




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer as of the date and year first above
written.

[NAME OF ADDITIONAL ORIGINATOR]

By:
Name:
Title:

Consented to:
ARCH COAL, INC.

By:

Name:
Title:

Acknowledged by:

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Administrator

By:

Name:
Title:
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Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Company

The following is a complete list of the direct and indirect subsidiaries of Arch Western Resources, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, including
their respective states of incorporation or organization, as of March 26, 2007:

Arch of Wyoming, LLC (Delaware) 100%
Arch Western Finance LLC (Delaware) 100%

Arch Western Bituminous Group LLC (Delaware) 100%
Canyon Fuel Company, LLC (Delaware) 65%*
Mountain Coal Company, LLC (Delaware) 100%

Thunder Basin Coal Company, L.L.C. (Delaware) 100%
Triton Coal Company, LLC (Delaware) 100%

* The remaining 35% interest in Canyon Fuel is owned by Arch Coal, Inc.



Exhibit 31.1

Certification
I, Paul A. Lang, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Arch Western Resources, LLC;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) [Reserved.]

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

LA A

Paul A. Lang-
President

Date: March 30, 2007



Exhibit 31.2

Certification
I, Robert J. Messey, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Arch Western Resources, LLC;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) [Reserved.]

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.

Robert J. Messey
Vice President

Date: March 30, 2007



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Periodic Financial Reports

I, Paul A. Lang, President of Arch Western Resources, LLC, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 (the “Periodic Report™) which this statement accompanies fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

(2) information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Arch Western
Resources, LLC.

LA A

Paul A. Lang.
President

Date: March 30, 2007



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Periodic Financial Reports

I, Robert J. Messey, Vice President of Arch Western Resources, LLC, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 (the “Periodic Report™) which this statement accompanies fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

(2) information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Arch Western

Resources, LLC.

Robert J. Messey
Vice President

Date: March 30, 2007



